### LOOK UP!

### A TIMELINE OF 50 LAST DAYS EVENTS

By Don Stewart

Look Up! A Timeline of 50 "Last Days" Events by Don Stewart

© 2020 Don Stewart Revised and Updated 2024

Published by EOW (Educating Our World) educating ourworld.com All rights reserved.

#### THE FOLLOWING ENGLISH VERSIONS ARE CITED

The various English versions which we cite in this course, apart from the King James Version, all have copyrights. They are listed as follows.

Verses marked NRSV UE is from the New Revised Standard Version Updated Edition, copyright © 2021 National Council of the Churches of Christ in the United States of America. Used by permission. All rights reserved worldwide.

Verses marked NIV are taken from the HOLY BIBLE, New International Version 2011, Copyright 1973 1978, 1984, 2011 by International Bible Society. Used by permission of Zondervan Publishing House. All rights reserved.

Scripture quotations marked (NLT) are taken from the Holy Bible, New Living Translation, copyright 1996. Used by permission of Tyndale House Publishers, Inc., Wheaton, Illinois 60189. All rights reserved.

Quotations designated NET are from the NET Bible Copyright © 2003 By Biblical Studies Press, L.L.C. <a href="https://www.netbible.com">www.netbible.com</a> All rights reserved.

GOD'S WORD is a copyrighted work of God's Word to the Nations. Quotations are used by permission. Copyright 1995 by God's Word to the Nations. All rights reserved.

Scripture quotations marked CSB have been taken from the Christian Standard Bible®, Copyright © 2017 by Holman Bible Publishers. All rights reserved.

Scripture quotations marked "NKJV" are taken from the New King James Version. Copyright © 1982 by Thomas Nelson, Inc. All rights reserved. Used by permission.

Verses marked ESV are from The Holy Bible English Standard Version<sup>™</sup> Copyright © 2001 by Crossway Bibles, a division of Good News Publishers All rights reserved.

Verses marked NASB 2020 is taken from New American Standard Bible - NASB 2020 Copyright © 1960, 1962, 1963, 1968, 1971, 1972, 1973, 1975, 1977, 1995, 2020 by The Lockman Foundation A Corporation Not for Profit, La Habra, California All Rights Reserved.

Scripture quotations marked MSG are from The Message: The Bible in Contemporary Language Eugene H. Peterson, 2002 All rights reserved.

Verses marked TVB are taken from The Voice Bible Copyright © 2012 Thomas Nelson, Inc. The Voice™ translation © 2012 Ecclesia Bible Society All rights reserved.

Scripture quotations marked CEV are taken from the Contemporary English Version (CEV) copyright American Bible Society 1991, 1995

Verses marked AMP are from the Amplified Bible, Copyright The Lockman Foundation, 2015

Scripture quotations marked NCV are taken from the New Century Version, Copyright Word Publishing 1987.

Verses marked REB are from the Revised English Bible. Copyright Oxford University Press and Cambridge University Press, 1989

Scripture quotations marked ISV are taken from the International Standard Version Copyright 2011 ISV Foundation

Scripture quotations marked TLV "Scripture taken from the Tree of Life Version. © 2015 by the Messianic Jewish Family Bible Society. Used by permission of the Messianic Jewish Family Bible Society.

#### Look Up: A Timeline Of 50 Last Days Events

Table of Contents

#### Introduction

Event 1: The Resurrection of the Dead "in Christ"

**Event 2:** The Rapture of the Church

**Event 3:** The Judgment Seat of Christ

**Event 4:** The Day of the Lord

Event 5: The Day of Christ

**Event 6:** The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion

**Event 7:** The Amazing Scene in Heaven (Revelation 4,5)

**Event 8:** The Seal Judgments: The Four Horsemen of the Apocalypse (Revelation 6)

**Event 9:** The Rise of the Final Antichrist (The First Beast)

Event 10: The Covenant Between the Final Antichrist and the Jews (The Seventieth Week of Daniel Begins)

**Event 11:** The Abomination of Desolation (The Great Tribulation Begins)

Event 12: The Sealing of the 144,000 (Revelation 7,14)

**Event 13:** The Trumpet Judgments (Revelation 8, 9)

Event 14: The Two Hundred Million Man Army (Revelation 9:13-21)

Event 15: The Seven Thunders, the Scroll, and the Ministry of the Two Witnesses (Revelation 10:1-11:15)

**Event 16:** The Seventh Trumpet Sounds (Revelation 11)

Event 17: A Great Sign in Heaven: Satan is Cast Down to the Earth (Revelation 12)

Event 18: The Arrival of the Second Beast: The False Prophet (Revelation 13)

Event 19: The Mark of the Beast (666)

Event 20: The Persecution and Murder of the Tribulation Saints (Revelation 14)

Event 21: The Fall of Babylon (Revelation 14,17, 20)

**Event 22:** The Pronouncement of Judgment Against Those Who Have Taken the Mark of the Beast: Eternal Punishment (Revelation 14:9-11)

**Event 23:** The Final Plagues, the Bowls of Wrath (Revelation 15)

- **Event 24:** The First Five Bowl Judgments (Revelation 16:1-11)
- **Event 25:** The Sixth Bowl Judgment: The Arrival of the Kings of the East, Armageddon (Revelation 16:12-16)
- **Event 26:** The King of the North and the King of the South (Daniel 11:40-45)
- Event 27: The Seventh Bowl Judgment: Worldwide Devastation (Revelation 16:17-21)
- Event 28: The Conversion of Egypt (Isaiah 19)
- Event 29: The Final Siege and Deliverance of Jerusalem (Zechariah 12-14)
- Event 30: The National Conversion of Israel and Great Promises for Their Future (Zechariah 14)
- **Event 31:** The Banquet at the Wedding Celebration of the Lamb (Revelation 19:6-9)
- Event 32: The Sign of The Son of Man (Matthew 24:29)
- **Event 33:** The Second Coming of Jesus Christ (Revelation 19)
- Event 34 The Messiah Will Come From Bozrah (Isaiah 63)
- **Event 35:** Satan is Bound for a Thousand Years (Revelation 20)
- Event 36: The Judgment Upon the Beast and the False Prophet (Revelation 20)
- Event 37: The Judgment of the Nations (Matthew 25:31-46)
- Event 38: The Restoration of Israel (Isaiah 11:11,12, Matthew 24:30,31)
- Event 39: The Restitution of All Things (Matthew 19:28, Acts 3:19-21)
- **Event 40:** The Beginning of the Millennium (Revelation 20:4-6)
- Event 41: The Resurrection of the Rest of the Believing Dead: The First Resurrection (Revelation 20:5,6)
- **Event 42:** The Enthronement of the King (Luke 1:30-33)
- Event 43: The Millennial Temple (Isaiah 2:2-4, Ezekiel 40-48)
- Event 44: The "Loosing" of Satan: The Deception of the Nations: (Revelation 20:7-8)
- Event 45: The Last Revolt Against the Lord Thwarted: Gog and Magog (Revelation 20:7-9)
- **Event 46:** Satan is Cast into the Lake of Fire (Revelation 20:10)
- **Event 47:** The Great White Throne Judgment (Revelation 20:11-15)
- **Event 48:** The New Heavens and New Earth Created (Revelation 21:1)
- Event 49: The Holy City: The Arrival of the New Jerusalem (Revelation 21,22)

Event 50: Eternity

Summary and Conclusion To Our First Four-books

Appendix 1: 12 Biblical Predictions About The Last Days That Are Now Being Literally Fulfilled

**Appendix 2:** Understanding God's Plan For The Future Of Our World

#### Introduction

This is the fourth book in our series on the study of Bible prophecy: past, present, and future.

The first book was an introduction to Bible prophecy. We have titled it *God Wants Us To Know The Future: An Introduction To Bible Prophecy*. In it, we looked at a number of introductory issues with respect to the subject of Bible prophecy, which includes the unique claims that the God of the Bible makes about knowing the future as well as controlling the future. We emphasized the need to interpret Bible prophecy in a literal manner. In other words, when the Lord made specific predictions about the future, we should expect them to be fulfilled as written, literally.

The second book in our series dealt with prophecies that have already been fulfilled in history, 50 Biblical Prophecies Made And Fulfilled: God's Work In History. We documented that the God of the Bible has supernaturally predicted events which have already come to pass. We gave fifty examples of predictions along with their miraculous fulfillments. As we also documented the fifty predictions, we discovered that these predictions included a number of specific details.

All in all, we found over 250 specific details contained in these fifty predictions that have all been literally fulfilled. We concluded, from the evidence, there is no doubt whatsoever that the God of the Bible exists and that He does indeed fully know the future, is in control of future events, and has told us certain things that will happen in the future.

In our third book, 25 Signs We Are Near The End, we look at predictions that the Bible has made about the distant future—the last days. In doing so, we consider twenty-five specific signs that the Bible gives that demonstrates that we are near the "time of the end." By this we mean the time when the Lord Jesus returns from Heaven and sets up His everlasting kingdom. In this book, we have discovered about 70 predictions about the time of the end that have already been fulfilled with another thirty plus in the process of being fulfilled.

In this fourth book, Look Up! A Timeline of 50 "Last Days" Events, we will now present a basic timeline of 50 major events that Scripture says will take place in the future.

Our title is derived from a statement of Jesus in Luke 21:28. He said:

When you begin to see these things take place, look up, and lift up your head, for your redemption draws nigh.

Since the stage is now being set for these predictions to become a reality, it is an exciting time to examine these "last days" events.

#### Some Preliminary Matters

Before we examine the timeline of fifty of the events that the Bible predicts will take place in the "last days," there are a couple of preliminary issues that we must deal with.

#### Christians Have Different Views On This Subject

To begin with, most Bible-believers understand that Scripture predicts that certain events will take place in the future. This book will concentrate on the main events that are predicted to occur.

However, since we are dealing with the future, there is some question as to the exact sequence of these events. In fact, we recognize that there are Christians who do not believe that many of these events will literally occur. In other words, they are thought to be merely symbolic.

In our companion book, 25 Signs We Are Near the End, we spent some time in one of our appendices explaining why we reject this position. Consequently, what we went over in that book will be the stance of this book—that we are talking about genuine events that will, literally, occur in the future.

Yet, even for those who do believe that these events will literally occur in the future, there is still some disagreement as to the precise order of these coming events.

For example, we have documented in our book *The Rapture* that there are seven different views as to the timing, or even the fact, that the rapture will take place.

In the same way, Christians view the events that we will discuss in this book, such as those recorded in the Book of Revelation, in a number of different sequences.

While we will be giving one possible sequence of events, the important thing to note is that these events will literally occur at some time in the future.

Before we look at the specific events that the Bible predicts will happen, we must first examine the "outline of history" that the Lord has given to us.

#### The Basic Outline Of Bible History (Daniel 9:24-27)

We are fortunate that the Lord has given us the outline of history in the 9th chapter of the Book of Daniel. Indeed, in four verses, we can have a general understanding of God's dealings in the past, the present, and in the future. Consequently, it is absolutely crucial that we understand this passage.

#### The Background

The background of this chapter is the end of the seventy-year Babylonian captivity. The captivity began in 606 B.C. In reading the Book of Jeremiah, Daniel realized that the specified time of the captivity, seventy years, was about over.

Through the angel Gabriel, the Lord gave the prophecy of the "seventy sevens." The Hebrew word "heptad" translated as "seven" can refer to seven "days," "weeks," "months" or "years." The fact that this prophecy was given to Daniel in the context of the seventy-year Babylonian captivity, makes it clear that "years" are in view here.

#### The Three Prophetic Periods

God outlined to Daniel three prophetic periods for the history of Israel. They are recorded in the following verses:

"Seventy 'sevens' are decreed for your people and your holy city to finish transgression, to put an end to sin, to atone for wickedness, to bring in everlasting righteousness, to seal up vision and prophecy and to anoint the Most Holy Place. "Know and understand this: From the time the word goes out to restore and rebuild Jerusalem until the Anointed One, the ruler, comes, there will be seven 'sevens,' and sixty-two 'sevens.' It will be rebuilt with streets and a trench, but in times of trouble. After the sixty-two 'sevens,' the Anointed One will be put to death and will have nothing. The people of the ruler who will come will destroy the city and the sanctuary. The end will come like a flood: War will continue until the end, and desolations have been decreed. He will confirm a covenant with many for one 'seven.' In the middle of the 'seven' he will put an end to sacrifice and offering. And at the temple he will set up an abomination that causes desolation, until the end that is decreed is poured out on him (Daniel 9:24-27 NIV).

Simply stated, the Lord divided the prophetic future into three different time periods.

The first period consists of four hundred and eighty-three years: a time period of "seven sevens" (forty-nine years) plus "sixty-two sevens" (four hundred thirty-four years). They add up to four hundred and eighty-three years.

This prophetic time period would begin with the issue of a commandment for the rebuilding of the city and the walls of Jerusalem, and would end with the presentation of the Messiah as the King of the Jews.

The second period is the present age in which we are living—the church age. It is an indefinite period of time which began immediately upon the close of the first, and will end with the resurrection of the dead "in Christ" and the catching up in the air of living believers—the rapture of the church. We will explain these two events later.

The third is a brief period of only seven years. Among other things, it is known as the "Seventieth Week of Daniel," or the "Time of Jacob's Trouble." It begins on the day when the final Antichrist, the last Gentile world ruler, makes, or forces, a seven-year covenant with the majority of the Jewish nation. This period will be a time of judgment for the people living upon the earth.

It's during this last seven-year period that the Lord will resume His dealings with the Jews. This period will end with the Second Coming of Jesus Christ to the earth to set up His everlasting kingdom.

One of Daniel's three prophetic periods has now passed. We are presently in the second period. As we mentioned, it is an interval of unknown time.

#### Summarizing Daniel 9

We can summarize these four verses in Daniel as follows:

The prophetic time clock was to start at a time future to Daniel, who was writing in about 540 B.C. When a certain commandment would be given for the people to return to Jerusalem, and to rebuild the city and the walls, there would be a total of 483 years until the Messiah arrives.

#### The Clock Stops

After the 483 years is complete, the prophetic clock stops. There is then an interval of unknown time. During this interval, the Messiah is killed, and the city of Jerusalem and the Temple are destroyed.

#### The Clock Restarts

The prophetic clock will then restart when a certain seven-year covenant, or agreement, is made between this Final Antichrist, the last Gentile world ruler, and the Jewish people. The agreement is "confirmed" or "forced upon" the Jewish people at that time.

In sum, we are in the second of three phases of prophetic history. The first lasted for four hundred and eighty-three years. This second phase is of an unknown length. The third phase begins when a seven-year agreement is signed between the final Antichrist and the nation of Israel. At the end of the seven years, Jesus Christ returns to the earth!

With this as our basic outline of history, let us now look at a timeline of fifty events that Scripture predicts will happen in the "last days."

# Event 1: The Resurrection Of The Dead "In Christ" (1 Thessalonians 4:16)

The first event on the prophetic calendar, according to our view of the time frame of the "last days," is the resurrection of the dead "in Christ." There are a few things which we should note as we explain this coming event.

#### It Is Not A Resurrection Of Every Believer From The Beginning

First, it is the resurrection of a particular group of people—the dead "in Christ." This is a technical term for all those who have died as believers in Jesus as the Messiah during this present age. This age began at the Day of Pentecost when the Holy Spirit fell upon the disciples of Jesus in Jerusalem (Acts 2). This age will end with the resurrection of the dead "in Christ."

#### The Old Testament Saints Will Be Raised Later

Therefore, the Old Testament saints will not be raised at this time. This event will take place at the Second Coming of Jesus Christ. This is another of the future events that we will discuss.

#### The Tribulation Saints Will Also Be Raised At The Second Coming

In addition, those who come to believe in Christ, and who die after the resurrection of the dead "in Christ," will also be raised at the Second Coming. They are known as the "tribulation saints." We will also have more to say about them later.

#### The Resurrection Of Those Dead "In Christ"

The Bible speaks of this event, the resurrection of the New Testament believers, as follows:

For the Lord himself will come down from heaven, with a loud command, with the voice of the archangel and with the trumpet call of God, and the dead in Christ will rise first (1 Thessalonians 4:16 NIV).

We are told that the Lord will leave the glory of heaven, with a loud cry, with the voice of an archangel, and with a trumpet call from the Lord. Then those who have died "in Christ" will rise first.

The Apostle Paul wrote about a specific order of these future events:

For since death came through a man, the resurrection of the dead comes also through a man. For as in Adam all die, so in Christ all will be made alive. But each in turn: Christ, the firstfruits; then, when he comes, those who belong to him (1 Corinthians 15:21-23 NIV).

We should observe that Paul said that each will be raised "in turn" or "in their own order." Christ was raised first—the firstfruits. Next, when He returns at this particular time, seven years before His Second Coming, the New Testament believers will be raised from the dead—the dead "in Christ."

Since this specific term, the dead "in Christ," is used exclusively in the Bible of those who have become believers in the New Testament age, it refers to a specific group of people. In other words, it is not talking about those who lived before the time of Christ, or those who will believe in Him after this event takes place.

#### This Sequence Is Disputed by Some Christians

The resurrection of the dead "in Christ" is the next event to take place on the prophetic calendar in our view. However, not everyone agrees with this sequence. There are good Christians who believe that the resurrection of all of the believing dead will occur at the same time. In other words, there is a resurrection "day" where everyone is raised at once.

We have dealt with this objection in detail in our book Resurrection and Judgment. Basically, we contend that the Scriptures make a distinction between three groups of believers: The Old Testament saints, those who believe after Christ came into the world, and those who will believe after the church age is over. While they are all raised from the dead, they are not all raised at the same time.

Therefore, in conclusion, the next great event on the prophetic calendar is the resurrection of the believers who have died "in Christ."

Furthermore, this particular event is linked with the next one in our prophetic timeline—the rapture of the church.

#### Event 2: The Rapture Of The Church (1 Thessalonians 4:17)

At the same time the dead "in Christ" are raised, another event takes place. This is the "catching up" of the living believers. This is also known as the "rapture of the church."

#### What Do We Mean By The "Rapture Of The Church?"

The doctrine of the rapture of the church can be simply stated as follows: At some future time, the *genuine* believers in Jesus Christ—not merely people who have a church membership or affiliation—will be caught up to meet Him in the air when He descends from heaven. Those Christians who are alive will be instantaneously changed from their mortal bodies into immortal bodies, from corruptible bodies to incorruptible bodies.

Immediately before this happens, the believers who have died "in Christ" will be raised from the graves into their new bodies where they, too, will be with the Lord. This is the "blessed hope" of the true believers in Jesus.

#### Where Do We Get The Term Rapture?

The English term *rapture* is derived from the Latin Vulgate translation of the New Testament. The Latin verb *rapere* is a translation of the Greek word *harpadzo* which has the meaning of "to be caught up."

It is the word used in one of the main passages describing this event (1 Thessalonians 4:17). In this verse, the believers are promised to be "caught up" to be with the Lord (Greek *harpadzo*, Latin *rapere*). Hence, the English word "rapture" comes to us by way of the Greek and the Latin.

We should note that while *rapere* is a verb meaning "to be caught up," this word has been turned into a noun, "the rapture." Thus, "the rapture" has become the popular way to portray this predicted "catching away" of believers.

Scripture explains it in this manner:

After that, [the resurrection of the dead in Christ] we who are still alive and are left will be caught up together with them in the clouds to meet the Lord in the air. And so we will be with the Lord forever. Therefore encourage one another with these words (1 Thessalonians 4:17-18 NIV).

Immediately after the dead in Christ are raised, the living believers are then caught up to meet the Lord in the air.

In another place, Paul explained it in this manner:

Listen, I tell you a mystery: We will not all sleep, but we will all be changed—in a flash, in the twinkling of an eye, at the last trumpet. For the trumpet will sound, the dead will be raised imperishable, and we will be changed. For the perishable must clothe itself with the imperishable, and the mortal with immortality. When the perishable has been clothed with the imperishable, and the mortal with immortality, then the saying that is written will come true: "Death has been swallowed up in victory." "Where, O death, is your victory? Where, O death, is your sting?" The sting of death is sin, and the power of sin is the law. But thanks be to God! He gives us the victory through our Lord Jesus Christ. Therefore, my dear brothers and sisters, stand firm. Let nothing move you. Always give yourselves fully to the work of the Lord, because you know that your labor in the Lord is not in vain (1 Corinthians 15:51-58 NIV).

This is a further explanation of what will transpire.

#### What The Bible Says Will Take Place

When we put these various passages together, we find that a number of things will occur at the time of the rapture of the church.

#### The Dead In Christ Rise First, Then The Living Are Caught Up

As we observed in our previous event, those who have died "in Christ" will be raised first. Immediately after this takes place the living believers will be caught up to meet the Lord in the air to be with those who have died "in Christ."

As the living believers are being caught up, they are changed from mortal to immortal, from a corruptible body to an incorruptible one. The result is that all believers in Jesus Christ, those who have died as well as those who are alive, will all receive a glorified body at that time.

#### The New Body For Believers

The glorified body will be like that of the Lord Jesus after He rose from the dead. John wrote:

Dear friends, now we are children of God, and what we will be has not yet been made known. But we know that when Christ appears, we shall be like him, for we shall see him as he is (1 John 3:2 NIV).

The promise of Scripture is that, someday, all believers will be like Him in a resurrected, or a glorified, body.

#### The Various Views Of The Rapture

As we mentioned, there are different views that believers hold with respect to this event.

Some do not believe it will literally occur. In other words, they interpret these passages as being merely symbolic—not meant to be understood as an actual event that will occur. However, of those who see the passages as symbolic, nobody seems to agree as to exactly what they are symbolic of!

Others believe the rapture will occur in stages where believers will be caught up at various times during the last seven-year period. This is known as the "Partial Rapture Theory."

There is also the belief that this event will take place before the final seven-year period begins—"the 70th week of Daniel." Among other things, this is known as the "Pre-Tribulation Rapture View." This is the view that we hold.

We also have the belief, called the "Mid-Tribulation View," that holds that this event occurs in the middle of the coming seven-year period.

Two other views, with respect to the timing of this event, are the "Pre-Wrath Rapture View" and the "Post-Tribulation Rapture View." Pre-Wrath holds that this event takes place about five and one-half years into the final seven-year period, while the Post-Tribulation theory believes that it occurs at the very end—at the coming of Christ.

One other view says that while the Bible teaches that such an event will occur, there is insufficient information given to us in Scripture for us to know the exact timing of the rapture of the church.

As mentioned, we have dealt with each of these theories in our book *The Rapture* where we concluded that the Pre-Tribulation Rapture view is the one position that can best explain all the evidence, while each of the other theories have unsolvable problems.

Having said that, there are good Bible-believing people who hold to each of these views. Therefore, while we may disagree with the other positions, we hold our view with love towards all, as well as with much humility.

With these two great events, the resurrection of the dead "in Christ" and the catching up of living believers, the "rapture of the church," the church age will officially end.

# Event 3 The Judgment Seat Of Christ (2 Corinthians 5:10)

This next event takes place in heaven. It will affect all of those who have believed in Jesus Christ during this present church age.

Greek, like English, uses the word "judge" in two senses. One sense is condemnation, while the other sense is the giving out of rewards. The Bible says unbelievers will be judged in the first sense. In other words, it speaks of their condemnation.

On the other hand, believers will be judged in a different sense—rewards. The following observations need to be made:

#### There Is A Judgment Seat Of God For Believers

The Bible speaks of a special judgment that God will hold for believers only. It is known as the "judgment seat of Christ" or the "judgment seat of God." Writing to believers, Paul stated the following:

For we must all appear before the judgment seat of Christ, so that each of us may receive what is due us for the things done while in the body, whether good or bad (2 Corinthians 5:10 NIV).

All believers will stand before God and be individually judged. According to Paul, the purpose of this judgment is to receive rewards.

Paul also wrote to the Romans about this judgment seat of God. He said each of us who have believed in Jesus will stand before Him:

Why do you pass judgment on your brother? Or you, why do you despise your brother? For we will all stand before the judgment seat of God (Romans 14:10 ESV).

Every believer will one day stand in His presence—before God's judgment seat.

#### The Judgment Seat: The Bema

The judgment seat is known as the "bema." This Greek word is also translated "court" or "tribunal." The word could refer to a public judgment place, as in the case with Pontius Pilate and Jesus. We read of this kind of "judge's seat" in the Gospel of John:

When Pilate heard this, he brought Jesus out and sat down on the judge's seat [bema] at a place known as the Stone Pavement (which in Aramaic is Gabbatha) (John 19:13 NIV).

Pilate sat down on the bema—the judge's seat.

Later the Apostle Paul appeared before Festus the governor.

Festus stayed in Jerusalem for eight or ten more days before going to Caesarea. Then the next day he took his place as judge [bema] and had Paul brought into court (Acts 25:6 NIV).

The phrase translated "took his place as judge" is a Greek phrase, which literally translated, says "sitting upon the bema."

#### The Reward Seat

However, the bema seat was not only used to judge suspected criminals, it was also used as a place to present rewards. In the large Olympic arenas in the ancient world there was an elevated seat on which the judge of the contest sat. After the contest was over, those who were successful in their competition would assemble before the bema to receive their rewards or crowns.

Therefore, in this instance, the bema was not a judicial bench, where someone would be condemned for their wrongdoings, but rather it was a reward seat.

#### Our Sins Have Already Been Judged

Likewise, the "Judgment Seat of Christ" is not a judicial bench where believers are condemned for their sins. Our sins have already been entirely paid for by Jesus Christ on the cross of Calvary. There is no more condemnation for those of us who are in Christ Jesus. The judgment of the sins of believers is a thing of the past.

Consequently, the Judgment Seat of Christ is actually the "Reward Seat." In fact, the Christian life is compared to a race which all believers run to win an eternal prize. Paul wrote:

Don't you realize that in a race everyone runs, but only one person gets the prize? So run to win! All athletes are disciplined in their training. They do it to win a prize that will fade away, but we do it for an eternal prize. So I run with purpose in every step . . . (1 Corinthians 9:24-26 NLT).

Jesus Christ is the Judge, or Rewarder, of all Christians. The good news is that there is not merely one winner in the race which believers are running. Indeed, because we belong to Him we are all winners and we all will be rewarded!

#### What Will Happen At The Judgment Seat?

What will happen at this judgment seat of God? Who will be judged? The Scriptures have the following to say:

#### 1. Only New Testament Believers Will Be Judged (The Church)

The participants in the judgment seat of Christ, or the judgment seat of God, are members of the New Testament church. These are people who have trusted Jesus Christ as their Savior from the Day of Pentecost, when the church began, until the coming of Christ for His bride—the rapture of the church. It does not include the Old Testament believers. They will have a separate time of judgment and reward.

Paul made it clear that this judgment is only for those have built their foundation on Jesus Christ. He wrote the following to the Corinthians:

For no one can lay any other foundation than what has been laid down. That foundation is Jesus Christ . . . Each one's work will become obvious. For the day will disclose it, because it will be revealed by fire; the fire will test the quality of each one's work. If anyone's work that he has built survives, he will receive a reward. If anyone's work is burned up, he will experience loss, but he himself will be saved—but only as through fire (1 Corinthians 3:11,13-15 CSB).

Only believers in Christ receive rewards from God. Unbelievers, by definition, cannot do anything that pleases God. They will not receive any rewards, only condemnation.

#### 2. It Will Occur Before The Second Coming Of Christ

The judging of New Testament believers will occur after the rapture of the church, but before the Second Coming of Christ to the earth. In the Book of Revelation, we read the following:

Let us be glad, rejoice, and give him glory, because the marriage of the Lamb has come, and his bride has prepared herself. She was given fine linen to wear, bright and pure. For the fine linen represents the righteous acts of the saints (Revelation 19:7,8 CSB).

This is a picture of the believers before the Second Coming of Jesus Christ. We are told that the bride is clothed with righteous deeds. The church, therefore, has already been at the judgment seat of Christ because they are ready for the groom when He comes. Hence, the judgment, or evaluation, takes place sometime before the Second Coming of Christ.

#### 3. Believers Are Not Judged For Their Sin At The Judgment Seat

Again, it is important to realize that this is not a judgment to determine who will enter heaven. The sins of believers will not be an issue at the judgment seat of Christ. Indeed, they have already been forgiven once-and -for-all. The Bible says:

He doesn't punish us as our sins deserve. How great is God's love for all who worship him? Greater than the distance between heaven and earth! How far has the LORD taken our sins from us? Farther than the distance from east to west! (Psalm 103:10-12 CEV).

As far as the east is from the west, so are our sins from us!

This is taught elsewhere. The prophet Micah wrote that our sins have been thrown into the depths of the ocean. He said:

Once again you will have compassion on us. You will trample our sins under your feet and throw them into the depths of the ocean! (Micah 7:19 NLT).

Clearly, sin has already been judged. The judgment seat of Christ is for rewards.

#### The Destiny Of The Christian Has Been Settled

With the death of Jesus Christ on the cross of Calvary, the destiny of the Christian has been once-and-for-all settled. There is no condemnation for those who have believed in Christ. Paul wrote:

Therefore, no condemnation now exists for those in Christ Jesus (Romans 8:1 CSB).

Those who have believed in Jesus will not be condemned. The penalty for our sins has already been paid for.

#### The Price Has Been Paid For Our Sin

The message of the New Testament is that Jesus Christ has paid the price for our sins. Peter wrote about this. He said:

He himself bore our sins in his body on the cross, so that we might die to sins and live for righteousness; by his wounds you have been healed (1 Peter 2:24 NIV).

Since He has paid for our sins, we do not have to suffer for them. He has paid the price in full. There is nothing we can do to add to what He has done.

#### 4. The Believers Will Receive Their Rewards At The Judgment Seat

Consequently, the judgment seat of Christ is not designed to punish believers, but rather to reward them for their faithful service. All of us will give an account of what we have done after trusting Christ as Savior.

Therefore, the judgment seat of Christ is a judgment of believer's works after salvation. Paul gave this analogy:

According to the grace of God given to me, like a skilled master builder I laid a foundation, and someone else is building upon it. Let each one take care how he builds upon it. For no one can lay a foundation other than that which is laid, which is Jesus Christ. Now if anyone builds on the foundation with gold, silver, precious stones, wood, hay, straw—each one's work will become manifest, for the Day will disclose it, because it will be revealed by fire, and the fire will test what sort of work each one has done (1 Corinthians 3:10-13 ESV).

Therefore, the works performed after a person becomes a Christian will be examined. The good works will be separated from the bad. Rewards will be given for these good works.

#### All Of Our Actions Will Be Examined

The Bible says that God will reward the actions of believers. The psalmist wrote about the Lord rewarding His people:

And that you, O Lord, are loving. Surely you will reward each person according to what he has done (Psalm 62:12 NIV).

God has promised to reward those who trust in Him. The rewards will be based upon our actions as believers in Christ.

The Apostle Paul wrote about the rewards of the Lord. He said the following to the Ephesians about what we will receive for the good which we do:

Serve with a good attitude, as to the Lord and not to people, knowing that whatever good each one does, slave or free, he will receive this back from the Lord (Ephesians 6:7,8 CSB).

Every single thing that we have done will be evaluated, and the good will be rewarded.

#### 5. Some Will Suffer Loss Of Their Reward

Not everyone will receive the same reward when believers are gathered together for evaluation. Indeed, we are told that at the judgment seat of Jesus Christ, there will be those who suffer loss. Paul made this clear to the Corinthians. He said:

If his work is burned up, he will suffer the loss. However, he will be saved, though it will be like going through a fire (1 Corinthians 3:15 God's Word).

Some people will lose their heavenly reward. Again, they will not lose heaven itself, merely the reward in heaven.

Paul wrote elsewhere about suffering loss as a believer in Christ. In writing to the Corinthians, he made the following comparison:

Do you not know that in a race all the runners run, but only one receives the prize? So run that you may obtain it. Every athlete exercises self-control in all things. They do it to receive a perishable wreath, but we an imperishable. So I do not run aimlessly; I do not box as one beating the air. But I discipline my body and keep it under control, lest after preaching to others I myself should be disqualified (1 Corinthians 9:24-27 ESV).

Paul gave the analogy of running a race. He did not want to be disqualified from the race. Indeed, he wanted to win. Consequently, he practiced self-control.

We emphasize that the idea of being disqualified has nothing to do with the loss of salvation—Paul was concerned with the loss of reward. His salvation was eternally secure.

#### The Rewards Will Be Of Our Own Making

To sum up, the rewards we receive in heaven will be of our own making. While salvation is a free gift, rewards are earned. In fact, the Bible says that the wise will shine. We read in Daniel:

Those who are wise will shine like the brightness of the heavens, and those who lead many to righteousness, like the stars for ever and ever (Daniel 12:3 NIV).

Our garments will shine, but they will not all shine the same. While every believer is at the Wedding Feast of Christ and dressed in white garments, we will not all be dressed the same or rewarded the same. It will depend upon how faithful we have been to the ministry the Lord has given to each of us.

Therefore, as we live each day, each of us is making our own garments for that future day of reward.

#### Some People Have A Different View Of The Judgment Seat Of Christ

We must note that not all Christians believe the judgment seat of Christ will be limited to New Testament believers. Many Christians hold the view that this is part of one general judgment of all humanity—not a number of separate judgments. They believe that the Bible teaches that all humanity, not just New Testament Christians, will be judged at the same time. They equate this judgment with the "Judgment of the Nations" spoken of in Matthew 25:31-46 and the "Great White Throne Judgment" in Revelation 20:10-15.

There are two views as to when this general judgment of all humanity will occur. One view sees it occurring at the Second Coming of Christ, while the other view has it happening at the end of Christ's thousand-year reign upon the earth—the Millennium. We look at these questions in detail in our book *Resurrection and Judgment*.

#### Event 4: The Day Of The Lord (1 Thessalonians 5:2,3)

In both testaments, we encounter the phrase "the day of the Lord." What does it refer to? Is it one particular day or a period of time?

#### It Refers To A Special Time In History

The "day of the Lord" refers of a specific time in the future when the Lord Himself will divinely intervene in our world in a number of direct ways. Included under the expression is a large group of prophetic events predicted in both the Old and the New Testaments.

#### The Extent Of The Day Of The Lord

The "day of the Lord" will begin with the "Seventieth week of Daniel," the "Great Tribulation," and will continue all the way through the Millennium—the thousand-year reign of Jesus Christ upon the earth. Therefore, it contains both judgment, in the Tribulation period, as well as blessings, in the Millennium.

Please note that the Great Tribulation is technically the "second half" of the last seven-year period (Matthew 24:21); but, for convenience sake, we will call the entire period "the Great Tribulation," as it is popularly called.

#### The Great Tribulation Is Part Of The Day Of The Lord

We find that Jesus used the phrase the "Great Tribulation" to describe what would take place in the "day of the Lord." He said:

For then there will be great distress, unequaled from the beginning of the world until now—and never to be equaled again (Matthew 24:21 NIV).

This is a reference to a couple of Old Testament passages which speak of this coming "day of the Lord." For example, we read in Jeremiah:

How awful that day will be! No other will be like it. It will be a time of trouble for Jacob, but he will be saved out of it (Jeremiah 30:7 NIV)

#### Daniel wrote of this:

At that time shall arise Michael, the great prince who has charge of your people. And there shall be a time of trouble, such as never has been since there was a nation till that time (Daniel 12:1 ESV).

The prophet Joel also wrote of this coming time period:

Blow the trumpet in Zion; sound the alarm on my holy hill. Let all who live in the land tremble, for the day of the Lord is coming. It is close at hand—a day of darkness and gloom, a day of clouds and blackness (Joel 2:1,2 NIV).

#### It Includes The Second Coming Of Christ

The phrase "the day of the Lord" also refers to the Second Coming of Christ since it includes all events between the Seventieth Week of Daniel, the Great Tribulation, through the Millennium—the thousand-year reign of Christ upon the earth.

#### It Will Arrive Unexpectedly

For the people living on the earth at this time, the day of the Lord will arrive unexpectedly. In fact, Paul said it will come "like a thief:"

For you yourselves know very well that the day of the Lord will come just like a thief in the night. When they say, "Peace and security," then sudden destruction will come upon them, like labor pains on a pregnant woman, and they will not escape (1 Thessalonians 5:2,3 CSB).

The meaning of the term "like a thief" emphasizes that it will surprise people.

#### The Day Of The Lord: The Evening And Then The Morning

The day of the Lord looks forward to both judgment as well as restoration. Just as the Bible depicts a "day" with two parts, the evening, and the morning, so the day of the Lord has two parts.

First, the evening, the time of the pouring out of God's judgment during the Great Tribulation period. Then, the morning, which is the one-thousand-year reign of Messiah Jesus on this earth, the Millennium.

In sum, the "Day of the Lord" is an extended period of time starting with the "Seventieth Week of Daniel" and continuing through the Second Coming of Jesus Christ, as well as throughout the entire Millennium.

#### How Does This Relate To The Rapture Of The Church?

Since the "Day of the Lord" begins with the start of the "Seventieth Week of Daniel," the obvious question that arises is this: How does this relate to the rapture of the church. As we mentioned in Event 2, we believe the rapture of the church takes place before the "Seventieth Week of Daniel." This has caused some to teach that the "Day of the Lord" actually starts with the rapture of the church.

Whatever the case may be, the time when the Lord will pour out His wrath upon the world is coincident with the rapture and the beginning of the last seven-year period, the Great Tribulation.

# Event 5 The Day Of Christ (Philippians 2:16)

In a number of places in the New Testament we read of the "day of Christ" or the "day of Jesus Christ." What exactly does this mean? Is this the same as the "day of the Lord?"

#### The Contrasts Between The Day Of The Lord And The Day Of Christ

While the expression is similar to the "day of the Lord," there is a tremendous contrast between the two. We can list some of these differences as follows:

#### The New Testament Versus The Entire Bible

For one thing, the day of the Lord is mentioned in both testaments while the day of Christ is limited to the New Testament.

#### **Judgment Versus Blessing**

Furthermore, in the day of the Lord we have the emphasis upon God's judgment. Indeed, there are a number of ominous warnings connected with this time period.

The day of Christ, on the other hand, has to do with the church being gathered to Christ, the "rapture of the church," as well as the time of reward for the believer, the "judgment seat of Christ."

In sum, the day of Jesus Christ refers to the culmination of the work of the Lord Jesus in the salvation of the believer. Indeed, the phrase points to the time when Christ will return for His own and then reward them for their faithfulness to Him. Since we have already considered each of these two future events (Event 2 and Event 3), we will merely make a few observations about this future time.

#### There Are Many Reference To This Day

There are about twenty references to this "day of Christ" in the New Testament. In other words, it is not an obscure teaching. In fact, it is highlighted by Scripture.

For example, in the Book of Philippians we read:

Do everything without grumbling or arguing, so that you may be blameless and pure, children of God without blemish though you live in a crooked and perverse society, in which you shine as lights in the world by holding on to the word of life so that on the day of Christ I will have a reason to boast that I did not run in vain nor labor in vain (Philippians 2:14-16 NET).

Paul wanted the Philippians to continue serving the Lord so that, on the "day of Christ," he would have a reason to boast.

In sum, it is important that we keep the distinction between the "day of the Lord" and the "day of Christ." The main emphasis on the "day of the Lord" is God's judgment against a Christ-rejecting humanity, though it does include the blessings associated with the return of Christ.

On the other hand, the "day of Christ" is exclusively a time of blessing for those who have trusted Jesus Christ as their Savior.

## Event 6 The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion

One of the major events that is yet to take place is the invasion of Israel by certain nations as recorded in Ezekiel 38,39. There are so many aspects to this event that we will not be able to cover everything. Hence, we will just mention some of the highlights here. We do have an entire book on the subject (The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion).

#### Is It Literal Or Symbolic?

Before we look at what the Scripture says will take place, we will first explain why we believe that this is a literal battle rather than a symbolic battle. We do this because many Bible commentators see this as a symbolic event. In other words, they believe that we are not to look for any literal fulfillment in the past or in the future.

Why, then, should we consider these chapters to be predicting actual events that will take place?

#### There Was Literal Fulfillment In The Past Of Other Prophecies By Ezekiel

To begin with, we find that the past predictions that Ezekiel, the "prophet," made, have all been literally fulfilled! Consequently, if this is the case with the other prophecies recorded in his writings, then why should we expect these events listed in Chapters 38 and 39 not to be fulfilled in a literal manner?

In fact, it would be strange for us to assume that they would be fulfilled in any other manner since we have the precedent in previous chapters of an exact fulfillment.

#### There Is Nothing In These Chapters Which Demands A Symbolic Fulfillment

Furthermore, as we closely examine these chapters, we find nothing that causes us to interpret them figuratively. This is crucial. Usually there are obvious clues as to why a passage, or certain parts of it, is to be understood symbolically. Though these chapters do use symbolic language, and speak of tremendous signs in the heavens, this is not inconsistent of what we read elsewhere in Scripture which describes actual phenomena that occurred or that will occur.

#### There Are Many Specific Details in These Chapters

In addition, there are too many details in these chapters that argue for a literal fulfillment. If symbolic, it is hard to understand why we have so many minute details. In fact, the natural way of understanding Ezekiel 38 and 39 is that of an invasion of the Promised Land that will literally be thwarted by God Himself.

#### Symbolic Interpreters Do Not Come To The Same Conclusions As To What It Means

If Ezekiel 38,39 is meant to be symbolic, then we must the ask the question, "Symbolic of what?" It seems interpreters are all over the map in attempting to tell us what these chapters are symbolic of.

The fact that we have so many diverse interpretations of what these chapters are supposed to mean, if not understood literally, provides further reason to reject the idea of symbolic interpretation.

In sum, we conclude that what we have in these two chapters is a prediction of a future attempted invasion of the Promised Land by various nations, coming from a variety of different directions.

#### There Is Also the Question Of Timing

Once we conclude that the events listed in Ezekiel 38,39 are to be interpreted literally, there is another question that must be considered. Like the previous events which we have considered, events one through three, there are different views as to when this particular invasion will occur. In addition, there are some Bible commentators who argue that this invasion has already taken place in the past.

Our view is that it is an event that is still future. Indeed, there is nothing that has taken place in the past that remotely suggests that it has already occurred. Furthermore, as we shall note, we are specifically told that this invasion will take place "at the time of the end."

#### The Invasion Occurs In The Last Days

The fact that this event is still future, and that it will happen at the time of the end, is emphasized for us in Ezekiel 38:8. It reads as follows:

After many days you will be summoned; in the latter years you will come to a land restored from the ravages of war, with many peoples gathered on the mountains of Israel that had long been in ruins. Its people were brought out from the peoples, and all of them will be living securely (Ezekiel 38:8 NET).

Since twice in this verse we have the terms "after many days," and "in the latter years," it is an indication that this invasion will take place at the time of the end. Indeed, when the specifics of this predicted event are examined, it will become clear that we are dealing with something that has never occurred in the past.

#### Exactly When In The Future Is Much Debated

However, precisely when it will take place in the future is a difficult question to answer. To the point, there are at least ten different views as to when it will occur! We can briefly list them as follows:

#### Option 1: It Will Happen Sometime During The Church Age, Likely At The End

This position sees the invasion taking place during the church age before the beginning of the Seventieth Week of Daniel—the final seven-year period before Jesus Christ returns to the earth to set up His kingdom (Daniel 9:24-27). Those who hold this position often view it occurring during the very end of the church age, but this is not always the case.

#### Option 2: The Battle Occurs Before The Rapture Of The Church And The Great Tribulation

This view is similar to the previous one. The battle will happen during the church age, but at the very extreme end. In other words, it will take place almost simultaneously with the rapture of the church and the beginning of the seventieth week of Daniel, the Great Tribulation.

The sequence is usually explained in this manner—the invasion begins, the rapture of the church takes place immediately afterward, and then the Great Tribulation immediately follows.

#### Option 3: It Occurs After the Rapture, Before The 70th Week Of Daniel (The Great Tribulation)

This view sees the invasion taking place after the rapture of the church, but before the Great Tribulation, the Seventieth week of Daniel, begins. It is contended that there may be a large time gap between the rapture of the church and the start of the final seven-year period—the Great Tribulation. This view says that that interval may be days, weeks, months or even years between the rapture of the church and the beginning of the Great Tribulation. The Ezekiel 38,39 invasion takes places during this interval.

#### Option 4: It Takes Place Early In The Great Tribulation, After the Rapture

Another view holds that the rapture of the church has taken place, and the Great Tribulation has begun, *before* this battle takes place. Thus, it occurs sometime during the early part of the Great Tribulation.

The context in Ezekiel describes the time of the invasion as a period of relative peace for Israel (Ezekiel 38:8, 11, 14). This fits with what we know of the first half of Daniel's seventieth week.

At this time, Israel is in some sort of covenant relationship with the final Antichrist and, therefore, will supposedly be protected from any attack. This period of peace will eventually be broken at the midpoint of the seventieth week of Daniel, when the Antichrist becomes a world ruler, and the Great Tribulation, the "Time of Jacob's Trouble," begins with its persecution of the nation of Israel.

However, at the beginning of this seven-year period, the situation will be peaceful—like the conditions when this Ezekiel invasion takes place.

#### Option 5: It Occurs In The Middle, Or Near The Middle, Of The Final Seven-Year Period

This particular view believes that this invasion will take place around the middle of the final seven-year period, possibly as early as a year before. This view often identifies Ezekiel 38 and 39 with an invasion of the king of the north in Daniel 11:40. We will further explain this viewpoint as we look at the skirmish with the king of the North and the king of the South (Event 26).

Like the previous option, the fact that Israel is "living securely" (Ezekiel 38:8) is said to be the result of the false peace brought by the Final Antichrist during the first half of the Great Tribulation.

Thus, for three-and-a-half years, this last Gentile world ruler will encourage the Jews to return to the Holy Land, possibly built their temple. However, he will break his agreement with them and attack them with the goal of total annihilation.

Consequently, Israel will enjoy a period of peace in the Tribulation. It is during the first half of the Tribulation, toward its end, where the advocates of this view place the fulfillment of this prophecy.

#### Option 6. This Invasion Is The Battle Of Armageddon

Many Bible teachers believe that the Gog and Magog event of Ezekiel 38, 39 is synonymous with what the Book of Revelation calls the Campaign of Armageddon (Revelation 16:16).

Since Armageddon is a huge invasion of Israel around the time of the Second Coming of Christ, and the invasion of Israel described in Ezekiel 38 and 39 is said to be in the "latter years" (Ezekiel 38:8) and "in the last days" (Ezekiel 38:16), it is claimed that they must be the same event.

### Option 7. The Events Occur At Two Different Times: Chapter 38 Occurs At The Middle Of The Tribulation, Chapter 39 Occurs At The End Of The Tribulation

There are those who believe that the events of Ezekiel chapter 39 do not necessarily happen immediately following Ezekiel 38.

Thus, it is contended that Ezekiel 38 takes place at the middle of the tribulation period, while Ezekiel 39 occurs some three and one-half years later at the end of this period. In this view, Ezekiel 39 is usually associated with the campaign of Armageddon.

#### Option 8. The Conflict Occurs After The Second Coming Of Christ But Before The Millennium

There is also the view that the invasion occurs after the Second Coming of Christ, during the interlude, or transitional time, between the Great Tribulation and the start of the Millennium. According to this perspective, since Israel will be dwelling in peace it assumes millennial-type conditions upon the earth.

#### Option 9. The Events Take Place At The Beginning Of The Millennium

There is also the position that this event happens at the beginning of the Millennium, when Israel is living in peace with the coming of the Messiah.

#### Option 10. These Events Occur At The End Of The Millennium

There are those which believe that the invasion of Ezekiel 38 and 39 will occur at the end of the Millennium. Revelation 20:7–9 speaks of a conflict at the end of the thousand-year period when Satan is released. Revelation 20:8 speaks of Satan coming out to deceive the nations, which are in the four corners of the earth to gather them together for the final war against the Lord. As we find in Ezekiel 38,39, the terms Gog and Magog are also used in Revelation 20 to describe what takes place.

#### What Is The Best Solution?

As we have noted, these issues are complex. To further complicate matters, this invasion is often linked to Daniel 11:40 when the Bible speaks of a skirmish between the king of the North and the king of the South. As we also mentioned, some link it instead to Armageddon (Revelation 16:16). There is also the view that all three passages are speaking of the same battle!

In our view, the best solution seems to be that the invasion will take place either shortly before the beginning of the seventieth week of Daniel, or during the early part of this last seven-year period. Having said this, we recognize that these are certainly not the only possible answers to this complex problem. Therefore, we hold our conclusion with tentativeness as well as with humility.

#### The Ancient Names Of The Players

There are, however, many things that we do know about this coming invasion. We do know that Ezekiel is told that, in the "last days," a coalition of nations will form who will invade Israel. These nations are listed as follows:

The word of the Lord came to me: "Son of man, set your face against Gog, of the land of Magog, the chief prince of Meshek and Tubal; prophesy against him . . . Persia, Cush and Put will be with them, all with shields and helmets, also Gomer with all its troops, and Beth Togarmah from the far north with all its troops—the many nations with you (Ezekiel 38:1,5 NIV).

#### The Identity Of These Nations

The precise identity of these nations is also a matter of debate. Generally speaking, we can make the following identifications:

| Ancient Name | Modern Equivalent |
|--------------|-------------------|
|              |                   |

Rosh Russia (or Chief) Magog Central Asia

Meshech and Tubal Turkey, southern Russia, Iran

Persia Iran

Cush Northern Sudan, Ethiopia

Put Libya

Gomer Turkey (Armenia)

Beth-Togarmah Turkey

Other Islamic nations (possibly Iraq)

As with many other issues associated with this invasion, there are differences of opinion as to the precise identity of these nations. Yet, generally speaking, these seem to be the ones who will participate in this coming event.

#### The Situation In Israel At The Time Of Ezekiel 38,39

At this time, Israel will dwell in relative security. Scripture explains their situation in this manner:

Its people were brought out from the peoples, and all of them will be living securely (Ezekiel 38:8 NET).

The New Living Translation puts it this way:

A long time from now you will be called into action. In the distant future you will swoop down on the land of Israel, which will be enjoying peace after recovering from war and after its people have returned from many lands to the mountains of Israel (Ezekiel 38:8 NLT).

The point is that the invasion will take place when Israel is not expecting it.

#### The Lord Destroys The Invaders

Scripture records the result of the invasion:

"Son of man, prophesy against Gog and say: This is what the Sovereign Lord says: I am against you, Gog, chief prince of Meshek and Tubal. I will turn you around and drag you along. I will bring you from the far north and send you against the mountains of Israel. Then I will strike your bow from your left hand and make your arrows drop from your right hand. On the mountains of Israel you will fall, you and all your troops and the nations with you. I will give you as food to all kinds of carrion birds and to the wild animals (Ezekiel 39:1-4 NIV).

The Bible emphasizes that everyone involved in this invasion from these nations will be killed.

#### Israel Will Then Recognize That The Lord Is Indeed God

The result? The nations, along with the people of Israel, will recognize that the Lord, the God of the Bible, is indeed the Lord of all! In fact, the Lord says the following:

I will display my glory among the nations, and all the nations will see the punishment I inflict and the hand I lay on them. From that day forward the people of Israel will know that I am the Lord their God (Ezekiel 39:21,22 NIV).

To sum up, the Bible speaks of an end time invasion of Israel from seven or eight nations. This invasion will bring their armies inside the borders of the Promised Land. When this happens, the Lord will supernaturally destroy the entire invading army. This will cause all the nations, including Israel, to recognize that the Lord is God. This invasion is one of the major events of the end times. However, exactly as to when this invasion will take place in the future is debated. As we observed, there are no less than ten different views as to the timing of this coming event.

# Event 7 The Amazing Scene In Heaven (Revelation 4 and 5)

Before the events of Revelation 6-19 take place upon the earth, Scripture speaks of an event that will occur in heaven. We cannot overestimate the importance of it because this event sets the stage for all that follows.

Indeed, the fact that the Lord pulls back the curtain and gives us a glimpse of what takes place in the unseen realm ought to cause us to pay very close attention.

#### The Heavenly Scene

After the letters of Jesus to the seven churches in Asia, recorded in Revelation 2 and 3, the scene switches to heaven where John is supernaturally brought into the presence of the Lord:

After this I looked, and behold, a door standing open in heaven! And the first voice, which I had heard speaking to me like a trumpet, said, "Come up here, and I will show you what must take place after this" (Revelation 4:1 ESV).

This begins the revelation of future events that are yet to take place upon the earth. As a background to these "things to come," we receive a glimpse of what takes place in heaven that will set the stage for these "last days" events.

#### The Heavenly Throne Room

Amazingly, John is brought into the actual presence of the Lord:

And instantly I was in the Spirit, and I saw a throne in heaven and someone sitting on it. The one sitting on the throne was as brilliant as gemstones—like jasper and carnelian. And the glow of an emerald circled his throne like a rainbow (Revelation 4:2,3 NLT).

What a wonderful privilege for John! Isaiah the prophet had a similar honor:

It was in the year King Uzziah died that I saw the Lord. He was sitting on a lofty throne, and the train of his robe filled the Temple. Attending him were mighty seraphim, each having six wings. With two wings they covered their faces, with two they covered their feet, and with two they flew. They were calling out to each other, "Holy, holy, holy is the Lord of Heaven's Armies! The whole earth is filled with his glory!" Their voices shook the Temple to its foundations, and the entire building was filled with smoke (Isaiah 6:1-4 NLT).

From the experiences of John and Isaiah, we receive a glimpse of the throne of the Lord as well as some of the supernatural beings who are in attendance.

#### The Twenty-Four Elders

John also saw twenty-four elders around the throne:

Twenty-four thrones surrounded him, and twenty-four elders sat on them. They were all clothed in white and had gold crowns on their heads (Revelation 4:4 NLT).

As to their identity, we have looked into this question in our book *Angels*. We concluded that there is not enough evidence to determine whether they represent redeemed humans or some type of supernaturally created beings.

#### The Four Living Beings

We also discover that in heaven there are four living beings who constantly give praise to the Lord:

In the center and around the throne were four living beings, each covered with eyes, front and back. The first of these living beings was like a lion; the second was like an ox; the third had a human face; and the fourth was like an eagle in flight. Each of these living beings had six wings, and their wings were covered all over with eyes, inside and out. Day after day and night after night they keep on saying, "Holy, holy, holy is the Lord God, the Almighty—the one who always was, who is, and who is still to come" (Revelation 4:7-9 NLT).

The description of these four living beings has generated much discussion. We also look into their identity in our book on *Angels*. Basically, we do not know enough about them to make many specific conclusions, either.

What we do discover is that they are constantly acknowledging that the Lord is "still to come." In other words, there will come a time when Jesus Christ will return to the earth. Of course, the Book of Revelation chronicles the events leading up to His return, as well as beyond.

#### The Scroll And The Lamb

With this heavenly background, we are then introduced to a seven-sealed scroll:

Then I saw a scroll in the right hand of the one who was sitting on the throne. There was writing on the inside and the outside of the scroll, and it was sealed with seven seals (Revelation 5:1-2 NLT).

At the outset, there was no creature, whether in heaven or upon the earth, that was worthy to break the seals and to open the scroll. However, there was One who did step forward, who was worthy to open the scroll:

Then I saw a Lamb that looked as if it had been slaughtered . . . He stepped forward and took the scroll from the right hand of the one sitting on the throne (Revelation 5:6,7 NLT).

The Lamb of God is God the Son—the Lord Jesus! He will break the seals and open the scroll.

#### What Is The Seven-Sealed Scroll? What Is Its Significance?

Neither the identity of the scroll or its significance is explained to us. Consequently, there are a number of different views as to what it is, as well as what it means. They include the following four popular options:

#### Option 1: An Ancient Roman Will

Those who read, or heard the Book of Revelation being read out loud, would immediately identify this scroll with an ancient Roman will or "testament." These documents were sealed with six seals, each of which bore the name of the sealer. Only the sealer could open the document.

This fact has led some commentators to conclude that the scroll was God's testament concerning the promises of the inheritance of believers to His future kingdom.

#### Option 2: The Progressive Unfolding Of History

Another view sees the scroll containing the progressive unfolding of the history of the world that is contained in the Book of Revelation. As each successive seal is opened, further contents of the book are revealed.

#### Option 3: The Title Deed Of All Creation

The is the connection of the scroll with a "title-deed" (Jeremiah 32:10–14). Therefore, this seven-sealed scroll is the "title-deed" to creation that was forfeited by sin in Genesis. Jesus Christ has won the authority to reclaim the earth and open the scroll by His death on the cross for the sins of the world.

#### Option 4: It Is Like Ezekiel's Or Isaiah's Scroll

A fourth view sees this as similar to Ezekiel's scroll which contain "words of lament, mourning and woe" (Ezekiel 2:9–10). In other words, the contents depict the future punishments the world is about to receive.

In Isaiah 29:11, a sealed scroll is compared to the inability of the people of Israel to understand the divine message that the Isaiah is revealing:

To you this entire prophetic revelation is like words in a sealed scroll. When they hand it to one who can read and say, "Read this," he responds, "I can't, because it is sealed." Or when they hand the scroll to one who can't read and say, "Read this," he says, "I can't read." (Isaiah 29:11 NET).

Whatever the exact meaning, it seems that the contents of the scroll cannot be revealed until the seals are broken. Therefore, the seals are hiding the contents of the scroll, God's revelation, until the seals are broken.

This heavenly scene sets the stage for all that follows. In fact, the entire panorama of the Book of Revelation is introduced with this breath-taking glimpse of heaven.

Consequently, as we begin to examine these future events that Scripture records for us, we should keep in mind this awesome background. Indeed, this should cause us to study these truths with humility as well as thankfulness to the Lord.

Therefore, it is important that all of us read these two chapters to remind ourselves of the majestic, holy, and wonderful Lord whom we serve and adore.

# Event 8: The Seal Judgments: The Four Horsemen of the Apocalypse (Revelation 6, 8:1)

With the opening of the sealed scroll by the Lord Jesus, the next event that we will consider is actually a series of incidents, rather than one particular occurrence that takes place at a set time. These events found in the sixth chapter of the Book of Revelation are known as the "seal judgments." We will examine each event individually.

First, there are a couple of preliminary matters which we should consider before we examine each specific event that is recorded with respect to these seal judgments.

#### Revelation 6 And The Olivet Discourse

It has been observed by Bible students that the order of events found in this chapter is very similar to the order of the events that Jesus predicted in the Olivet Discourse—His Sermon on the Mount of Olives (Matthew 24, Luke 21).

In fact, these particular passages are key to understanding the outline of this part of the Book of Revelation. The events that the Lord spoke about include the appearance of many antichrists, continuing war, famine, death, the martyrdom of believers, and signs that occur upon the earth as well as in heaven. Each of these are found in the "seal judgments."

In fact, in Matthew 24:15, Jesus spoke of a particular sign of the end which occurs in the middle of the seventieth week of Daniel—the abomination of desolation:

So when you see standing in the holy place 'the abomination that causes desolation,' spoken of through the prophet Daniel—let the reader understand (Matthew 24:15 NIV).

#### The First Three And One-Half Years Are The Beginning Of Birth Pains

Consequently, the events that He described *before* the midpoint of this final seven-year period (Matthew 24:4-14) are what is found in these first six seals. They will most likely occur in the first half of the final seven years before the coming of Christ. Jesus referred to this three and one-half year period as the "beginning of birth pains." The Lord said:

All these are the beginning of birth pains (Matthew 24:8 NIV).

Hence, in Revelation chapter six, we find the earth beginning to experience these judgments from the Lord.

#### The First Seal: The Rider On The White Horse

The message from the first seal concerns a rider on a white horse. It reads as follows:

I watched as the Lamb opened the first of the seven seals. Then I heard one of the four living creatures say in a voice like thunder, "Come!" I looked, and there before me was a white horse! Its rider held a bow, and he was given a crown, and he rode out as a conqueror bent on conquest (Revelation 6:1-2 NIV).

The "Lamb" who opens these seals is the risen Christ. In other words, the judgments which are coming upon the earth are His doing.

#### Is The Rider Christ Or Antichrist?

There is disagreement as to the identity of this "rider." Some see this as a reference to the conquering Christ. This would be consistent with the "overcomer" theme of the Book of Revelation. Indeed, we find that the Lord Jesus returns to the earth while riding upon a "white horse" (Revelation 19).

However, since we find evil associated with all of the other riders, this first rider is best understood as the beast—the final Antichrist. He will be the evil ruler of the Great Tribulation period.

We will also discover that this man is a wicked parody of Jesus. In other words, he will mimic Christ in a number of evil ways. In addition, though this beast will establish a worldwide rule by force, he will first appear on the stage of history as a "man of peace."

Jesus warned of false Christs that would appear:

Watch out that no one misleads you. For many will come in my name, saying, 'I am the Christ,' and they will mislead many (Matthew 24:4,5 NET).

In this instance, this rider on the white horse will be the ultimate pretender. Indeed, he will be a "man of peace" who turns out to be a horrible monster.

#### The Second Seal: War Breaks Out Upon The Earth

The opening of the second seal reveals a red horse. What follows next is war upon the earth. The Bible says:

When the Lamb opened the second seal, I heard the second living creature say, "Come!" Then another horse came out, a fiery red one. Its rider was given power to take peace from the earth and to make people kill each other. To him was given a large sword (Revelation 6:3-4 NIV).

When peace is removed from the earth, Scripture says that the people of the world will turn upon one another. The symbol of the huge sword likely represents a tremendous loss of life.

Again, we find that Jesus warned that this would happen:

You will hear of wars and rumors of wars. Make sure that you are not alarmed, for this must happen, but the end is still to come. For nation will rise up in arms against nation, and kingdom against kingdom (Matthew 24:6,7 NET).

#### The Third Seal: Famine And Its Aftermath

The next horse is black. This horse is described as follows:

When the Lamb opened the third seal, I heard the third living creature say, "Come!" I looked, and there before me was a black horse! Its rider was holding a pair of scales in his hand. Then I heard what sounded like a voice among the four living creatures, saying, "Two pounds of wheat for a day's wages, and six pounds of barley for a day's wages, and do not damage the oil and the wine!" (Revelation 6:5-6 NIV).

The scales could represent either judgment, in general, or the instrument used to weigh the terribly scarce food that will exist at this time.

Others see this representing famine and inflation. In fact, inflation has been estimated to reach 1,000 percent! The result of this judgment will be a universal famine that will come upon the inhabitants of the earth.

Once again, this will fulfill the prediction of the Lord Jesus:

There will be famines (Matthew 24:7 NIV).

#### The Fourth Seal: Death And Hades

The fourth seal reveals a horse with a pale rider upon it. It predicts a terrible punishment upon those living on the earth. Scripture says:

When the Lamb opened the fourth seal, I heard the voice of the fourth living creature say, "Come!" I looked, and there before me was a pale horse! Its rider was named Death, and Hades was following close behind him. They were given power over a fourth of the earth to kill by sword, famine and plague, and by the wild beasts of the earth (Revelation 6:7-8 NIV).

Death is personified as a rider upon this fourth horse, with Hades following right behind. We find that these two terms are often coupled in the Book of Revelation (see 1:18, 6:8, 20:13-14).

Hades is sometimes used in the Bible to describe the place where the dead reside. Later, in Revelation, it will specifically refer to the place where the unbelieving dead are kept while awaiting the "Last Judgment" (For more on the subject of Hades, see our book *What Happens One Second After We Die?*).

The ashen, or pale, color of the horse could mean a number of things. Some suggest that it pictures the putrefaction of human flesh. This would make sense considering the magnitude of the human loss of life during this global judgment—where one quarter of the population of the earth will die. Such a tremendous number of corpses will make a timely burial of the deceased impossible for those who survive. Hence, the putrefying of human flesh will occur on a grand scale.

Jesus also warned about the future pestilence that is mentioned here:

There will be great earthquakes, famines and pestilences in various places, and fearful events and great signs from heaven (Luke 21:11 NIV).

In sum, sword, famine, and pestilence summarize the second, third, and fourth seal judgments. The destruction that will be caused by "wild beasts" further emphasizes the commotion that will characterize this time period. Unfortunately, for the people of this world, it is only the beginning.

#### The Fifth Seal: The Souls Under The Altar

The fifth seal reveals that many people will be martyred for their faith in Jesus Christ:

When he opened the fifth seal, I saw under the altar the souls of those who had been slain because of the word of God and the testimony they had maintained (Revelation 6:9 NIV).

Jesus warned that this would happen to those living at this time:

Then you will be handed over to be persecuted and put to death, and you will be hated by all nations because of me (Matthew 24:9 NIV).

#### The Sixth Seal: The Cosmic Upheaval

The next seal reveals momentous events upon the earth as well as in the sky:

I watched as he opened the sixth seal. There was a great earthquake. The sun turned black like sackcloth made of goat hair, the whole moon turned blood red, and the stars in the sky fell to earth, as figs drop from a fig tree when shaken by a strong wind. The heavens receded like a scroll being rolled up, and every mountain and island was removed from its place (Revelation 6:12-14 NIV).

This will cause panic to grip the people of the earth. Indeed, the inhabitants will realize that the wrath of God is being poured out upon this godless world:

Then the kings of the earth, the princes, the generals, the rich, the mighty, and everyone else, both slave and free, hid in caves and among the rocks of the mountains. They called to the mountains and the rocks, "Fall on us and hide us from the face of him who sits on the throne and from the wrath of the Lamb! For the great day of their wrath has come, and who can withstand it?" (Revelation 6:15-17 NIV).

Jesus warned that such a time would come:

There will be signs in the sun, moon and stars. On the earth, nations will be in anguish and perplexity at the roaring and tossing of the sea. People will faint from terror, apprehensive of what is coming on the world, for the heavenly bodies will be shaken (Luke 21:25, 26 NIV).

#### The Seventh Seal: Silence In Heaven

After an interlude, we have the description of the seventh seal:

When he opened the seventh seal, there was silence in heaven for about half an hour. And I saw the seven angels who stand before God, and seven trumpets were given to them (Revelation 8:1,2 NET).

The seventh seal is different than the first six seals in that it has no content of its own. Instead, it introduces us to the next group of judgments—the trumpets.

This completes the opening of the seven-sealed document and what seems to be the first three and a half years of the seven-year Great Tribulation period. Soon, the trumpet judgments would begin.

# Event 9 The Rise Of The Final Antichrist (1 John 2:18)

The Bible speaks of an evil personage who will come on the scene of history at the time of the end. This individual will be like no one else who has ever lived. He will be the final Gentile world ruler. He is known in Scripture by many names, with the most popular being the "Beast," the "Man of Sin," and the "Antichrist."

Scripture tells us a number of things about the events in the life of this coming man of sin—the final Antichrist. Though we cannot be absolutely certain about the exact chronology of these events, we are able to list the following lowlights as we continue our look at the "things to come."

#### 1. He Will Appear At The Time Of The End

Scripture is clear that this final Antichrist will not appear on the stage of history until the time of the end. The Lord said the following to the prophet Daniel in a vision relating to the final Antichrist:

As Gabriel approached the place where I was standing, I became so terrified that I fell with my face to the ground. "Son of man," he said, "you must understand that the events you have seen in your vision relate to the time of the end" (Daniel 8:17 NLT).

Indeed, his coming signals the time of the end. He cannot appear before these "last days" since his coming sets the stage for the soon return of Jesus Christ to the earth. Therefore, it is clear that the final Antichrist has not yet publicly arrived on the scene.

#### 2. His Arrival Will Signal The Beginning Of The Prophetic Period, The Day Of The Lord

The Bible says that Antichrist's coming will commence a prophetic period known as the "day of the Lord." Paul wrote about this time to the church at Thessalonica. He said:

And now, brothers and sisters, let us tell you about the coming again of our Lord Jesus Christ and how we will be gathered together to meet him. Please don't be so easily shaken and troubled by those who say that the day of the Lord has already begun. Even if they claim to have had a vision, a revelation, or a letter supposedly from us, don't believe them. Don't be fooled by what they say. For that day will not come until there is a great rebellion against God and the man of lawlessness is revealed—the one who brings destruction (2 Thessalonians 2:1-3 NLT).

This period cannot begin until the final Antichrist arrives on the scene.

#### 3. He Is Presently Being Restrained By Someone Or Something

We know that someone or something is presently restraining the appearance of this final Antichrist. Paul wrote the following to the Thessalonians:

And you know what is holding him back, for he can be revealed only when his time comes (2 Thessalonians 2:6 NLT).

The pre-tribulation rapture view holds that the Lord will remove the true believers out of the world before the Great Tribulation period. According to this position, immediately following the rapture of the church, the final Antichrist will be revealed. Until that time, his identity will remain unknown to the world.

The reason he cannot be revealed before this time is because the Holy Spirit of God, through the believers living upon the earth, is presently restraining this coming "man of sin." Once the believers are removed through the rapture, this evil personage can then be revealed.

Other views of the rapture of the church (the mid-tribulation, the pre-wrath, and post-tribulation view) believe the restrainer of Antichrist consists of something else. However, all agree on this point—the final Antichrist is presently being restrained.

### 4. He Will Appear As An Inconspicuous Figure

Antichrist appears on the scene of world history as an inconspicuous figure. This is explained for us in the Book of Daniel. We read of his rise from obscurity:

After that, in my vision at night I looked, and there before me was a fourth beast—terrifying and frightening and very powerful. It had large iron teeth; it crushed and devoured its victims and trampled underfoot whatever was left. It was different from all the former beasts, and it had ten horns. "While I was thinking about the horns, there before me was another horn, a little one, which came up among them; and three of the first horns were uprooted before it. This horn had eyes like the eyes of a human being and a mouth that spoke boastfully" (Daniel 7:7-8 NIV).

He is called a "little horn." This seems to indicate that his rise is from relative obscurity. Therefore, he will not be someone who has an immediate high profile.

### 5. He Will Appear As A Man of Peace

He starts out upon a career of conquest by peaceful means. As we mentioned, when we looked at the judgment of the "seven seals," the Book of Revelation introduces us to the four horsemen of the apocalypse. Scripture says:

I watched as the Lamb opened the first of the seven seals. Then I heard one of the four living creatures say in a voice like thunder, "Come!" I looked, and there before me was a white horse! Its rider held a bow, and he was given a crown, and he rode out as a conqueror bent on conquest (Revelation 6:1–2 NIV).

The final Antichrist is portrayed here as the rider on a white horse. He will begin his career by peaceful means as a "conqueror bent on conquest."

### 6. He Will Receive A Fatal Head Wound

This seems to be *the* significant event in the life of the coming Antichrist. Scripture tells us that his personality changes after he receives this fatal wound to the head. The Bible says:

One of its heads seemed to have a mortal wound, but its mortal wound was healed, and the whole earth marveled as they followed the beast (Revelation 13:3 ESV).

Whether or not he actually dies, it certainly appears that way to everyone upon the earth.

### 7. He Will Descend Into The Abyss

After this head wound occurs, this personage descends into the abyss—the bottomless pit. The Book of Revelation says:

And when they [the two witnesses] have finished their testimony, the beast that rises from the bottomless pit will make war on them and conquer them and kill them (Revelation 11:7 ESV).

The abyss is the bottomless pit—the prison house of evil spirits. The beast becomes a different person after he goes down into the abyss, and then returns.

### 8. He Is Raised Back To Life: The World Is Amazed

Something happens to this political leader at this point—he is raised back to life. This event is described as follows:

One of the beast's heads appeared to have been killed, but the lethal wound had been healed. And the whole world followed the beast in amazement. . . He exercised all the ruling authority of the first beast on his behalf, and made the earth and those who inhabit it worship the first beast, the one whose lethal wound had been healed. . . and, by the signs he was permitted to perform on behalf of the beast, he deceived those who live on the earth. He told those who live on the earth to make an image to the beast who had been wounded by the sword, but still lived (Revelation 13:3,12,14 NET).

This causes the people of the world to be astonished. The Word of God puts it this way:

The beast that you saw was, and is not, and is about to rise from the bottomless pit and go to destruction. And the dwellers on earth whose names have not been written in the book of life from the foundation of the world will marvel to see the beast, because it was and is not and is to come (Revelation 17:8 ESV).

This beast seemingly rises from the dead.

### 9. He Becomes The Beast, A Man Controlled By Satan

This man goes from a world leader in politics, to a worldwide dictator. He is now, officially, the beast—a satanically controlled individual. The Bible says:

Now the beast that I saw was like a leopard, but its feet were like a bear's, and its mouth was like a lion's mouth. The dragon gave the beast his power, his throne, and great authority to rule. One of the beast's heads appeared to have been killed, but the lethal wound had been healed. And the whole world followed the beast in amazement; they worshiped the dragon because he had given ruling authority to the beast, and they worshiped the beast too, saying: "Who is like the beast?" and "Who is able to make war against him?" The beast was given a mouth speaking proud words and blasphemies, and he was permitted to exercise ruling authority for forty-two months (Revelation 13:2-5 NET).

There is an entire change of character of this personage.

### 10. He Rules Politically And Curses The Living God

The political rule of the entire world begins. The Bible says the following will happen:

They worshiped the dragon for giving the beast such power, and they also worshiped the beast. "Who is as great as the beast?" they exclaimed. "Who is able to fight against him?" Then the beast was allowed to speak great blasphemies against God. And he was given authority to do whatever he wanted for forty-two months. And he spoke terrible words of blasphemy against God, slandering his name and his dwelling—that is, those who dwell in heaven. And the beast was allowed to wage war against God's holy people and to conquer them. And he was given authority to rule over every tribe and people and language and nation. And all the people who belong to this world worshiped the beast. They are the ones whose names were

### Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

not written in the Book of Life before the world was made—the Book that belongs to the Lamb who was slaughtered (Revelation 13:4-8 NLT).

As a worldwide ruler, the beast feels free to curse the God of Scripture.

The Book of Daniel talks about this personage who will speak boastfully. We read:

While I was thinking about the horns, there before me was another horn, a little one, which came up among them; and three of the first horns were uprooted before it. This horn had eyes like the eyes of a human being and a mouth that spoke boastfully (Daniel 7:8 NIV).

Thus, his ability to speak boastfully is emphasized in both testaments.

### 11. He Will Attempt To Make Changes In The Calendar

He will also attempt to make changes in the calendar that have been established by the law:

He will speak words against the Most High. He will harass the holy ones of the Most High continually. His intention will be to change times established by law (Daniel 7:25 NET).

This could refer to the calendar itself, or it may be a specific reference to the changing of "holy days." In other words, he may change the way the calendar is dated as A.D. and B.C., refuse to recognize Easter and Christmas, etc. In sum, there will be no acknowledgement of Jesus Christ as long as he is ruling.

Interestingly, there was an unsuccessful attempt during the time of the French Revolution to replace the Christian (Gregorian) calendar with a Revolutionary calendar. It seems the final Antichrist will do something similar.

This briefly sums up the career of the final Antichrist. As we will observe when we examine other future events, this evil personage will play a large part in many of them.

For a thorough look at this coming "man of sin" see our book *The Final Antichrist: The Coming Caesar*.

# Event 10 The Covenant between The Final Antichrist And The Jews: The Seventieth Week Of Daniel Begins (Daniel 9:27)

This is one of the most important events in all of Scripture. In fact, it will start the clock ticking for the final seven-year period of our present age. At the end of the seven years, Jesus Christ will return to the earth.

### The Antichrist Will Make, Or Confirm, An Agreement With Israel

The final Antichrist makes, or confirms, an agreement with the Jews—likely a covenant of peace. We have already referred to this in our discussion of preliminary matters.

Here we will examine this agreement, or covenant, in more detail. Again, Daniel 9:27 is the key verse. We should note that it has been translated a number of different ways:

He will confirm a covenant with many for one week (Daniel 9:27 NET).

He will make a strong covenant with leaders for one week [of years]. (Daniel 9:27 CJB)

He will make a treaty with the people for a period of one set of seven (Daniel 9:27 NLT).

There is some question as to the meaning of the Hebrew word in this verse translated as either "confirm" or "make." Either translation is possible. it could even mean "force upon." In other words, this "man of sin" will compel Israel to make this agreement.

The phrase "one set of seven" refers to a period of seven years. It constitutes a seven-year agreement that involves the nation of Israel.

This "man of lawlessness" will do all of this in his own name, or authority. Jesus said of him:

I have come in my Father's name, and you do not receive me. If another comes in his own name, you will receive him (John 5:43 ESV).

Because of this "agreement," again, likely some sort of "peace agreement," the Antichrist will be welcomed by the Jews. Israel, which has rejected Jesus as their Messiah, will receive this "man of sin."

This particular agreement will begin the seventieth week of Daniel—the last seven years in this present age before Jesus Christ returns. Therefore, this is a very significant event.

### This Treaty May Involve Jerusalem And The Temple Mount

This treaty will possibly allow the Jews to take possession of the area of the Temple Mount—the place where the First and Second Temple stood.

We read about the measuring of the Temple in the Book of Revelation. It says.

Then I was given a measuring rod like a staff, and I was told, "Rise and measure the temple of God and the altar and those who worship there, but do not measure the court outside the temple; leave that out, for it is given over to the nations, and they will trample the holy city for forty-two months. And I will grant

### Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

authority to my two witnesses, and they will prophesy for 1,260 days, clothed in sackcloth" (Revelation 11:1–3 ESV).

The fact that the temple is measured assumes that it exists at that time. We are not told what Antichrist receives in return for making this deal with the nation.

To sum up, this agreement is central to the events that will take place at the time of the end.

### Event 11 The Abomination of Desolation: The Great Tribulation Begins (Matthew 24:15)

One of the major coming events, as far as Scripture is concerned, is known as the "abomination of desolation," or the "abomination that causes desolation." Actually, it is "the sign" that the disciples asked to see to show that His coming was near:

Jesus left the temple area and was going on His way when His disciples came up to point out the temple buildings to Him. But He responded and said to them, "Do you not see all these things? Truly I say to you, not one stone here will be left upon another, which will not be torn down." And as He was sitting on the Mount of Olives, the disciples came to Him privately, saying, "Tell us, when will these things happen, and what will be the sign of Your coming, and of the end of the age?" (Matthew 24:1-3 NASB).

Jesus explained it in this manner:

Therefore, when you see the ABOMINATION OF DESOLATION which was spoken of through Daniel the prophet, standing in the holy place—let the reader understand— then those who are in Judea must flee to the mountains. Whoever is on the housetop must not go down to get things out of his house. And whoever is in the field must not turn back to get his cloak. But woe to those women who are pregnant, and to those who are nursing babies in those days! Moreover, pray that when you flee, it will not be in the winter, or on a Sabbath. For then there will be a great tribulation, such as has not occurred since the beginning of the world until now, nor ever will again (Matthew 24:15-21 NASB 2020)

### The Breaking Of The Agreement

There will be an "agreement," made between the Jews and the Antichrist, will also be broken in the midst of this final seven-year period. The Bible explains it this way:

He will confirm a covenant with many for one 'seven.' In the middle of the 'seven' he will put an end to sacrifice and offering. And at the temple he will set up an abomination that causes desolation, until the end that is decreed is poured out on him (Daniel 9:27 NIV).

This will take place at the midpoint of the final seven-year period—the seventieth week of Daniel.

Antichrist will put an end to the sacrifices being offered in the Temple. He will then turn upon the nation which embraced him.

Paul wrote about what will occur when the people think they are at peace:

Now, brothers and sisters, about times and dates we do not need to write to you, for you know very well that the day of the Lord will come like a thief in the night. While people are saying, "Peace and safety," destruction will come on them suddenly, as labor pains on a pregnant woman, and they will not escape (1 Thessalonians 5:1-3 NIV).

There will be no safety for them. In fact, when they think they have peace, then destruction will suddenly come upon them.

### Antichrist Desecrates The Temple In Jerusalem

### Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

The holiest spot on earth for the Jews is the Temple Mount in Jerusalem. It was the site of the First and Second Temple and will also be the future site of the Third Temple.

This Third Temple now becomes a place of desecration. The "man of sin," who is the unholiest of all the people on the earth, comes to the most Holy Place. Indeed, in five different places in Scripture we are told of this horrific event (Daniel 9:27, Daniel 12:11, Matthew 24:15, 2 Thessalonians 2:1-4, Revelation 11:2).

This beast, Antichrist, will claim Deity for himself. Paul wrote:

He will exalt himself and defy every god there is and tear down every object of adoration and worship. He will position himself in the temple of God, claiming that he himself is God (2 Thessalonians 2:4 NLT).

He defies the living God and makes outrageous claims. Included is the claim to Deity. This beast offers himself to the world as a god in the place of Jesus Christ—the true and living God. He is truly an "anti" Christ.

Scripture says that once this event takes place, people can start marking time. Indeed, it will be 1,290 days until the return of the Lord:

From the time the daily sacrifice is abolished and the abomination of desolation is set up, there will be 1,290 days. Happy is the one who waits for and reaches 1,335 days (Daniel 12:11 CSB).

Consequently, this "abomination that causes desolation" is a landmark event of the time of the end. Indeed, it signifies the beginning of the Great Tribulation Period.

For more on the events surrounding this future Temple, see our books *The Jews, Jerusalem and the Coming Temple* as well as 25 Signs We Are Near the End, (Sign 8 Preparations Are Being Made For A Third Temple).

### Event 12: The Sealing of the 144,000 (Revelation 7,14)

After the recording of judgment of the first six seals (Revelation 6), there is an interlude before the seventh seal is broken (Revelation 8). During this interlude, we are introduced to a special group of individuals—the 144,000. This group of people will evangelize the world with the message of Christ. The Bible describes them as follows:

Then I saw another angel rising up from the east, who had the seal of the living God. He cried out in a loud voice to the four angels who were allowed to harm the earth and the sea: "Don't harm the earth or the sea or the trees until we seal the servants of our God on their foreheads." And I heard the number of the sealed: 144,000 sealed from every tribe of the Israelites: 12,000 sealed from the tribe of Judah, 12,000 from the tribe of Reuben, 12,000 from the tribe of Gad, 12,000 from the tribe of Asher, 12,000 from the tribe of Naphtali, 12,000 from the tribe of Manasseh, 12,000 from the tribe of Simeon, 12,000 from the tribe of Levi, 12,000 from the tribe of Issachar, 12,000 from the tribe of Zebulun, 12,000 from the tribe of Joseph, 12,000 sealed from the tribe of Benjamin (Revelation 7:2-8 CSB).

There are a number of questions that arise with respect to the 144,000.

### Is This Passage Literal Or Symbolic?

The first question that needs to be answered concerns whether this passage is to be interpreted in a literal manner or symbolically. The specific references to Israel, and the names of their 12 tribes, strongly suggests that the nation of Israel is in view. However, there are those who believe that this passage is to be interpreted symbolically.

### Does It Represent Spiritual Israel?

Many interpreters believe the 144,000 are members of "spiritual Israel"— a title of theirs for the church. They assume that the number is symbolic of all God's servants in the Great Tribulation.

### Response To The Symbolic Viewpoint

The case for symbolism in this passage is not very convincing. Indeed, the main problem with this view is an attempt to make the 144,000 into a group representative of the church. However, there is seemingly no possible numerical connection to the church that exists. Indeed, there is no basis to understand the simple statement of fact in Revelation 7:4 as a figure of speech.

### **Unconverted Jews**

There is also the perspective that interprets these people as literal Jews who are not converted. These orthodox Jews will resist the seduction of the Antichrist as well as be supernaturally kept from dying during the Great Tribulation. Eventually they will accept Jesus Christ as their Savior when He returns at the Second Coming, and they will populate the millennial kingdom.

The problem with this view is that these witnesses—the 144,000—appear to be believers in Jesus Christ.

### The Literal View: 144,000 Converted Jews

The best view is the literal view. The fact that this is a definite number of people can be seen in the very next verse with the contrast to the indefinite number of people:

After this I looked, and behold, a great multitude that no one could number, from every nation, from all tribes and peoples and languages, standing before the throne and before the Lamb, clothed in white robes, with palm branches in their hands (Revelation 7:9 ESV).

Therefore, the author had no problem speaking of an indefinite number of people when the situation warranted it. The fact that the 144,000 are specifically mentioned, as opposed to the indefinite number of the great multitude, is another reason to assume that we are talking about a literal group of people with a defined number.

In addition, since there is no reason to understand the "great multitude" as a symbolic group, it follows that the 144,000 should likewise not be interpreted symbolically. In fact, if this number is interpreted symbolically, then no number in the entire book of Revelation can be taken literally. Almost 100 years ago, William Frederick Roadhouse, summed up what many commentators of past generations have concluded:

The 144,000 must be literal Israelites. From other Scriptures we learned their return to the Land...They arrive in unbelief (Ezek.37:7,8)...Israel means Israel, unless expressly stated otherwise (William Frederick Roadhouse, "Seeing the Revelation," 1932, p. 82)

### Further Explanation Of The 144,000

The view that these are actual Israelites, who believe in Jesus, is further illustrated later in the Book of Revelation:

Then I looked, and here was the Lamb standing on Mount Zion, and with him were one hundred and forty-four thousand, who had his name and his Father's name written on their foreheads. I also heard a sound coming out of heaven like the sound of many waters and like the sound of loud thunder. Now the sound I heard was like that made by harpists playing their harps, and they were singing a new song before the throne and before the four living creatures and the elders. No one was able to learn the song except the one hundred and forty-four thousand who had been redeemed from the earth. These are the ones who have not defiled themselves with women, for they are virgins. These are the ones who follow the Lamb wherever he goes. These were redeemed from humanity as firstfruits to God and to the Lamb, and no lie was found on their lips; they are blameless (Revelation 14:1-5 NET)

This later vision of John brings us to the time of the Second Coming of Christ. The Lord joins the 144,000 on literal Mount Zion, which is earthly Jerusalem, at the beginning of His one thousand-year reign upon the earth—the Millennium. Along with various groups of supernatural beings, the 144,000 will sing a new song to the Lord.

### They Did Not Engage In False Worship

The most likely meaning of the phrase "not being defiled with women" is that they have not engaged in the false worship that will take place during the Great Tribulation period. In other words, they did not commit spiritual adultery. In the Old Testament, we often find that the idolatry of Israel was described as spiritual adultery (Exodus 34:11-17, Hosea 1:2; 2:2).

### They Are The First Of Many

Furthermore, these believers are the firstfruits of those from Israel who will have trusted Christ. Many of the descendants of Abraham, Isaac and Jacob will follow them into God's family by believing in Jesus Christ during the Great Tribulation period.

In sum, the 144,000, are exactly what they appear to be—twelve thousand Jews from each of the twelve tribes of Israel.

### Event 13 The Trumpet Judgments (Revelation 8,9)

As we earlier observed, the first set of judgments recorded in the Book of Revelation are the "seven seals." They seem to cover the first half of the last seven-year period—the "seventieth week of Daniel."

The "Abomination of Desolation" spoken of Matthew 24:15, is the starting point for the second half of this seven-year period. It is during this period that we also discover that two other sets of judgments will come upon those who live on the earth at this time—the "trumpet" judgments and the "bowl" judgments.

### The Trumpets

The next set of judgments in the Book of Revelation are known as the "trumpet" judgments. These judgments take place after the "seal" Judgments and most likely occur in the last half of the Great Tribulation.

### There Are Parallels With The Exodus

While the seal judgments fulfill Jesus' predictions about conditions during the first half of this last seven-year period, the events associated with the trumpets strongly parallel events connected with the exodus of Israel from Egypt during the second half of this last seven-year period. In contrast to what happened during the days of Moses, however, these judgments will take place on a worldwide scale.

### The First Trumpet: Destruction Upon The Land

The trumpet judgments begin with the earth itself. The Bible says the following will take place:

The first angel blew his trumpet, and hail and fire, mixed with blood, were hurled to the earth. So a third of the earth was burned up, a third of the trees were burned up, and all the green grass was burned up (Revelation 8:7 CSB).

This first trumpet judgment consists of a number of elements that will be hurled down from the sky to the earth. The hail and fire, mixed with blood, will destroy one-third of the remaining vegetation on the earth. Of course, this will only intensify the famine that was earlier introduced during the seal judgments.

### The Exodus Parallel

The first trumpet is reminiscent of the plague of hail sent by the Lord upon Egypt:

Then the Lord said to Moses, "Stretch out your hand toward heaven and let there be hail throughout the land of Egypt—on people and animals and every plant of the field in the land of Egypt." So Moses stretched out his staff toward heaven, and the Lord sent thunder and hail. Lightning struck the land, and the Lord rained hail on the land of Egypt. The hail, with lightning flashing through it, was so severe that nothing like it had occurred in the land of Egypt since it had become a nation. Throughout the land of Egypt, the hail struck down everything in the field, both people and animals. The hail beat down every plant of the field and shattered every tree in the field (Exodus 9:22-25 CSB).

### The Second Trumpet: Judgment Upon The Sea

The second trumpet judgment will cause something like a great burning mountain to be hurled into the sea. The Bible says:

The second angel sounded his trumpet, and something like a huge mountain, all ablaze, was thrown into the sea. A third of the sea turned into blood, a third of the living creatures in the sea died, and a third of the ships were destroyed (Revelation 8:8-9 CSB).

Hence, after striking the land with the blowing of the first trumpet, the Lord then turns to the sea. This will cause problems with all sea life as well as with human commerce. A great mountain that burns with fire, which possibly describes a giant meteor, will be hurled into the sea by the Lord.

The consequences are enormous. In fact, one-third of all life in the sea will perish. This huge loss of aquatic life will be so vast, it will cause the sea to turn red with blood. In addition, not only will a major food source vanish from the earth, countless ships will also be lost, along with their crews.

### The Exodus Parallel

This second trumpet reminds us of the Lord turning the water into blood in Egypt:

Moses and Aaron did just as the Lord had commanded; in the sight of Pharaoh and his officials, he raised the staff and struck the water in the Nile, and all the water in the Nile was turned to blood. The fish in the Nile died, and the river smelled so bad the Egyptians could not drink water from it. There was blood throughout the land of Egypt (Exodus 7:20-21 CSB).

### The Third Trumpet: The Fresh Water Is Polluted

The next trumpet judgment concerns the pollution of the fresh waters of the earth. Scripture records what will occur as follows:

The third angel blew his trumpet, and a great star, blazing like a torch, fell from heaven. It fell on a third of the rivers and springs of water. The name of the star is Wormwood, and a third of the waters became wormwood. So, many of the people died from the waters, because they had been made bitter (Revelation 8:10-11 CSB).

This third trumpet judgment will cause the earth's fresh water supply to be polluted. This will be accomplished by a falling star named "Wormwood."

This judgment will ruin the taste as well as the purity of the world's most essential resource—water. The result is that many people will die because of this punishment.

### This Will Remind The People Of The Identity Of The Real God

Interestingly, the Bible records a similar meteoric stone that was used as the pedestal of the image of the goddess Diana in the city of Ephesus. In fact, the city clerk of Ephesus referred to this when he reminded the Ephesians that their city was the temple-keeper of the great Diana, and of the image which fell down from heaven:

The city clerk quieted the crowd and said: "Fellow Ephesians, doesn't all the world know that the city of Ephesus is the guardian of the temple of the great Artemis and of her image, which fell from heaven?" (Acts 19:35 NIV).

Among other things, it seems that this particular judgment will make it clear to the world who is God as well as who is not!

This event also parallels the Exodus account of the Lord turning the water of the Nile River into blood.

### The Fourth Trumpet: The Judgment Upon The Heavenly Bodies

The fourth trumpet announces judgment upon the heavenly bodies. The Bible says:

The fourth angel blew his trumpet, and a third of the sun was struck, a third of the moon, and a third of the stars, so that a third of them were darkened. A third of the day was without light and also a third of the night (Revelation 8:12 CSB).

As the fourth angel blew his trumpet, John viewed the devastating damage taking place among the heavenly bodies. The result of such a cataclysmic punishment will be an unprecedented amount of darkness, both day and night. This lack of sunlight will also lead to agonizing cold for those living upon the earth.

### The Exodus Parallel

This punishment will immediately remind the believers of the darkness the Lord sent to the Land of Egypt:

Then the Lord said to Moses, "Stretch out your hand toward heaven, and there will be darkness over the land of Egypt, a darkness that can be felt." So Moses stretched out his hand toward heaven, and there was thick darkness throughout the land of Egypt for three days. One person could not see another, and for three days they did not move from where they were. Yet all the Israelites had light where they lived (Exodus 10:21-23 CSB).

### The Coming Three Woes

After these first four judgments, a soaring eagle then announces a triple "woe" which will come upon the earth:

As I watched, I heard an eagle that was flying in midair call out in a loud voice: "Woe! Woe! Woe to the inhabitants of the earth, because of the trumpet blasts about to be sounded by the other three angels!" (Revelation 8:13 NIV).

This is in anticipation of the last three trumpet judgments. The idea behind this pronouncement is that the worst judgments are still to come!

As we have observed, the first four trumpet judgments will affect the natural world. However, the last three will be directly aimed at the people living upon the earth.

### The Fifth Trumpet: Demons Afflict Those Upon The Earth

The fifth trumpet judgment, the first "woe," involves the world of the supernatural. The Bible says that demons will come and terribly afflict those still living upon the earth (Revelation 8:13–9:12).

### The Star Falling From Heaven

In this fifth judgment, a wicked angel will be allowed to release the demonic inhabitants of the bottomless pit. They are described as locusts:

And out of the smoke locusts came down on the earth and were given power like that of scorpions of the earth (Revelation 9:2 NIV).

They seem to be the rebellious angels that Peter wrote about:

For if God didn't spare the angels who sinned but cast them into hell and delivered them in chains of utter darkness to be kept for judgment; and if he didn't spare the ancient world, but protected Noah, a preacher of righteousness, and seven others, when he brought the flood on the world of the ungodly; and if he reduced the cities of Sodom and Gomorrah to ashes and condemned them to extinction, making them an example of what is coming to the ungodly (2 Peter 2:4-6)

### People Will Be The Target Of These Wicked Angels

As we mentioned, the first four trumpet judgments only affected the inhabitants of the earth indirectly. Now, however, these last three trumpet judgments will be directed upon the humans who have not believed in Jesus Christ:

The locusts looked like horses prepared for battle. On their heads they wore something like crowns of gold, and their faces resembled human faces. Their hair was like women's hair, and their teeth were like lions' teeth. They had breastplates like breastplates of iron, and the sound of their wings was like the thundering of many horses and chariots rushing into battle. They had tails with stingers, like scorpions, and in their tails they had power to torment people for five months (Revelation 9:7-10 NIV).

The grotesque appearance of these creatures that come down on the earth during this fifth judgment will be terrifying to the people living at this time.

### The Leader Abaddon (Apollyon)

The ruler, the king over this fiendish horde of demons, bore two names:

They had as king over them the angel of the Abyss, whose name in Hebrew is Abaddon and in Greek is Apollyon (that is, Destroyer) (Revelation 9:11 NIV).

As this verse explains, the Hebrew word *Abaddon* and the Greek *Apollyon* have the meaning of "destruction" or "destroyer."

### The Parallel With Exodus

This fifth trumpet is paralleled in the Book of Exodus with the punishment that was sent upon the people from a supernatural source. In this instance, it was the Lord Himself:

At midnight the Lord struck down all the firstborn in Egypt, from the firstborn of Pharaoh, who sat on the throne, to the firstborn of the prisoner, who was in the dungeon, and the firstborn of all the livestock as well. Pharaoh and all his officials and all the Egyptians got up during the night, and there was loud wailing in Egypt, for there was not a house without someone dead (Exodus 12:29,30 NIV).

### Two Woes Are Still To Come

With the sounding of the fifth trumpet, the trouble is yet to be over:

The first woe is past; two other woes are yet to come (Revelation 9:12 NIV).

This warning anticipates the remaining trumpet judgments. In fact, the worst is still to come.

## Event 14 The Sixth Trumpet: The Two Hundred Million Man Army (Revelation 9:13-21)

Thus far we have considered the first five of the trumpet judgments. By far, the worst judgment is found in the judgment associated with the sixth trumpet.

### The Sixth Trumpet: The Release Of Four Demonic Creatures

With the introduction of the sixth trumpet, John heard a voice that sounded from the altar, the place of worship in heaven:

The sixth angel sounded his trumpet, and I heard a voice coming from the four horns of the golden altar that is before God. It said to the sixth angel who had the trumpet, "Release the four angels who are bound at the great river Euphrates." And the four angels who had been kept ready for this very hour and day and month and year were released to kill a third of mankind (Revelation 9:13-15 NIV).

An unidentified voice commands this sixth angel to release four destructive angels who have been bound at the Euphrates River. Their release will cause a third of the human race to be killed!

### The Two Hundred Million Man Army

We then read of a huge army of soldiers on horseback:

The number of soldiers on horseback was two hundred million; I heard their number (Revelation 9:16 NET).

Two hundred million soldiers arrive on horseback!

### There Are Two Basic Questions About These Riders

Two questions need to be answered about this army. The first question revolves around the identity of these riders: Are they humans or demons? Question two is as follows: Are we to understand their numbers literally or figuratively?

### The Case For The Riders Being Human

Many Bible commentators believe that Scripture is talking about a human army in this passage.

### Argument 1: This Is The Same Group Described In Revelation 16

Those who believe that a human army is in view here link this passage to the participants in the battle of Armageddon, as recorded in Revelation 16. However, imagining two huge armies gathered together, at two different times during the waning days of the "time of the end," seems to be impossible. Consequently, these two passages must be speaking about the same military conflict and the same participants.

### Argument 2: The Euphrates Rivers is Emphasized In Each Battle

Another clue, which seemingly links these two passages and makes the case for a human army, is the Euphrates River. Since the river is mentioned in Revelation 9, as well as in Revelation 16; which, it is contended, is all

fought by humans, it seems highly unlikely, if not impossible, to assume that two separate military battles take place at the time of the end with the Euphrates River highlighted in each one. Consequently, they must be one-in-the same battle.

### Argument 3: The Possibility Of A Two Hundred Million Man Army

When John wrote the Book of Revelation, it has been estimated that the population of the world was somewhere around two hundred million. In other words, there was no possible way that an army of that size could be mustered to fight a battle.

However, today, it is possible. Indeed, it has been estimated that China alone could field an army of 200 million. When put together with India, another possible ally, we find that there would be more than enough soldiers to come from the East to fight this battle.

### Argument 4: The Lord Uses Human Armies As His Instruments

Those who believe that this is a human army cite the numerous times in Scripture when God uses other suchlike heathen armies as instruments of His punishing of others.

### Argument 5: The Weapons Mentioned Are A First Century Description Of Modern Weapons

The weapons described in verses 17-19 are John's best attempt to describe modern warfare, given the limitations of his vocabulary in the first century.

These arguments are used for those who contended that this is a literal battle with human beings who number 200 million. The great number is made up of "kings from the East" and is said to be the same campaign as Armageddon.

### The Case For The Army Being Demonic

While many argue that the army in Revelation chapter 9 is made up of humans on horses, and that it should be linked to Armageddon, there are a number of reasons as to why others see it as a demonic army.

### Argument 1: The Context Makes It Clear That Demons Are In View

In verses 2-10 of this same chapter, Revelation 9, we are introduced to demonic forces in the form of locusts. In other words, we previously have another description of a non-human army in this same context. That should give us our first clue.

Furthermore, the two hundred-million-man army on horseback, in 9:16-19, has a number of things in common with the locust army previously mentioned. We find that both groups have breastplates, their tails inflict pain, and they have features like lions.

If the two groups are not identical, they are certainly closely related. Therefore, since the first group is obviously non-human, it naturally follows that this second group is likewise non-human.

### Argument 2: The Number 200 Million Is Not Really Plausible

An army of 200 million men would not just consist of 200 million people. All armies need supply lines. When we start calculating what it would take to sustain such an army it seems to be an impossible undertaking. In other words, to mobilize such a force, as well as to supply it, does not appear to be realistic.

### Argument 3: The Population Of The World Has Been Depleted

Let us not forget that one fourth of the population of the world has previously been killed due to the judgment of the fourth seal:

And I looked, and behold, a pale horse! And its rider's name was Death, and Hades followed him. And they were given authority over a fourth of the earth, to kill with sword and with famine and with pestilence and by wild beasts of the earth (Revelation 6:8 ESV).

Furthermore, the believers in Jesus Christ were previously removed from the world at the time of the rapture of the church. Their numbers also need to be subtracted from the inhabitants of the earth at this time.

### Argument 4: This Is A Different Context Than Armageddon

We also find an entirely different context in Revelation 9 than in Revelation 16. Even though the Euphrates River is mentioned in each of these chapters, it is listed for different reasons.

### Argument 5: Death Is Inflicted By The Horses Not The Riders

Another indication of the symbolic nature of this account is that death is inflicted upon the people by the horses, rather than the riders of the horses. In fact, the power to kill is in the mouth of the horses (Revelation 9:19).

### Conclusion:

When all the evidence is considered, it seems much more likely that it is a demonic army that will kill one third of the people of the world.

We look at this issue in much more detail in the next book in our series, 45 Common Mistakes About Last Days Bible Prophecy Cleared Up, Mistakes 27-30 "There Are Four Common Mistakes Made When Revelation Chapter 9, The Two Hundred Million Man Army, Is Equated With Revelation 16, Armageddon."

### The People Still Do Not Repent

One last thing worth mentioning is that, even after the slaughter of one third of the inhabitants that are still upon the earth, the people still do repent of their sins:

The rest of mankind who were not killed by these plagues still did not repent of the work of their hands; they did not stop worshiping demons, and idols of gold, silver, bronze, stone and wood—idols that cannot see or hear or walk. Nor did they repent of their murders, their magic arts, their sexual immorality or their thefts (Revelation 9:20-21 NIV).

### Event 15 The Seven Thunders, The Scroll, And The Ministry Of The Two Witnesses (Revelation 10:1-11:14)

At this juncture, six of the seven trumpet judgments will have already taken place. Before the seventh trumpet blows, there is an interlude. It is during this interlude that certain other events will occur.

These following verses (Revelation 10:1–11:14) do not advance the narrative chronologically. Instead, we find more details added to the previous account. We also find that John will switch back and forth between heaven and earth in his description.

The scene begins with an angel descending from heaven:

Then I saw another powerful angel descending from heaven, wrapped in a cloud, with a rainbow above his head; his face was like the sun and his legs were like pillars of fire. He held in his hand a little scroll that was open, and he put his right foot on the sea and his left on the land (Revelation 10:1-2 NET).

This scene sets us up for what is to immediately follow—the "seven thunders."

### The Seven Thunders

Immediately following the first couple of verses, we come to this fascinating event:

Then he shouted in a loud voice like a lion roaring, and when he shouted, the seven thunders sounded their voices. When the seven thunders spoke, I was preparing to write, but just then I heard a voice from heaven say, "Seal up what the seven thunders spoke and do not write it down" (Revelation 10:3-4 NET).

For reasons known only to God, John was commanded to stop writing at this point. The fact that John was told not to write about these "seven thunders" has caused much speculation as to what he saw, as well as why he was not allowed to write down his observations. However, since we have no idea as to what the seven thunders represented, all speculation is worthless.

### The Completion Of All Things Is At Hand

As the scene continues, the angel that descended from heaven now has an important announcement:

Then the angel I saw standing on the sea and on the land raised his right hand to heaven and swore by the one who lives forever and ever, who created heaven and what is in it, and the earth and what is in it, and the sea and what is in it, "There will be no more delay! But in the days when the seventh angel is about to blow his trumpet, the mystery of God is completed, just as he has proclaimed to his servants the prophets" (Revelation 10:5-7 NET).

The end will not come before the seventh trumpet sounds, but it will come in association with it. In other words, the mystery of God will be fulfilled during the time of the seventh trumpet. God's plan to punish all evildoers, and to bring the kingdom of His Son to our world, is about to be accomplished!

### John Eats The Scroll

After the angelic announcement, another event takes place:

Then the voice I had heard from heaven began to speak to me again, "Go and take the open scroll in the hand of the angel who is standing on the sea and on the land." So I went to the angel and asked him to give me the little scroll. He said to me, "Take the scroll and eat it. It will make your stomach bitter, but it will be as sweet as honey in your mouth." So I took the little scroll from the angel's hand and ate it, and it did taste as sweet as honey in my mouth, but when I had eaten it, my stomach became bitter (Revelation 10:8-10 NET).

The voice from heaven commanded John to take the scroll from the angel who, in turn, instructed him to eat it. The results paralleled the bittersweet experience of the prophets Jeremiah and Ezekiel (Jeremiah 15:15-18, Ezekiel 2:8–3:3). These prophets proclaimed the Lord's truth to His people, Israel, but the people did not listen and judgment then came.

### An Important Lesson: Joy Mixed With Sadness

There is an important lesson for all of us in this "bittersweet moment." The joy of seeing God's Word accomplished is tempered by the overwhelming shock and sorrow related to the coming judgments. While believers should indeed rejoice that the kingdom of God is coming to the earth, at the same time we should not forget to think about the terrible consequences that the rebellious human race will experience.

### The Interlude Continues

Revelation 11:1-14 continues to fill in details before the sounding of the seventh trumpet. During this digression, the Bible records the appearance of two witnesses who arrive during the time of the end and testify to the truth of God's Word.

### The Ministry Of The Two Witnesses

The Bible has the following to say about the ministry of these two witnesses:

And I will appoint my two witnesses, and they will prophesy for 1,260 days, clothed in sackcloth. They are "the two olive trees" and the two lampstands, and "they stand before the Lord of the earth." If anyone tries to harm them, fire comes from their mouths and devours their enemies. This is how anyone who wants to harm them must die. They have power to shut up the sky so that it will not rain during the time they are prophesying; and they have power to turn the waters into blood and to strike the earth with every kind of plague as often as they want (Revelation 11:3-6 NIV).

They will stand up for God's truth for some three and one-half years. In doing so, they will exhibit supernatural powers which will be given to them directly from the Lord.

### The Murder Of The Two Witnesses

After their earthly ministry is complete, we are told that the beast, the final Antichrist, kills them. The Bible has the following to say:

And when they have finished their testimony, the beast that rises from the bottomless pit will make war on them and conquer them and kill them, and their dead bodies will lie in the street of the great city that symbolically is called Sodom and Egypt, where their Lord was crucified. For three and a half days some from the peoples and tribes and languages and nations will gaze at their dead bodies and refuse to let them be placed in a tomb, and those who dwell on the earth will rejoice over them and make merry and exchange presents, because these two prophets had been a torment to those who dwell on the earth (Revelation 11:7-10 ESV).

The celebration goes on and on around the world.

### The Two Witnesses Return To Life

However, the Bible says that a miracle then happens. Scripture tells us that these same two witnesses will be supernaturally brought back to life:

But after the three and a half days a breath of life from God entered them, and they stood up on their feet, and great fear fell on those who saw them. Then they heard a loud voice from heaven saying to them, "Come up here!" And they went up to heaven in a cloud, and their enemies watched them. And at that hour there was a great earthquake, and a tenth of the city fell. Seven thousand people were killed in the earthquake, and the rest were terrified and gave glory to the God of heaven (Revelation 11:10-13 ESV).

The Bible tells us that after this takes place, the two witnesses will be brought into heaven.

### Who Are These Two Witnesses?

A number of questions arise about these two witnesses: Who are they? Are they real people who actually minister upon the earth in the last days, or are they merely symbolic of something else?

If they are real people, are they biblical characters from the past returning to the earth, or are they two contemporary people whom God inspires as His prophets?

### Option 1: The Two Witnesses Are Biblical Characters From The Past

A popular view is to see the two witnesses as biblical characters from the past. A number of suggestions have been given as to whom they might be.

### Moses

Moses is a likely candidate. For one thing, Moses was a prophet, therefore, he has the proper biblical credentials to speak out concerning what is taking place in these "last days."

In addition, Moses had the power to strike the earth with plagues. Using the power of the Lord, he turned the Nile River into blood. The two witnesses will have the power to do the same:

They have power to shut up the sky so that it will not rain during the time they are prophesying; and they have power to turn the waters into blood and to strike the earth with every kind of plague as often as they want (Revelation 11:6 NIV).

Therefore, this miracle-working ability fits with what we know of the ability God gave to Moses.

Moreover, at Jesus' transfiguration, Moses appeared. He spoke with Jesus of things concerning the coming kingdom—the Second Coming of Christ. This may be another indication that Moses will appear shortly before Christ returns.

Interestingly, though Moses did die, we are told that the Lord Himself buried him. This may indicate that He had further plans for this prophet of God.

These things make Moses a likely candidate to be one of the two witnesses.

### Elijah

Elijah is another popular candidate to be one of the two witnesses. There are a number of reasons as to why this is so.

For one thing, like Moses, Elijah was a prophet of God. Hence, he has the proper credentials to prophesy and do miracles in the name of the Lord.

Next, Elijah never experienced physical death. While death is not a requirement for every human being, it is possible he did not die because the Lord had plans for him to be one of the two witnesses.

Third, and what is even more significant, is that the Scripture expressly says that Elijah will come back to the earth before the return of the Lord:

See, I will send the prophet Elijah to you before that great and dreadful day of the LORD comes (Malachi 4:5 NIV).

Fourth, Scripture speaks of Elijah calling fire down from heaven and consuming a sacrifice in front of the false prophets of Baal. We read:

And the water ran around the altar and even overflowed the trench. At the customary time for offering the evening sacrifice, Elijah the prophet walked up to the altar and prayed, "O LORD, God of Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob, prove today that you are God in Israel and that I am your servant. Prove that I have done all this at your command. O LORD, answer me! Answer me so these people will know that you, O LORD, are God and that you have brought them back to yourself." Immediately the fire of the LORD flashed down from heaven and burned up the young bull, the wood, the stones, and the dust. It even licked up all the water in the ditch! (1 Kings 18:35-38 NLT).

As we have observed, one of the specific miracles attributed to the two witnesses is the calling down of fire from heaven (Revelation 11:5).

Fifth, Elijah was given the ability to cause the land to be without rain for a number of years. Again, this is one of the specific miracles attributed to the two witnesses.

Finally, at the Transfiguration of Jesus, Elijah appeared with Moses.

Many Bible students believe that the fact that Elijah and Moses appeared together at the Transfiguration shows that they are the two witnesses which will appear at the time of the end.

However, Moses and Elijah are not the only possible candidates among the characters which we find on the pages of Scripture.

### Enoch

Another possibility is Enoch. The reason Enoch is preferred above Moses is that Enoch, like Elijah, did not die a physical death. The Bible says he left earth in the following way:

Altogether, Enoch lived a total of 365 years. Enoch walked faithfully with God; then he was no more, because God took him away (Genesis 5:23-24 NIV).

### Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

Enoch did not die. Again, we emphasize that it is not necessary that every human being must die. In fact, an entire generation of believers will not experience physical death, but rather will be caught away into heaven at the rapture of the church.

Consequently, the fact that Enoch did not die does not necessarily make him one of the two witnesses. However, it does make him a prime candidate.

In addition, Enoch is also mentioned in the context of the return of the Lord. The Book of Jude notes that Enoch preached God's judgment before the Flood:

Enoch, the seventh from Adam, prophesied about them: "See, the Lord is coming with thousands upon thousands of his holy ones to judge everyone, and to convict all the ungodly of all the ungodly acts they have done in an ungodly way, and of all the defiant words ungodly sinners have spoken against him" (Jude 14-15 NIV).

Enoch was a prophet of judgment, prophesying before the Lord sent the Flood of Noah to the world. Interestingly, Jesus compared the conditions at the time of His Second Coming to the conditions of the days of Noah.

For as were the days of Noah, so will be the coming of the Son of Man. For as in those days before the flood they were eating and drinking, marrying and giving in marriage, until the day when Noah entered the ark, and they were unaware until the flood came and swept them all away, so will be the coming of the Son of Man (Matthew 24:37-39 ESV).

Since Enoch pronounced judgment to come upon the earth the first time the entire world was judged, he may appear again to announce a "second" coming judgment of the world. Therefore, Enoch remains a viable candidate for one of the two witnesses.

### Option 2: The Two Witnesses Are Two Men Living At The Time Of The Events

It is possible, even likely, that if the two witnesses are literal human beings, they are two people from the Great Tribulation period who have qualities which were similar to Moses and Elijah. In other words, they are godly people who will be living on the earth at the time these events take place. God then chooses them to be His special witnesses to the earth.

Since the two witnesses are unnamed, and we would expect the return of Moses, Elijah or Enoch to be noted in Scripture if they were the two witnesses, then the idea that they are two people living at that time has much going for it.

### Option 3: The Two Witnesses Are Not Literal People

Among those who do not interpret the Book of Revelation in a literal manner, are those who interpret the two witnesses as something symbolic, or not literal.

One of the problems with this interpretation, however, is that those who hold this view don't seem to agree about what these two witnesses are symbolic of.

### The Word Of God: The Old And New Testament

There are some who see these two witnesses as the Bible—the Old Testament and the New Testament. Yet this view breaks down when we try to interpret Revelation 11. The context calls for two human beings, not two testaments.

### The Two People Of God: Israel And The Church

Some see the two witnesses as representing the two people of God, the nation of Israel and the New Testament church. However, the same problems arise as with the previous possibility. The passage reads as though two human beings are in view, not Israel and the church.

### Conclusion: Nobody Knows Their Identity For Certain

The specific identity of these two witnesses has not been revealed to us. Any attempt to identify them is only speculation. It does, however, seem best to view the two witnesses as two actual people who perform this special ministry.

It also would not be inconsistent with the rest of Scripture to believe that the Lord actually brings Moses and Elijah back to earth for this ministry. However, it would also be in line with Scripture if we assume the two witnesses to be two godly people whom the Lord raises up, and who are living, at that time. Since we do not know the answer for certain, it is best that we hold our view with humility.

For more information on these two witnesses, as well as the events transpiring around their appearance, see our book *The Final Antichrist: The Coming Caesar*.

We also deal with the issue as to how everyone, in the entire world, could see the bodies of these two witnesses lying in the streets of Jerusalem in real time. It can be found under Sign 15, "There Will Be An Exponential Increase In Technology," in 25 Signs We Are Near The End.

### Event 16: The Seventh Trumpet Sounds (Revelation 11:14,15)

After the sounding of the sixth trumpet—the second "woe,"—we noted that there was a pause, or interlude (Event 15). We then find that the trumpet judgments are resumed in the eleventh chapter of the Book of Revelation, after the ministry of the "two witnesses" is complete.

This bring us to the blowing of the seventh trumpet, which is also connected with the third "woe." The Bible says:

The second woe has passed; behold, the third woe is soon to come. Then the seventh angel blew his trumpet, and there were loud voices in heaven, saying, "The kingdom of the world has become the kingdom of our Lord and of his Christ, and he shall reign forever and ever" (Revelation 11: 14,15 ESV).

The seventh trumpet announces that the kingdom of the Lord is coming to the earth.

### The Scene Returns To Heaven

With the blowing of the seventh trumpet, the scene moves from the earth to heaven. Again, the twenty-four elders come into the picture:

Then the twenty-four elders who are seated on their thrones before God threw themselves down with their faces to the ground and worshiped God with these words: "We give you thanks, Lord God, the All-Powerful, the one who is and who was, because you have taken your great power and begun to reign. The nations were enraged, but your wrath has come, and the time has come for the dead to be judged, and the time has come to give to your servants, the prophets, their reward, as well as to the saints and to those who revere your name, both small and great, and the time has come to destroy those who destroy the earth (Revelation 11:16-18 NET).

As these elders give thanks to the Lord, we also find them testifying as to what has taken place as well as to what is about to occur.

The unbelieving nations have been angry at the Lord and have tried their best to prevent Jesus' coronation as the King of Kings. However, now the time has come for the Lord to be angry with them!

In other words, the destroyers are about to be destroyed; and, at the same time, the Lord is to reward His own servants, both the small and the great, as well as His prophets. Basically, the time for the final judgment of the earth is at hand.

### The Temple Of God And The Ark Of The Covenant Appear In Heaven

After we hear from the twenty-four elders, Scripture says that the Temple of God appears in heaven along with the Ark of the Covenant:

Then the temple of God in heaven was opened and the ark of his covenant was visible within his temple. And there were flashes of lightning, roaring, crashes of thunder, an earthquake, and a great hailstorm (Revelation 11:19 NET).

There are a couple of important observations that we should make from this event:

### God's Temple Is The True Holy Temple

The Lord is emphasizing that there has been a holy Temple on the earth in the past, as there will be in the future (Isaiah 2:1-2, Ezekiel 40-48). We explain this further in Event 43: "The Millennial Temple."

In the coming discussion of Event 43, we will find that the Temple that was built by Solomon was patterned after this one which now appears in heaven.

On the other hand, the Temple that is constructed during the Great Tribulation period will be an unholy one! In fact, it will be built as a rejection of Jesus Christ as the Messiah. As this rebuilt temple is about to be defiled with the arrival of the False Prophet, the Second Beast (see Event 18), the Lord is reminding His people of the Temple that He originally established. For more information on the subject of this future Temple, see our book *The Jews, Jerusalem, and the Coming Temple*.

### The Ark Represented The Presence Of The Lord

The Ark of the Covenant was the most sacred object that has ever been constructed. It contained the Ten Commandments written by the "finger of God" and was delivered to Moses as he ascended Mt. Sinai. The Ark represented the presence of the Lord among His people.

The fact that the Ark in heaven shows up at this particular time is a further reminder of the meaning of the true Ark. Recall that the Ark constructed upon the earth had been made according to the pattern of the one in heaven.

It is also possible that the original Ark will be rediscovered and placed in the rebuilt Temple—the one built during the Great Tribulation period as a rejection of Jesus Christ.

For more information on the subject of the Ark of the Covenant, see our book In Search of the Lost Ark: The Quest for the Ark of the Covenant.

### Event 17 A Great Sign in Heaven: Satan Is Cast Down to the Earth (Revelation 12)

The twelfth chapter is one of the most important in the entire Book of Revelation. In fact, to have a proper understanding of the time of the end, it is crucial that we understand the symbolism we find here as well as its meaning.

As we just emphasized, the eleventh chapter ended with an awesome sight in heaven. Scripture describes it as follows:

Then God's temple in heaven was opened, and the ark of his covenant was seen within his temple. There were flashes of lightning, rumblings, peals of thunder, an earthquake, and heavy hail (Revelation 11:19 ESV).

### The Great Sign

We are then told of a "great sign" that will appear in heaven:

Then a great sign appeared in heaven: a woman clothed with the sun, and with the moon under her feet, and on her head was a crown of twelve stars. She was pregnant and was screaming in labor pains, struggling to give birth. Then another sign appeared in heaven: a huge red dragon that had seven heads and ten horns, and on its heads were seven diadem crowns. Now the dragon's tail swept away a third of the stars in heaven and hurled them to the earth. Then the dragon stood before the woman who was about to give birth, so that he might devour her child as soon as it was born. So the woman gave birth to a son, a male child, who is going to rule over all the nations with an iron rod. Her child was suddenly caught up to God and to his throne, and she fled into the wilderness where a place had been prepared for her by God, so she could be taken care of for 1,260 days (Revelation 12:1-6 NET).

We have a number of things going on here.

First, a sign appears in heaven—a "great sign!" This should catch our attention. In fact, this is the only time this specific phrase is used in the Book of Revelation. So, it is obviously an attention-getter.

Next, there is the description of a pregnant woman who wears a crown of twelve stars. She is clothed with the sun with the moon under her feet. As she struggles to give birth, another sign appears in heaven—a red dragon with seven heads and ten horns.

Finally, a male child, who will rule the nations, is born to the woman. What do all these symbols represent?

### The Identity Of The Woman

There have been a number of suggested identifications of the woman. They include the following:

### Mary The Mother Of Jesus

A popular view is that the woman is Mary, the mother of Jesus. This would be a literal understanding of the identity of the woman since Mary gave birth to Jesus, the One who will eventually rule. However, everything else in the entire context, except the male child, is symbolic.

Furthermore, this theory breaks down as we continue with this chapter. Indeed, there was no persecution of Mary by the devil as is predicted here.

Also, Mary was not supernaturally protected from the devil for three and one-half years, or 1,260 days, as this woman will be.

### The Church

Others think that the Church is in view. However, it did not, in any sense, bring forth Jesus. In fact, Jesus gave birth to the church!

Furthermore, there is nothing in the history of the church that would fulfill the prediction of the three-and-one-half year period of being supernaturally protected from the devil.

### The Nation Of Israel

The best answer is that the woman is a description of the nation of Israel. This interpretation fits well with the symbols in the dream of Joseph the patriarch:

Then he had another dream, and told it to his brothers. "Look," he said. "I had another dream. The sun, the moon, and eleven stars were bowing down to me." When he told his father and his brothers, his father rebuked him, saying, "What is this dream that you had? Will I, your mother, and your brothers really come and bow down to you?" (Genesis 37:9-10 NET).

The sun and the moon represent Joseph's parents—Jacob and Leah—and the eleven stars represented his brothers, Joseph would have been the twelfth.

Indeed, the woman we read of is the nation of Israel, which bore Jesus, the promised Messiah. In fact, Scripture emphasizes that Jesus is of Jewish descent:

To them belong the patriarchs, and from them, by human descent, came the Christ, who is God over all, blessed forever! Amen (Romans 9:5 NET).

All in all, this is the best way to interpret the identity of the woman.

### The Second Sign: The Red Dragon, The Devil, With Seven Heads And Ten Horns

There is certainly no problem in identifying the second sign—the red dragon. In fact, his identity is given to us later in this chapter:

So that huge dragon—the ancient serpent, the one called the devil and Satan, who deceives the whole world—was thrown down to the earth, and his angels along with him (Revelation 12:9 NET).

Satan is the supernaturally created being who led an angelic rebellion against the Lord in the beginning. He is not an angel, but rather was an anointed cherub. For more information see our book *Satan*, under the heading of *The Unseen World*.

He is the red dragon, the devil, who is described as having seven heads and ten horns. The seven heads likely symbolize the seven consecutive Gentile world empires of Revelation 17:10 which will have been under his control.

The ten horns, then, would then represent the evil confederacy of nations which will be aligned with the devil and the final Antichrist at the time of the end. The diadems seemingly speak of his political authority.

### The Male Child Is Jesus

Another easy identification, which we touched upon when we identified the "woman" of this passage, is that of the male child. He is Jesus. In fact, before He was conceived, the angel Gabriel told Mary that He would rule on the throne of David over the house of Israel:

So the angel said to her, "Do not be afraid, Mary, for you have found favor with God! Listen: You will become pregnant and give birth to a son, and you will name him Jesus. He will be great, and will be called the Son of the Most High, and the Lord God will give him the throne of his father David. He will reign over the house of Jacob forever, and his kingdom will never end" (Luke 2:30-34 NET).

In addition, Scripture emphasizes the fact that Christ will rule upon His return:

Then I saw heaven opened, and there was a white horse. Its rider is called Faithful and True, and he judges and makes war with justice. . . . A sharp sword came from his mouth, so that he might strike the nations with it. He will rule them with an iron rod (Revelation 19:11,15 CSB).

### The Dragon Persecutes The Jews

With the identity of the "woman," "red dragon," and "child" understood, we now can come to the last verse of our passage:

Then the woman fled into the wilderness, where she has a place prepared by God, that they should feed her there one thousand two hundred and sixty days (Revelation 12:6 NKJV).

Persecution of the Jews now begins. The Book of Daniel, in speaking of the time of the end, says:

As I looked, this horn made war with the saints and prevailed over them (Daniel 7:21 ESV).

In this context, the "saints" refer to the nation of Israel—the Jews. They are Satan's special target. This is not surprising since the devil has targeted the chosen people from the very beginning.

### War Breaks Out In Heaven: The Dragon Is Cast To The Earth

Briefly, before we are given a more detailed account of the persecution of Israel, the Scripture shifts and we are given a glimpse of another heavenly scene. We find that Satan, who seemingly has always been allowed access to the Lord, will be thrown out of heaven along with his angels:

Then war broke out in heaven: Michael and his angels fought against the dragon, and the dragon and his angels fought back. But the dragon was not strong enough to prevail, so there was no longer any place left in heaven for him and his angels. So that huge dragon-the ancient serpent, the one called the devil and Satan, who deceives the whole world-was thrown down to the earth, and his angels along with him (Revelation 12:7-10 ESV).

This is a tremendous event! In fact, we are told that it caused the heavens to rejoice.

### Satan Attempts To Destroy Israel: God Miraculously Protects Them

Not to be deterred by being cast down from heaven, the dragon then pursues the woman—Israel. The Bible says:

When the dragon saw that he had been thrown down to the earth, he persecuted the woman who had given birth to the male child. The woman was given two wings of a great eagle, so that she could fly from the serpent's presence to her place in the wilderness, where she was nourished for a time, times, and half a time. From his mouth the serpent spewed water like a river flowing after the woman, to sweep her away with a flood. But the earth helped the woman. The earth opened its mouth and swallowed up the river that the dragon had spewed from his mouth (Revelation 12:13-16 CSB).

We also find another parallel with the Exodus. Moses wrote the following about the deliverance of Israel from Egypt after the Egyptian army drowned in the Red Sea:

You stretch out your right hand, and the earth swallows your enemies. In your unfailing love you will lead the people you have redeemed. In your strength you will guide them to your holy dwelling (Exodus 15:12,13 NIV).

There are a number of important things that we learn from this passage.

### The Woman Is Given The Wings Of The Great Eagle

As the woman, Israel, flees from the persecution of the dragon, she is given the ability to escape his clutches to her "place in the wilderness." The metaphor of her deliverance, the "wings of an eagle," was previously used regarding Israel's exodus from Egypt. The Lord said:

You yourselves have seen what I did to Egypt and how I lifted you on eagles' wings and brought you to myself (Exodus 19:4 NET).

This is, yet, another indication that the woman represents Israel.

The Scripture also says that this "escape" to the wilderness will be for "time, and times, and half a time," mentioned in verse 14 (also Daniel 7:25). This is in reference to a three-and-one-half-year period during the Great Tribulation in which God will meet all of Israel's needs.

### The People Will Be Protected: Petra?

As we just mentioned, the nation will be supernaturally preserved by God in a wilderness location. Outside of the term "wilderness," Scripture does not say where the people will be protected during this three-and-one-half year period of time.

It has been a popular view that they will be in the ancient city of Petra, in Jordan. However, Scripture does not specify the place.

### Will The Devil Literally Cause A Flood?

The devil will send a flood in an attempt to destroy the woman but the earth will open up and receive the water to protect Israel from destruction. There has been much discussion as to whether or not this is a literal flood.

Those who believe the flood is not literal point out that the term is likely used for enemies of Israel. This is consistent with the Old Testament use of the term. The psalmist wrote:

### Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

Reach down your hand from on high; deliver me and rescue me from the mighty waters, from the hands of foreigners whose mouths are full of lies, whose right hands are deceitful (Psalm 144:7-8 NIV).

We have something similar recorded in Daniel:

At the time of the end the king of the South will engage him in battle, and the king of the North will storm out against him with chariots and cavalry and a great fleet of ships. He will invade many countries and sweep through them like a flood (Daniel 11:40 NIV).

In other words, those who see the flood as being not literal see the enemies of Israel attempting to destroy them, but the Lord thwarting their efforts, just as is seen in the Old Testament Scriptures.

Thus, the earth, that symbolically swallows up the waters of the flood, would signify the Lord's supernatural deliverance.

### The Devil Attempts To Destroy Those Remaining From Israel

After this supernatural deliverance takes place, the devil will then go after the "rest of her children:"

So the dragon became enraged at the woman and went away to make war on the rest of her children, those who keep God's commandments and hold to the testimony about Jesus. And the dragon stood on the sand of the seashore (Revelation 12:17,18 NET).

The "rest of her children" is best understood to be either people from the entire nation of Israel, or a believing remnant of the people who have placed their faith in Jesus as the Messiah during the Great Tribulation period.

### Event 18 The Arrival of the False Prophet, The Second Beast (Revelation 13)

After the Lord hurls Satan down to the earth, and miraculously protects Israel from the devil's attempt to destroy the nation, the focus comes upon two individuals—the "first and second beast."

Since we have already documented the career of the "first beast," the final Antichrist (Event 9), we will now turn our attention to the "second beast."

This "second beast" arrives on the scene in the last days to promote the final Antichrist. He is also called the "false prophet." The Bible explains him as follows:

Then I saw another beast come up out of the earth. He had two horns like those of a lamb, but he spoke with the voice of a dragon. He exercised all the authority of the first beast. And he required all the earth and its people to worship the first beast, whose fatal wound had been healed. He did astounding miracles, even making fire flash down to earth from the sky while everyone was watching (Revelation 13:11-13 NLT).

This "second beast" looks like a lamb, but is, in point of fact, like a dragon. The dragon, as we saw in our previous event, is one of many symbols that represents the devil.

False prophets and false teachers have been around from the very beginning. These evil individuals always pervert the message of the God of the Bible. The Apostle John said there were many of these false prophets in his day. He wrote:

Dear friends, do not believe every spirit, but test the spirits to determine if they are from God, because many false prophets have gone out into the world. By this you know the Spirit of God: Every spirit that confesses Jesus as the Christ who has come in the flesh is from God, but every spirit that does not confess Jesus is not from God, and this is the spirit of the antichrist, which you have heard is coming, and now is already in the world (1 John 4:1-3 CSB).

These particular false prophets that John wrote about denied that Jesus was a genuine human being. In other words, they denied His true humanity. This is consistent with all false prophets—they are always denying some essential truth of the Christian faith.

### False Prophets Will Continue Until The End

The Bible stresses the fact that false prophets will continue to emerge until the time of the end. Jesus warned that many false prophets would appear:

For false christs and false prophets will arise and perform great signs and wonders, so as to lead astray, if possible, even the elect (Matthew 24:24 ESV).

Therefore, we should always expect to have false prophets among us.

### The Ultimate False Prophet, The Second Beast

Coming back to this "ultimate" or "final" false prophet that we've mentioned, we see that he is different. This evil individual will come onto the scene of history at the time of the end. He is called the "second beast" or "another beast." This makes it clear that the second beast is a different personage from the first beast—the man of sin, the final Antichrist. This second beast is introduced as follows:

### Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

Then I saw another beast rising out of the earth. It had two horns like a lamb and it spoke like a dragon (Revelation 13:11 ESV).

Two things are immediately apparent about this "second beast." To begin with, he comes out of the earth. This could mean that his origin is from this world as opposed to heaven, or it could be emphasizing that he has no divine authority whatsoever.

There is also the possibility that this description is emphasizing that he is Jewish. The word "earth" could also be translated as "land." Consequently, the false prophet may actually come from the Promised Land and from the chosen people. Thus, he is Jewish. This would be in contrast with the first beast, who seemingly is a Gentile.

We are also told that this second beast looks like a harmless lamb, but speaks as a dragon. His appearance and speech make him appear not to be dangerous. Yet, in actuality, his words originate from the pit of hell!

Who, then, is this second beast? What exactly is the role of this false prophet in the end times? Scripture has the following to say:

### The Second Beast Is Called "The" False Prophet

On three occasions, the second beast is called "the false prophet." In each of these instances, he is aligned with the first beast—the man of sin, the final Antichrist.

We first read of this title "the false prophet" in the sixteenth chapter of the Book of Revelation, where it says the following:

Then I saw three evil spirits that looked like frogs; they came out of the mouth of the dragon, out of the mouth of the beast and out of the mouth of the false prophet (Revelation 16:13 NIV).

In this instance, evil spirits proceed from the dragon, Satan, the beast, the Antichrist, as well as from the false prophet, this "second beast." These three personages are known as the "unholy trinity."

In another place of Scripture, we are told that the false prophet is captured, along with the beast, at the time of the Second Coming of Jesus Christ to the earth. Scripture says:

But the beast was captured, and with him the false prophet who had performed the signs on his behalf. With these signs he had deluded those who had received the mark of the beast and worshiped his image. The two of them were thrown alive into the fiery lake of burning sulfur (Revelation 19:20 NIV).

It is said, here, that "the false prophet" is thrown into the lake of fire.

One thousand years later we discover that he is still there:

And the devil, who deceived them, was thrown into the lake of burning sulfur, where the beast and the false prophet had been thrown. They will be tormented day and night for ever and ever (Revelation 20:10 NIV).

These are the only three passages which specifically describe the second beast as the "false prophet."

### Who Is The Second Beast, The False Prophet?

From the passages above, it is clear that the second beast is also called *the* false prophet. This brings up an obvious question. Who is this "second beast," "the" false prophet? From Scripture, we can make the following conclusions:

### 1. He Is Distinct From The First Beast And The Devil

The false prophet is distinct from the first beast. He is called the "second beast." This makes a clear distinction between this beast and the first beast. They are not the same personage.

His character and mission are also distinct from the first beast. While the first beast is more of a political and military leader, the false prophet will be a religious leader.

Furthermore, as we have just noted, the "second beast" is distinguished from the first beast and the devil in Revelation chapters nineteen and twenty. The beast and the false prophet are thrown into the lake of fire in chapter nineteen of the Book of Revelation, while the devil is not.

Later, in chapter twenty, we are told that the devil joins them in the lake of fire. Therefore, we can rightly conclude that the false prophet is a distinct personage from the first beast and the devil himself.

### 2. He Is A Miracle Worker

We also find that the second beast, the false prophet, works miracles. Scripture says:

He did astounding miracles, even making fire flash down to earth from the sky while everyone was watching (Revelation 13:13 NLT).

In fact, he is a greater miracle worker than the first beast.

There is something we must note about his miracles, however. We are told that the false prophet mimics the two witnesses of Revelation 11 in their miraculous deeds.

Indeed, the same miracles which the Bible says the two witnesses perform are also performed by this false prophet. This includes calling fire down from heaven.

Such mimicking of God's miracles reminds us of the battle of Moses and Aaron with the magicians of the Pharaoh of Egypt. We find that the magicians were mimicking some of the miracles that the Lord performed through Moses and Aaron. This mimicking of the miracles is repeated by the deeds of the false prophet.

### 3. He Is A Satanic Version Of John The Baptist

The false prophet can be compared to a satanic version of John the Baptist. As John prepared the way for the genuine Messiah, the false prophet will point people to the false Messiah.

In this sense, he is like a devilish version of John the Baptist. This second beast will be the chief promoter of the first beast.

### 4. He Will Make An Image Of The First Beast

As the promoter of the first beast, he causes the people to make an image of him. The Bible says:

### Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

And with all the miracles he was allowed to perform on behalf of the first beast, he deceived all the people who belong to this world. He ordered the people of the world to make a great statue of the first beast, who was fatally wounded and then came back to life (Revelation 13:14 NLT).

This image, or statue, is of the first beast who survived a seemingly fatal wound.

The image of the first beast will be placed in the Holy of Holies in the rebuilt temple in Jerusalem—the place designated only for the Holy Ark of the Covenant.

This act will be the ultimate blasphemy against the God of Scripture. This act of sacrilege is called the "abomination of desolation" by Jesus:

So when you see standing in the holy place 'the abomination that causes desolation,' spoken of through the prophet Daniel—let the reader understand (Matthew 24:15 NIV).

### 5. He Is Able To Give Life To The Statue Of The First Beast

Somehow this final false prophet is able to perform a great miracle and give life to the statue, or image, that he made of the first beast. This image will also be able to speak! The Bible explains it this way:

He was permitted to give a spirit to the image of the beast, so that the image of the beast could both speak and cause whoever would not worship the image of the beast to be killed (Revelation 13:15 CSB).

This seems to be an incredible miracle. We are not told how he is able to do it.

### 6. The False Prophet Causes People To Worship The Image Of The Beast

As the false prophet, he then causes people of the world to worship a false god, the first beast. The Bible says:

The second beast was empowered to give life to the image of the first beast so that it could speak, and could cause all those who did not worship the image of the beast to be killed (Revelation 13:15 NET).

The false prophet will order the death of all who refuse to worship this image of the first beast.

### 7. He Makes People Take The Mark Of The First Beast

We also find that all who worship the first beast will receive his mark. The false prophet is the one who enforces this. The Book of Revelation says:

And he requires everyone — small and great, rich and poor, free and slave — to be given a mark on his right hand or on his forehead, so that no one can buy or sell unless he has the mark: the beast's name or the number of his name (Revelation 13:16-17 CSB).

Those who refuse to worship the first beast are denied the right to buy and sell. In other words, they cannot do anything without the mark of the first beast. All of this is facilitated by the false prophet.

Consequently, he is the one who ultimately controls the commerce of the world.

### 8. He May Be The One Who Brings The First Beast Back To Life

There is another matter which we should consider about this second beast. Though it is not directly stated in Scripture, it is possible that the false prophet is the one who brings the first beast—the final Antichrist—back to life after he receives a mortal head wound.

We are told that the first beast dies and then comes back to life. While not stated, it may be inferred that the second beast is the one who performs this miracle. Since the second beast, the false prophet, has the ability to give life to the statue of the first beast, it is not out of the question that he will be able to facilitate the resuscitation of the first beast.

Of course, all this has to happen under the control of God. These personages have no power, in-and-of-themselves, to give life to the dead.

### 9. The False Prophet Has The Same Destiny As Satan And The First Beast

As the devil and the first beast will eventually be cast into the lake of fire, the false prophet, the second beast, will experience this same fate. The Bible says:

Then the Devil, who betrayed them, was thrown into the lake of fire that burns with sulfur, joining the beast and the false prophet. There they will be tormented day and night forever and ever (Revelation 20:10 NLT).

Each of these despicable humans will suffer the same punishment (see Event 36).

### A Look At The Character And Deeds Of The Second Beast, The False Prophet

From a look at the Scripture, we find the following things said about the deeds and character of this second beast.

### 1. He Will Mimic The Holy Spirit

As the Antichrist, the first beast, attempts to usurp the rightful place of Jesus Christ, God the Son. The second beast, the false prophet, will mimic the Third Person of the Trinity, the Holy Spirit.

### 2. He Will Promote Or Glorify The First Beast

One of the ways in which he will mimic the Holy Spirit is through his role to the first beast. The job of this final false prophet will be to glorify the first beast, he will not glorify himself. In this aspect, he will mimic the Holy Spirit.

Jesus said the ministry of the Holy Spirit is to testify to Him [Jesus], not of Himself. He said:

When the Spirit of truth comes, he will guide you into all the truth, for he will not speak on his own authority, but whatever he hears he will speak, and he will declare to you the things that are to come. He will glorify me, for he will take what is mine and declare it to you (John 16:13-15 ESV).

The Holy Spirit teaches us about Jesus. In the same way, the false prophet will mimic the ministry of the Holy Spirit. However, the false prophet will lead people into error instead of the truth. He will encourage them to worship the false Christ.

### 3. He Will Build The Kingdom Of Antichrist

As the Holy Spirit is the One who builds the church—the body of Christ—here upon the earth, it is the false prophet who builds the kingdom of Antichrist. This is another way in which this personage will mimic the work of God the Holy Spirit.

### 4. He Will Be Third Person Of The Unholy Group Of Three Personages

The false prophet, as we've previously mentioned, is part of an unholy group of three personal beings. Each one of them is individually mentioned in Revelation chapter twenty. Scripture says:

And the devil who had deceived them was thrown into the lake of fire and sulfur where the beast and the false prophet were, and they will be tormented day and night forever and ever (Revelation 20:10 ESV).

This emphasizes that he is distinct from the first beast, who is called the Antichrist, as well as from the devil.

### 5. The False Prophet Brings Death Instead Of Life

The false prophet, this second beast, brings death instead of life. This is in contrast to the Holy Spirit of God who gives life. Indeed, we are told that it was the Spirit of God who raised Jesus from the dead. Paul wrote about this to the Romans:

And if the Spirit of him who raised Jesus from the dead is living in you, he who raised Christ from the dead will also give life to your mortal bodies because of his Spirit who lives in you (Romans 8:11 NIV).

The contrast between God the Holy Spirit and this final false prophet, in this particular instance, is obvious—one brings life while the other brings death.

### 6. He Marks Those Who Belong To Antichrist

Last up in our discussion of the "second beast," *the* false prophet, is his role of marking those who worship the beast. We contrast his work with the Holy Spirit who "seals" or "marks" those who believe in Jesus. Paul wrote:

In him you also, when you heard the word of truth, the gospel of your salvation, and believed in him, were sealed with the promised Holy Spirit, who is the guarantee of our inheritance until we acquire possession of it, to the praise of his glory (Ephesians 1:13-14 ESV).

As the Lord "marks" or "seals" His people, we read that the devil will do the same.

These are some of the things which we learn about the second beast of the Book of Revelation—the false prophet.

Like the first beast, this second beast is completely and thoroughly evil. For more information on these two "beasts," see our book *The Final Antichrist: The Coming Caesar*.

### Event 19 The Mark Of The Beast: 666 (Revelation 13:16-17)

In the thirteenth chapter of the Book of Revelation we are told about one of the things which is forced upon the people who live in the world shortly before the Second Coming of Christ. This "thing" we speak of is the "mark of the beast," —a mark that each individual must have in order to be able to buy or sell. John wrote:

He [the false prophet] also caused everyone (small and great, rich and poor, free and slave) to obtain a mark on their right hand or on their forehead. Thus no one was allowed to buy or sell things unless he bore the mark of the beast-that is, his name or his number (Revelation 13:16-17 NET).

Scripture says that the false prophet, the second beast, then forces everyone to receive a particular "mark of the beast." Nobody is exempt. The Bible says the following:

### 1. The False Prophet Is The Personage Who Institutes And Enforces This Mark

The promoter of the first beast, this second beast, the false prophet, is the one who enforces this mark. He is the one who makes everyone receive this mark. It is not done by the final Antichrist, himself.

### 2. It May Be Some Type Of Physical Mark

Though we are not specifically told, the mark of the beast may be some type of physical image which is placed upon each person who receives it.

In other words, it may be readily observable with the naked eye. If so, then it does not seem to be some type of computer chip which is implanted underneath the skin. Seemingly, everyone will be able to immediately see the mark.

However, we certainly cannot be confident of this. It is possible that it will be invisible to the naked eye. We just do not know enough to be certain about this.

### 3. The Mark Will Be Placed Upon Either The Right Hand Or Forehead

The next thing we learn about the mark is the placement of it. It will go on either the right hand or the forehead of the person. As we just mentioned, this will seemingly make it obvious to everyone whether or not someone has this particular mark. Apparently, it will be in plain sight.

### 4. Everyone Has To Receive This Mark To Buy Or Sell

Scripture is also clear that everyone has to receive this mark, there are no exceptions. Rich or poor, young or old, everyone must have it. Without this mark, there would be no buying or selling. In other words, no commerce whatsoever.

### 5. Once On, It Cannot Be Removed From The Person

Once the mark of the beast has been given to a person, it *cannot* be removed. It remains upon that person as long as they are alive. In other words, it is a *permanent* mark.

### 6. The Mark Is A Number

The Bible says that the mark constitutes a specific number. It is 666. No other mark or tattoo will be acceptable. It must be the 666.

### 7. It Is The Number Of The First Beast, The Man Of Sin

We also find that this mark is the number of the name of the first beast, the Final Antichrist. In some way, this number is linked to him.

### 8. The Mark Is A Sign Of Ownership

Receiving the mark, the brand of the beast, indicates ownership. Scripture gives examples of God marking certain people. For example, the Lord marked Cain. We read about this in the Book of Genesis:

Then the LORD put a mark on Cain to warn anyone who might try to kill him (Genesis 4:15 NLT).

In this instance, it was a mark of protection.

In addition, during the great tribulation period, the Lord will mark 144,000 separate individuals who will be His witnesses:

After this I saw four angels standing at the four corners of the earth, holding back the four winds of the earth to prevent any wind from blowing on the land or on the sea or on any tree. Then I saw another angel coming up from the east, having the seal of the living God. He called out in a loud voice to the four angels who had been given power to harm the land and the sea: "Do not harm the land or the sea or the trees until we put a seal on the foreheads of the servants of our God." Then I heard the number of those who were sealed: 144,000 from all the tribes of Israel (Revelation 7:1-4 NIV).

This will also be a mark of protection and ownership—they belong to Him.

As the Lord marks His people, the beast will also mark his own. It is a parody of what God has done in the past, and will do during this same tribulation period. This is another way in which this man of sin mimics the Lord.

### Many People Will Refuse To Accept The Mark

We know from Scripture that there will be a number of people who will refuse to take this "mark of the beast." The Book of Revelation says:

I saw thrones on which were seated those who had been given authority to judge. And I saw the souls of those who had been beheaded because of their testimony about Jesus and because of the word of God. They had not worshiped the beast or his image and had not received his mark on their foreheads or their hands. They came to life and reigned with Christ a thousand years (Revelation 20:4 NIV).

These people will pay with their lives. Yet this is a small price to pay to be able to spend eternity with the Lord.

This briefly sums up what the Scripture has to say about the "mark of the beast." For more information on the "mark of the beast" and this coming "man of sin," see our book *The Final Antichrist: The Coming Caesar*.

## Event 20 The Persecution and Murder Of The Tribulation Saints (Revelation 14)

During this time of the Great Tribulation, there will be the murder of many of the people who have turned to the Lord in faith. These people are known as the "tribulation saints."

### They Are A Distinct Group From The Church

It is important to understand that the "tribulation saints" are a distinct group from the New Testament church. The church is made up of the believers in Jesus Christ from the time of the Day of Pentecost until the catching up of believers to meet the Lord in the air—the rapture of the church (see Event 2).

Once this event takes place, and the rapture is now past, those new to Jesus Christ become part of this next group—the tribulation saints. They are given this name because they come to faith in Christ during the Great Tribulation period.

### The Antichrist Wages War On The Tribulation Saints

During this time, the man of sin, the first beast, will wage an all-out war on the people of God. The Bible describes it as follows:

This means that God's holy people must endure persecution patiently, obeying his commands and maintaining their faith in Jesus. And I heard a voice from heaven saying, "Write this down: Blessed are those who die in the Lord from now on. Yes, says the Spirit, they are blessed indeed, for they will rest from their hard work; for their good deeds follow them!" (Revelation 14:12,13 NLT).

Indeed, the final Antichrist will persecute those who have come to faith in Jesus during this period—they are known as the "tribulation saints." In other words, he attempts to destroy all those who belong to the Lord.

### The Souls Under The Altar

Earlier in the Book of Revelation, these believers who were martyred for their faith were referred to as the "souls of those under the altar:"

When the Lamb broke the fifth seal, I saw under the altar the souls of all who had been martyred for the word of God and for being faithful in their testimony (Revelation 6:9 NLT).

From these two passages (Revelation 14:12,13 and Revelation 6:9), we also discover that those who believe in Christ are also singled out.

As we have already observed by looking at Event 17, the Jews will be singled out for persecution.

Consequently, there are two, and only two, people groups that these two beasts, the Final Antichrist, and the False Prophet, persecute during the Great Tribulation period—the Jews and the believers in Jesus Christ.

The persecution of the Jews and Christians by the devil and his followers has been historically true, and it will remain true until the end.

### Event 21 The Fall Of Babylon (Revelation 14,17,20)

In Event 12, we saw the description of the 144,000 in Revelation 7, as well as in Revelation 14.

We noted, there, that Revelation 14 places us at a future time when the Lord returns from heaven. It is after this description that three angels are introduced—each appearing with a proclamation. It is in the announcement of the second angel that a "great city" is mentioned:

A second angel followed the first, declaring: "Fallen, fallen is Babylon the great city! She made all the nations drink of the wine of her immoral passion" (Revelation 14:8 NET).

The words "fallen, fallen is Babylon the great city" are anticipating its destruction. The details are given to us later in Revelation 17:1–18:24.

The subject of Babylon is vast. Indeed, entire books have been written about Babylon, its identity, and how it relates to the events of the "end times."

Accordingly, we will merely give a summary of some of the more important details of this coming event—the fall of Babylon.

### Who Is Babylon?

The first question is obvious: Who or what is Babylon in the Book of Revelation? Bible students have not come to any definitive conclusion as to the identity of Babylon. Basically, four views have been prominent. They include the following:

### Option 1: Rome

A popular view is that Babylon is actually a reference to first-century Rome. This view has a number of variations.

There are some commentators who argue that the early Christians used the code word "Babylon" to keep certain truths secret from Rome due to its persecution of believers. For example, Peter wrote:

She who is at Babylon, who is likewise chosen, sends you greetings, and so does Mark, my son (1 Peter 5:13 ESV).

According to this view, when Peter mentioned Babylon he was referring to Rome. It is further contended that those who received this letter from Peter knew that he was not referring to literal Babylon while non-Christians would not have understood the secret meaning of the reference.

In this verse, Peter also mentions that John Mark was with him. Paul had placed John Mark in Rome on an earlier occasion (Colossians 4:10). Therefore, it is argued that John Mark was still in Rome at the time 1 Peter was written.

Add to this, almost all modern interpreters of First Peter believe that Babylon, in this instance, was a code name for Rome.

In addition, tradition says that Peter was executed near Rome which makes this reference to Rome even more likely.

It is also contended that John, who wrote the book of Revelation, would not dare speak openly against Rome. Therefore, he too applied the code name "Babylon" to this enemy of God's people.

Others say that "Babylon," in the Book of Revelation, stands for "future Rome"—the city which will be at the center of the worldwide apostasy in the "last days" (see Revelation 14:8, 16:19, 17:5, 18:2, 10, 21).

### Response

Those who reject that Babylon is actually Rome usually argue as follows:

First, there is no evidence that at this time "Babylon" was used as some code word for Rome. In fact, First Peter contains nothing that would have been considered subversive to the Roman state at that time. Therefore, there would have been no need to give it the code name "Babylon."

While John Mark was at Rome on an earlier occasion, it does not necessarily follow that he remained there. Recall, he had an itinerant ministry like Paul and Peter.

Furthermore, to argue that John, who was banished to the Isle of Patmos by the authority of Rome, would have been fearful to use its name in referring to present or future events, ignores the fact that Revelation is a book that is from, as well as about, Jesus Christ. It is *His* revelation! Indeed, John was merely told to write down the things that he saw.

Finally, there were many Jews who were living in Babylon at the time that Peter wrote. Therefore, it is possible that this reference could be understood literally.

In sum, while "Babylon" may have been a code word for Rome for those in the early church, the evidence is certainly not decisive.

### Option 2: Jerusalem

There is also the view that "Babylon" refers to the city of Jerusalem. It is viewed as a city set against God and will be the object of His judgment.

### Response

The problem with this view is that Scripture generally aligns Jerusalem with the Lord while Babylon is *always* aligned against Him.

Furthermore, there is no specific reference in Scripture where the city of Jerusalem is called "Babylon."

### Option 3: The Entire World System

Another popular view is that Babylon symbolizes the evil world system which is set against God. This would include all of the major cities in the world.

### Response

While it is true that the evil world system is constantly at odds with the plan and program of God, it seems that Babylon in this context has a more specific identification.

### Option 4: Babylon On The Euphrates

The final option sees "Babylon" referring to the rebuilt city of Babylon. In other words, "Babylon" literally means Babylon!

### Arguments Against A Literal Babylon

The main argument against this view is that the prophecies of Babylon's final destruction (Isaiah 13:19-22; Jeremiah 51:24-26) were fulfilled during the sixth century B.C. Therefore, as far as Scripture is concerned, the city of Babylon is gone forever.

### Response

The arguments against a literal interpretation of Babylon are not convincing. There are several reasons as to why this is so.

### Some Details Have Never Been Literally Fulfilled

There are a number of the details contained in these prophecies in Isaiah and Jeremiah, with respect to Babylon, that have never been fulfilled. Consequently, one must look to the future for their literal fulfillment.

### Zechariah Was Written After Babylon Fell

In addition, there is Zechariah 5:5-11, which was written at least 20 years *after* the fall of Babylon in 539 B.C. In this chapter, Zechariah looks forward to a future building of an idolatrous shrine in the land of Shinar—another name for Babylon (Genesis 10:10). In other words, Babylon, as far as God's program is concerned, is not finished.

### Conclusion

In sum, there are good commentators who hold each of these four views. Our view is that "Babylon" is the literal city of Babylon, which shall be rebuilt and then rise to power for a short time in the "last days." However, the view that it refers to Rome cannot be ruled out.

With several different views possible, what we do know is this—whatever Babylon turns out to be, it will be destroyed by the Lord at His coming.

### The Timing Of The Destruction Of Babylon

Chapters 17 and 18 of the Book of Revelation record the destruction of Babylon. There is some question as to the exact timing of the fall of this great city.

### Option 1: The Destruction Occurs At The Beginning Of The Seven-Year Period

One view holds that these events in Revelation 17 and 18 do not chronologically follow Chapter 16, but rather they take place at the beginning of the final seven-year period.

### Option 2: The Destruction Occurs At The End Of The Seven-Year Period

However, most commentators believe that the destruction of Babylon will occur at the end of the final seven-year period. In this instance, Revelation Chapter 14 looks forward to what will take place at the time of the Lord's return while Chapters 17 and 18 do indeed follow chronologically after Chapter 16.

### The Destruction Of Babylon: The Antichrist Will Break The Agreements He Made

Since the final Antichrist is the ultimate liar, he will break the agreements and various alliances which he had previously made. This will include those he made with Babylon.

Antichrist will only use Babylon to gain his worldwide power. Once this is accomplished, Babylon will be done away with. The ten-nation confederation, which will be under his control, will destroy Babylon, which is also called the "harlot" or "prostitute." The Bible says:

The beast and the ten horns you saw will hate the prostitute. They will bring her to ruin and leave her naked; they will eat her flesh and burn her with fire. For God has put it into their hearts to accomplish his purpose by agreeing to give the beast their power to rule, until God's words are fulfilled (Revelation 17:16–17 NIV).

The ten kings, who are under the control of the beast—the final Antichrist—will destroy Babylon. This reveals that it was foolish to place any trust in this man of sin.

### The Enemies Of The Lord Are Destroyed

To sum up, whatever Babylon refers to, whether it be Rome, the evil worldwide system, or the ancient city of Babylon, it will be destroyed at the time of the end. Its worldwide dominance will be short-lived.

This is the important takeaway from our study of the subject of Babylon.

### Event 22

### The Pronouncement of Judgment Against Those Who Have Taken the Mark of the Beast: Eternal Punishment (Revelation 14:9-11)

In the midst of the angelic pronouncement of the judgment upon Babylon (detailed in the last event), the Lord gives a warning to those who personally receive the "mark of the beast:"

A third angel followed the first two, declaring in a loud voice: "If anyone worships the beast and his image, and takes the mark on his forehead or his hand, that person will also drink of the wine of God's anger that has been mixed undiluted in the cup of his wrath, and he will be tortured with fire and sulfur in front of the holy angels and in front of the Lamb. And the smoke from their torture will go up forever and ever, and those who worship the beast and his image will have no rest day or night, along with anyone who receives the mark of his name" (Revelation 14:9-11 NET).

This is an awesome pronouncement. Indeed, it predicts the horrible, eternal destiny of those who reject Jesus Christ as Savior.

### The Doctrine Of Eternal Punishment

Since this pronouncement is highlighted in Scripture as one of the important "last days" events, we need to say a few words about what exactly it is describing—eternal punishment.

Those who receive the "mark of the beast" will experience the wrath of God. Indeed, they will be punished forever in the presence of the Lord; this is clear. Furthermore, there is no relief from that punishment—it is day and night and it is everlasting.

While this passage is speaking specifically of those who take the mark during the Great Tribulation period, it is consistent with the rest of Scripture which teaches the doctrine of everlasting punishment of all those who reject the Lord.

As we shall now see, the Book of Revelation provides further support for the doctrine of the everlasting punishment of the wicked.

### The Beast And The False Prophet Are Thrown Into The Lake Of Fire

When Jesus Christ returns to the earth, He will capture the beast and the false prophet and cast them both alive into the lake of fire:

But the beast was captured, and with it the false prophet who had performed the signs on its behalf. With these signs he had deluded those who had received the mark of the beast and worshiped its image. The two of them were thrown alive into the fiery lake of burning sulfur (Revelation 19:20 NIV).

Notice they are thrown alive into the lake of fire. There is nothing said about their extinction, or annihilation, when they receive this punishment. Indeed, this punishment is eternal—everlasting.

### The Destiny Of The Devil

One thousand years later, we find that the created spirit-being, who became the devil, will also be thrown into the same lake of fire as the beast and false prophet:

When the thousand years are over, Satan will be released from his prison and will go out to deceive the nations in the four corners of the earth . . . And the devil, who deceived them, was thrown into the lake of burning sulfur, where the beast and the false prophet had been thrown. They will be tormented day and night for ever and ever (Revelation 20:7,10 NIV).

We should observe here that the beast and false prophet are still in the lake of fire one thousand years after they had previously been cast into this fiery punishment. In other words, they have been tormented all of this time—burned, but not consumed.

### The Great White Throne Judgment

Finally, we come to the Last Judgment, also known as the Great White Throne. This is indeed an awesome scene:

Then I saw a great white throne and him who was seated on it. The earth and the heavens fled from his presence, and there was no place for them. And I saw the dead, great and small, standing before the throne, and books were opened. Another book was opened, which is the book of life. The dead were judged according to what they had done as recorded in the books. The sea gave up the dead that were in it, and death and Hades gave up the dead that were in them, and each person was judged according to what they had done. Then death and Hades were thrown into the lake of fire. The lake of fire is the second death. Anyone whose name was not found written in the book of life was thrown into the lake of fire (Revelation 20:11-15 NIV).

In this final judgment, those whose names are not found written in the Book of Life are thrown into the lake of fire, the same lake of fire where the devil, the beast, and the false prophet have already been cast into.

The destiny of those who do not believe in Christ is the same as these three personages—they are forever separated from the Lord in a place of conscious punishment.

### The Unrighteous Remain Outside Of The Holy City

After this "last judgment," the Lord then creates a "new heaven" and a "new earth." The "Holy City," the "New Jerusalem," comes down from heaven to the new earth.

In the explanation of the New Jerusalem, we find that the unbelievers exist "outside" of the presence of the Lord. We also discover that they will remain there forever. Three passages make this clear:

The one who conquers will inherit these things, and I will be his God and he will be my son. But to the cowards, unbelievers, detestable persons, murderers, the sexually immoral, and those who practice magic spells, idol worshipers, and all those who lie, their place will be in the lake that burns with fire and sulfur. That is the second death (Revelation 21:7,8 NET).

First, it is re-emphasized that the lost are in the lake of fire.

Then we are told that *only* the righteous will be able to enter the Holy City:

They will bring the grandeur and the wealth of the nations into it, but a nothing ritually unclean will ever enter into it, nor anyone who does what is detestable or practices falsehood, but only those whose names are written in the Lamb's book of life (Revelation 21:26 NET).

While individuals from the various nations will enter the New Jerusalem, the entrance is limited. Indeed, only those whose names are written in the Book of Life may enter the Holy City. The unbelievers will *never* be able to enter into it.

Later, the same thing is repeated:

Blessed are those who wash their robes so they can have access to the tree of life and can enter into the city by the gates. Outside are the dogs and the sorcerers and the sexually immoral, and the murderers, and the idolaters and everyone who loves and practices falsehood! (Revelation 22:14 NET).

For a third time, we are told that only the righteous have access to the Holy City. Outside of the New Jerusalem are the unbelievers. They will remain outside forever.

Therefore, in these three verses, we are told that the fate of the wicked will be in the lake of fire—the "second" death or "eternal" death. They will never be able to enter the Holy City; they will always remain outside.

### Summary Of The Punishment Of The Lost

From the last book of the Bible—Revelation—we find further information about the fate of the lost. Indeed, in this particular book there are a number of passages which clearly state the destiny of the wicked, as well as the devil who has deceived them.

### Conclusion: The Wicked Will Be Eternally Punished

In sum, from the totality of biblical teaching, there is no doubt whatsoever that the wicked will be judged, and then after their judgment comes the punishment, the payback, for not accepting the truth of God as revealed in the Bible. Their punishment will be eternal and conscious. This is the consistent teaching of Scripture on the subject.

For more information about this subject of the punishment of the wicked, see our book Hell: The Final Destination of the Wicked.

### Event 23 The Final Plagues, the Bowls of Wrath (Revelation 15)

We now come to the time when the final plagues are about to be completed. The Bible gives us this announcement:

Then I saw another great and astounding sign in heaven: seven angels who have seven final plagues (they are final because in them God's anger is completed) (Revelation 15:1 NET).

This is an important announcement of what is about to come. It tells us several things.

First, it is described in superlatives—"a great and astounding sign." In other words, this particular sign is especially important.

Next, it reiterates that this is a time of the wrath of God upon the Christ-rejecting world. Indeed, this entire time, as recorded in Revelation 6-18, is the period where God's wrath will be poured out on an unbelieving world.

Third, there is a finality to God's judgment. With these final seven plagues, the end will come.

### Victory For The Saints: Another Link To The Exodus

In the next couple of verses, we see those who have died for the cause of Jesus Christ during this period—the tribulation saints—singing the song of Moses (Exodus 15:1-18). We read:

I also saw something like a sea of glass mixed with fire, and those who had won the victory over the beast, its image, and the number of its name, were standing on the sea of glass with harps from God. They sang the song of God's servant Moses and the song of the Lamb: Great and awe-inspiring are your works, Lord God, the Almighty; just and true are your ways, King of the nations. Lord, who will not fear and glorify your name? For you alone are holy. All the nations will come and worship before you because your righteous acts have been revealed (Revelation 15:3-4 CSB).

This is the same song that the children of Israel sang after they were supernaturally delivered from Egypt and passed through the Red Sea.

Again, we see another link between the events that will take place in the future and the Exodus of the children of Israel from Egypt. Of course, none of this is coincidental.

### The Temple Opened In heaven

Next, we see the temple opened in heaven:

After these things I looked, and the temple (the tent of the testimony) was opened in heaven, and the seven angels who had the seven plagues came out of the temple, dressed in clean bright linen, wearing wide golden belts around their chests. Then one of the four living creatures gave the seven angels seven golden bowls filled with the wrath of God who lives forever and ever, and the temple was filled with smoke from God's glory and from his power. Thus no one could enter the temple until the seven plagues from the seven angels were completed (Revelation 15:5-8 NET).

In this passage, John sees the heavenly tabernacle of testimony opened. The seven angels, who had the seven plagues, emerge with garments of linen and golden sashes. Their clothing represents the righteousness of God.

### The Bowls Of Wrath

These seven angels, described above, are holding golden bowls which represent the wrath of God. These vessels may be intended to bring to mind those which were used in the Temple in the Old Testament:

Solomon also made all these items for the Lord's temple . . . the pure gold bowls . . . (1 Kings 7:48,50 NET).

We also find that nobody in the vision could stand in the presence of the Lord. Indeed, His fierce anger is about to be expressed on an unbelieving world.

The final plagues are about to occur. The wrath of God will soon be completed against a Christ-rejecting world.

### Event 24 The First Five Bowl Judgments (Revelation 16:1-11)

This final group of judgments that the Lord will bring upon the earth are known as the "bowl" judgments. Like the "trumpet" judgments and the "seal" judgments, there are seven of them.

### They Bear Some Similarity To The Trumpet Judgments

As we examine these bowl judgments, we discover that they bear certain similarities to the trumpet judgments. However, there is also a significant difference between them.

### They Are Universal In Scope

The impact of the trumpet judgments will affect only one-third of the planet (Revelation 8:7-8), while the impact of the bowl judgments will be universal in scope. Indeed, we read the following:

Then the second angel poured out his bowl on the sea, and it became like the blood of a corpse. And everything in the sea died. Then the third angel poured out his bowl on the rivers and springs, and they became blood . . . Then the thunder crashed and rolled, and lightning flashed. And a great earthquake struck—the worst since people were placed on the earth (Revelation 16:3-4,18 NLT).

Hence, the trumpet judgments and the bowl judgments are best seen as two separate groups of punishments that the Lord delivers to the earth.

### Their Resemblance To The Plagues In Exodus

It has also been observed that these bowl judgments, like the trumpet judgments, also bear a resemblance to the plagues that the Lord brought upon Egypt, as recorded in the Book of Exodus.

### The First Bowl: Painful Sores Strike The People Of The Earth (16:1-2)

This third and final series of punishments from the Lord—the bowl judgments—will be initiated by a command from heaven. What each of them will have in common is that they will be divinely planned and divinely orchestrated events. In other words, they will *not* be natural disasters.

This first plague is reminiscent of what took place in Egypt. We read:

Then I heard a loud voice from the temple saying to the seven angels, "Go and pour out the seven bowls of God's wrath on the earth." The first went and poured out his bowl on the earth, and severely painful sores broke out on the people who had the mark of the beast and who worshiped its image (Revelation 16:1-2 CSB).

The pouring out of the first bowl will result in ulcerated sores for those living upon the earth—those who have taken the mark of the beast and who have worshipped his image.

This reminds us of what took place in Egypt—the painful boils that struck the Egyptians (Exodus 9:9-11).

### The Second Bowl: The Sea Is Turned To Blood

The second bowl also reminds us of what occurred in Egypt, before the Exodus. We read:

The second poured out his bowl into the sea. It turned to blood like that of a dead person, and all life in the sea died (Revelation 16:3 CSB).

This substance, that will be poured out by the angel, will turn all the seas in the world into blood. This will result in the death of *all* marine life living upon the face of the earth.

As we observed with the second trumpet judgment, recorded in Revelation 8:8-9, only one-third of the sea creatures will die at the time it takes place. In this instance of the second bowl, however, all creatures of the sea will perish.

This second bowl judgment is reminiscent of the Lord turning the water into blood in front of Pharaoh (Exodus 7:17-21).

### The Third Bowl: The Fresh Water Is Turned To Blood (16:4-7)

Next, the Lord will turn the fresh waters of the earth into blood:

The third poured out his bowl into the rivers and the springs of water, and they became blood (Revelation 16:4 CSB).

Basically, this punishment is similar to what happened with the sea, and, again, reminds us of what took place in Egypt (Exodus 7:17-21).

### The Lord Demands Blood For Blood

After the first two bowl judgments, and the introduction of this third, the Apostle John heard certain words spoken which were associated with this third bowl—the Lord is praised as being eternal, holy, as well as righteous. This last attribute—His righteousness, will be directly related to His decision to punish those who persecuted His people during this period of Great Tribulation.

Since the inhabitants of the earth have poured out the blood of the believers in Jesus Christ, as well as the blood of the prophets, it is poetic justice that they themselves will be destroyed by means of blood.

Therefore, the punishment which these earth-dwellers will receive will be "blood for blood."

### We Must Remember The Evil People Deserved The Punishment

The people who are punished are consistently portrayed as rejecting the Lord as well as persecuting and murdering His people. In other words, they deserve the punishment they are about to receive.

### The Fourth Bowl: The Earth Is Scorched (16:8-9)

The fourth bowl affects the sun:

The fourth poured out his bowl on the sun. It was allowed to scorch people with fire, and people were scorched by the intense heat. So they blasphemed the name of God, who has the power over these plagues, and they did not repent and give him glory (Revelation 16:8-9 CSB).

Previously, all of the water upon the earth had become blood and was, therefore, completely useless to drink. Now the fourth bowl will make the sun burn with inordinate heat, which will scorch the people of the earth. One can only imagine the intense agony that will come with this dreadful punishment.

Amazingly, the unbelieving people who remain upon the earth do not repent of their sins. Instead, they will continue to speak slanderously against the Lord.

### The Fifth Bowl: The Earth Is Plunged Into Darkness (16:10-11)

Darkness now comes upon the earth with the pouring out of the fifth bowl:

The fifth poured out his bowl on the throne of the beast, and its kingdom was plunged into darkness. People gnawed their tongues because of their pain and blasphemed the God of heaven because of their pains and their sores, but they did not repent of their works (Revelation 16:10-11 CSB).

This fifth bowl will afflict the "throne of the beast." In other words, it will darken his kingdom. The beast—the final Antichrist—who had been granted some temporary authority over the earth, is seeing his short-lived kingdom coming to an inglorious end.

For the people still living upon the earth, the darkness would certainly increase their anxiety and fear. When this is combined with the horrible sores from the first bowl, it will make living on earth unbearable. Yet, the unbelievers, through all of this, still blaspheme God.

We will next look separately at two aspects of the judgment of the sixth bowl—the arrival of the Kings of the East and the gathering for the final battle—the campaign of Armageddon.

# Event 25 The Sixth Bowl Judgment: The Arrival Of The Kings Of The East, Armageddon (Revelation 16:13-16)

We now come to the judgment of the Lord associated with the "sixth bowl." The pouring out of this bowl will cause the Euphrates River to dry up, which will allow a massive troop movement of the "kings from the East" to gather together in preparation of a great battle—Armageddon. The Bible explains it in this manner:

The sixth angel poured out his bowl on the great river Euphrates, and its water was dried up to prepare the way for the kings from the East. Then I saw three impure spirits that looked like frogs; they came out of the mouth of the dragon, out of the mouth of the beast and out of the mouth of the false prophet. They are demonic spirits that perform signs, and they go out to the kings of the whole world, to gather them for the battle on the great day of God Almighty. "Look, I come like a thief! Blessed is the one who stays awake and remains clothed, so as not to go naked and be shamefully exposed." Then they gathered the kings together to the place that in Hebrew is called Armageddon (Revelation 16:13-15 NIV).

There are many things taking place here that need to be addressed.

First, we find that the Euphrates River will be dried up to prepare the way for these "kings from the East."

### The Euphrates River In Scripture

The Euphrates River, also called "the Great River," is prominent in Scripture. In fact, it is the northeastern border of the land God promised to Abraham's descendants:

That day the Lord made a covenant with Abram: "To your descendants I give this land, from the river of Egypt to the great river, the Euphrates River" (Genesis 15:18 NET).

The Lord will dry up this river that had previously turned into blood.

### God Has Literally Dried Up Rivers In The Past

Some examples of God having literally worked in this way in the past are given to us in the Old Testament. The Bible relates the famous story of the Lord drying up the Red Sea so the Israelites could advance onto the Promised Land:

Moses stretched his arm over the sea, and the Lord sent a strong east wind that blew all night until there was dry land where the water had been. The sea opened up, and the Israelites walked through on dry land with a wall of water on each side (Exodus 14:21-22 CEV).

In another episode, the Lord dried up the River Jordan so the Israelites could cross over to the Promised Land (Joshua 3:13-17, 4:23).

Elijah, the prophet, also parted the waters of the Jordan River:

When they got there, Elijah took off his coat, then he rolled it up and struck the water with it. At once a path opened up through the river, and the two of them walked across on dry ground (2 Kings 2:8 CEV).

These Old Testament examples of the Lord drying up literal rivers, demonstrate that a literal fulfillment of this prophecy is what will take place. In other words, there is no need to see this "drying up" of the Euphrates River as something which is merely "symbolic."

### This Drying Up Leads to War

Something else to note is that this "drying up" of the river, in-and-of-itself, does not pose a problem for the people living at the time. It is the consequences of this event that becomes the problem.

In other words, this act does not inflict some type of plague upon the people, but rather it sets the stage as a preparation for one of the great battles that is still to come—Armageddon.

### The Frogs

Following the drying up of the Euphrates River, we have the introduction of three unclean spirits that are said to be "like frogs." The fact that frogs are mentioned in this context should not be missed. We know that frogs were related to the Egyptian goddess Heqt during the time of Israel's bondage in Egypt. In response, the Lord sent a plague of frogs upon the land of Egypt (Exodus 8:1-6).

Therefore, the fact that they are mentioned in this context would cause the people to recall those horrific centuries of oppression, as well as the miraculous deliverance that the nation of Israel had experienced in the past.

Again, we find a connection between the events in the Book of Revelation and the exodus from Egypt.

### Those Who Remain Faithful Will Be Rewarded

In the midst of this sixth bowl and the explanation of this coming war campaign, Armageddon, John records the following comforting words of the Lord:

Look, I come like a thief! Blessed is the one who stays awake and remains clothed, so as not to go naked and be shamefully exposed (Revelation 16:15 NIV).

Recall that that this book was originally addressed by Jesus to the seven churches of Asia (Revelation 2:1–3:22). A major theme throughout Revelation is that the believers needed to persevere in the face of the difficult persecution that they were receiving.

This same theme is now restated here. The Lord will indeed reward those believers who have been faithful to Him—those who remain clothed with His righteousness.

### Armageddon

As the narrative continues, these "frog-like," evil spirits that we've mentioned, will bring together military units from all around the world to rally at a place called, in Hebrew, "Armageddon."

Armageddon is one of the most well-known words in the English language. Indeed, many people are aware that it speaks of some type of great battle or campaign that will take place at the "time of the end." However, there is much ignorance as to exactly what will happen at Armageddon. What does the Bible have to say about this coming event?

### The Word Is Found In Only One Place

For one thing, this particular word, "Armageddon," is found only in Revelation 16:16:

So they assembled the kings at the place called in Hebrew, Armageddon (Revelation 16:16 CSB).

Simply put, Armageddon refers to the rallying-place of the kings of the earth, who, are led by these unclean spirits which come from the mouths of the evil, unholy trinity—the dragon, the beast, and the false prophet. They will muster their armies for the final war campaign against the Lord and His people, Israel.

### The Mountain Of Megiddo: The Scene Of Past Battles

The word translated "Armageddon" is derived from Hebrew *har m'giddo*— the "mountain of Megiddo." The ancient Israelite town of Megiddo guarded the pass of a main caravan route between the Plain of Sharon and the Valley of Jezreel. In other words, it has always been a strategic location.

In this context, Armageddon likely refers to the hill country surrounding the town of Megiddo which includes all the mountains that border the 14 by 20-mile Valley of Jezreel.

### The Scene Of Past Battles

The Valley of Jezreel, also called the Plain of Esdraelon, which is at the foot of Mount Megiddo, has been the scene of many significant battles in the history of the nation of Israel. They include: the victory of the Judge Deborah over Sisera (Judges 5:19-20), Gideon's defeat of the countless number of Midianites (Judges 6:33), the death of Saul at the hands of the army of the Philistines (1 Samuel 31, 2 Samuel 4:4), and the death of the good King Josiah in the unwise battle with Pharaoh Neco (2 Kings 23:29-30, 2 Chronicles 35:22).

In other words, in the long history of the nation of Israel, this location, the Mountain of Megiddo, has been the scene of many never-to-be-forgotten battles.

Therefore, it is poetic that this is the place where one of the last great battles between the Lord and the powers of evil will occur.

### A Place Where The Armies Will Assemble

It has been noted that the plain of Megiddo, itself, is not large enough to contain armies from all over the world. Therefore, it should probably be understood as the staging area for a much larger military deployment. In fact, we are told that the battlefield will cover a two-hundred-mile distance!

We read about this slaughter that will take place, as well as the size of the battlefield, in a previous chapter:

Then the winepress was stomped outside the city, and blood poured out of the winepress up to the height of horses' bridles for a distance of almost two hundred miles (Revelation 14:20 NET).

### Is Armageddon The Same Battle Described In Ezekiel 38,39

There have been a number of commentators who believe that Ezekiel 38, 39 describe the Battle of Armageddon. However, a closer examination of these two events will demonstrate that they are not speaking of the same episode.

### The Combatants Are Different

Ezekiel 38 names the specific combatants that will ally with one another to invade Israel. They are limited to seven or eight nations. On the other hand, Armageddon will involve all the nations of the earth.

### Israel Is Not "At Peace" When Armageddon Happens

In Ezekiel, the Bible says that Israel will be "at rest" or "living securely" when they are invaded by these various nations.

On the other hand, the battle of Armageddon takes place at the end of the Great Tribulation period where the world is anything but "at peace" and "rest." Indeed, many from Israel will have fled into the wilderness to be supernaturally protected by the Lord. Other Jews will have been persecuted and killed.

### The Armies Are Destroyed In Different Places

We also find that in Ezekiel 39 the destruction of the various armies is upon the mountains of Israel. In contrast, there will be a two hundred mile stretch of land where the battle of Armageddon takes place.

### The Armies Are Destroyed By Different Means

Furthermore, in Ezekiel, the different armies are destroyed by various convulsions of nature which include hail, torrential downpours, fire and brimstone. However, at Armageddon they are destroyed by the personal appearance of Jesus Christ on His return to the earth.

Therefore, the battle of Revelation 16—Armageddon—is not the same as the invasion recorded in Ezekiel 38,39.

For more information on this subject, see our book, 45 Common Mistakes About Last Days Bible Prophecy Cleared Up, Mistake 9, "The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion Is Not The Same Military Campaign As That Of Armageddon."

### Event 26 The King Of The North And The King Of The South (Daniel 11:40-45)

In the Book of Daniel, we read of two kings who will do battle in the last days. They are known as the "king of the North" and "the king of the South." There has been much discussion as to their identities as well as how this war relates to two other major wars of the "last days"—the Ezekiel 38,39 invasion and the Battle of Armageddon.

Indeed, as we shall see, there are a number of scenarios which are proposed to describe this skirmish between the king of the North and the king of the South.

Consequently, we will present several different viewpoints as to who these personages are, as well as how their fight relates to the invasion recorded in Ezekiel 38 and 39 and the famous Battle, or Campaign, of Armageddon.

### The Background: The Introduction Of Antiochus IV

In Daniel 11:21-35 the subject is the eighth Seleucid-Greek ruler—Antiochus IV Epiphanes—who ruled from 175-163 B.C. He was introduced earlier as the "little horn" of Daniel (Daniel 8:9-12, 23-25).

Antiochus is highlighted in this section because of how his actions would affect the nation of Israel in a profound way. These predictions recorded in these verses have all been literally fulfilled in history.

### The Passage Moves To The Time of the End (Daniel 11:36-45)

While Daniel 11:21-35 chronicles Antiochus' evil deeds, the description moves from him to the personage of whom he is a "type"—the final Antichrist. While we have already given a general description of this coming evil individual (Event 9) these particular passages will add much to our knowledge.

As we look at the Scripture, it is the expression "the time of the end" (Daniel 11:35) which marks the sharp break in this prophecy. It's here that our focus is moved off of Antiochus, and onto a future "end times" personage. Up to this point, the prophecy in Daniel has been dealing with the Persian and Grecian Empires, which, as we look back, have been minutely fulfilled. Indeed, the precision is amazing!

Now, however, we are in an entirely different situation. In fact, every Bible commentator agrees that starting at Daniel 11:36, these passages have never been literally fulfilled in history, as have the other predictions recorded in this chapter of Daniel.

### This Has Been Recognized Throughout the Centuries

Indeed, past students of the Scripture have recognized that another king, apart from Antiochus IV, must be in view in these passages of Daniel. These commentators include the fourth century writer Jerome, Martin Luther, as well as many others, who have identified this king with the final Antichrist—the last Gentile world ruler.

Daniel spoke of this time period as a time of distress:

At that time Michael, the great prince who watches over your people, will arise. There will be a time of distress unlike any other from the nation's beginning up to that time (Daniel 12:1 NET).

This period—the "Great Tribulation"—is also referred to in the Book of Revelation:

Then one of the elders asked me, "These in white robes—who are they, and where did they come from?" I answered, "Sir, you know." And he said, "These are they who have come out of the great tribulation; they have washed their robes and made them white in the blood of the Lamb. (Revelation 7:13,14 NIV).

Furthermore, the time of "distress" or "tribulation" which is recorded in Daniel 12:1 is the same future time period which Jesus spoke about:

For then there will be great tribulation, such as has not been from the beginning of the world until now, no, and never will be (Matthew 24:21 ESV).

This short period of time will occur immediately before the Lord returns to the earth. Jesus also said:

Immediately after the tribulation of those days the sun will be darkened, and the moon will not give its light, and the stars will fall from heaven, and the powers of the heavens will be shaken. Then will appear in heaven the sign of the Son of Man, and then all the tribes of the earth will mourn, and they will see the Son of Man coming on the clouds of heaven with power and great glory. And he will send out his angels with a loud trumpet call, and they will gather his elect from the four winds, from one end of heaven to the other (Matthew 24:29-31 ESV).

Indeed, by an examination of the Scriptures, we can know what is in view by this "time of the end" spoken of in Daniel 11:35.

### The Resurrection Of The Old Testament Believers

Along with the examples that have already been given, there is further evidence that the "Great Tribulation" becomes the subject in view here. We have learned, so far, that this "coming king" will live in the "latter days," and, when combined with what we read of in the following chapter of Daniel, chapter 12, we learn that this time is the same time when the resurrection of the Old Testament saints will take place.

This resurrection will occur immediately *after* the Lord delivers His people from the power of this evil king—the final Antichrist. Daniel tells us the following:

At that time shall arise Michael, the great prince who has charge of your people. And there shall be a time of trouble, such as never has been since there was a nation till that time. But at that time your people shall be delivered, everyone whose name shall be found written in the book. And many of those who sleep in the dust of the earth shall awake, some to everlasting life, and some to shame and everlasting contempt (Daniel 12:1,2 ESV).

Therefore, from all of the evidence, it is clear that this passage, along with Daniel 11:36 and following, is speaking of the latter part of the Great Tribulation period—the time of the end.

### The Willful King

Now, after the discussion of Antiochus (Daniel 11:21-35), Daniel introduces us to "the willful king:"

And the king shall do as he wills. He shall exalt himself and magnify himself above every god, and shall speak astonishing things against the God of gods. He shall prosper till the indignation is accomplished; for what is decreed shall be done (Daniel 11:36 ESV).

As we noted, beginning in verse 36, Daniel describes events that have never been fulfilled in history. Indeed, Antiochus Epiphanes never desired to "exalt himself and magnify himself above every god."

Thus, the individual who is now in view is the future Antichrist who was first described in Daniel 7, and is also described in Chapter 9:

As I was contemplating the horns, another horn - a small one - came up between them, and three of the former horns were torn out by the roots to make room for it. This horn had eyes resembling human eyes and a mouth speaking arrogant things (Daniel 7:8 NET).

And after the sixty-two weeks, an anointed one shall be cut off and shall have nothing. And the people of the prince who is to come shall destroy the city and the sanctuary (Daniel 9:26 ESV).

Therefore, with these verses in mind, there would have been the expectation for the reader of Daniel to recognize this personage without the need for him to be re-introduced.

Consequently, many Bible students believe that this "willful king" is none other than the "little horn" of Daniel seven, as well as the "ruler" or "prince who is to come" of Daniel 9:26—the final Antichrist.

The New Testament calls this personage the "man of sin" or "the man of lawlessness:"

Let no one deceive you in any way. For that day will not come, unless the rebellion comes first, and the man of lawlessness is revealed, the son of destruction (2 Thessalonians 2:3 ESV).

### Antiochus Is The Clearest Type Of Antichrist

In truth, a description of the final Antichrist should not be considered surprising in a context of describing Antiochus IV. In fact, Antiochus is the clearest type, or foreshadowing, of the coming Antichrist.

Consequently, Gabriel, at verse 36, has now ceased to speak of Antiochus and has begun to describe the final Antichrist of the last days. Daniel 11:37-39, therefore, provides us with a further description of this personage—the "willful king."

### The Future War Of The King Of The North And King Of The South

After the description of this king, who does according to his will, we now come to the account of the war the "king of the North" and the "king of the South" (Daniel 11:40-45). We must appreciate that when the Bible speaks of "north and south" it must be relative to the nation of Israel.

Earlier in Daniel Chapter eleven, "the king of the South" represented the Egyptian leader while "the king of the North" described the Syrian king. As we mentioned, the battle described was fulfilled in the past, precisely as the Bible predicted.

Therefore, in this context, these kings of Daniel 11:40-45 must symbolize either nations, or confederations of nations, that will exist at the time of the end.

### There Are Many Questions About This Passage

While this passage relates a conflict between the "king of the North" and the "king of the South" in the last days, there are numerous issues that arise.

Two stand out: There is no consensus as to the identity of the "King of the North," neither is there any agreement as to the timing of this war.

### Issue 1 Who Is The "King Of The North?"

The identity of the king of the North is a matter of debate.

### Option 1 The King Of The North Is The Final Antichrist

There is the view that this king of the North can be identified with the "willful king"—the final Antichrist—who has been the subject of verses 36-39. In this scenario, a king from the south will do battle against the Antichrist in the "last days."

Those who argue for two kings claim that it is much simpler to understand the "king of the North" in this verse to be none other than the latter-day "little horn" written about in the Book of Daniel—the final Antichrist.

Earlier in this chapter (Daniel 11:6-28) we find that a number of rulers from the Seleucid line were designated as "the king of the North." This includes Antiochus IV—who is the clearest type of the final Antichrist.

Therefore, it would be consistent to designate both the type, as well as the literal fulfillment of the type, by the same phrase—"the king of the North."

Consequently, what we have in this context is a rebellion that breaks out against the worldwide rule of the Antichrist.

### Option 2 The King Of The North Is Not The Antichrist

On the other hand, some believe that this king of the North is distinct from the Antichrist. Therefore, we are dealing with three leaders—the king of the North, the king of the South, and the final Antichrist.

According to this scenario, both the king of the South and the king of the North, who are seemingly allies, will attack Antichrist on two fronts in the "last days."

There are several arguments that are offered that support this view.

First, in Daniel 11:36-39, the final Antichrist is simply called "the king." He is not designated as the "King of the North."

Second, Scripture says that the final Antichrist will arise from Rome. Rome is *not* directly north of the Holy Land. In the Bible, Babylon is described as being from the "north."

For example, we read in Jeremiah:

This is what the Lord says: 'Beware! An army is coming from a land in the north. A mighty nation is stirring into action in faraway parts of the earth. . . Listen! News is coming even now. The rumble of a great army is heard approaching from a land in the north. It is coming to turn the towns of Judah into rubble, places where only jackals live (Jeremiah 6:22; 10:22 NET).

In addition, it is argued that the context favors this view of three kings, rather than two.

In sum, either view seems to be possible. This makes it difficult to come to a firm conclusion on the matter of the identity of the "King of the North." Our view is that there are only two kings and the "King of the North" is indeed the final Antichrist.

### Issue 2: When Does This Event Take Place?

Not only are there questions with respect to the identity of the king of the North, the issue of the timing of the event is also in question. While it is agreed that it will take place in the "last days," there is no consensus as to how to relate it to the other coming wars mentioned in Scripture.

Some believe that this is the same invasion that is recorded in Ezekiel 38 and 39. Others argue that this event recorded here in Daniel is the Battle of Armageddon, while still others hold that this event describes both the Ezekiel invasion and Armageddon!

In other words, the same event is described in three different portions of Scripture.

### This is Not The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion

For a number of reasons, it appears that this war recorded in Daniel is not the same event as recorded in Ezekiel 38,39.

### The Timing Is Different

The chronology of Daniel 11:36-39 refers to this latter period of world rule of the Antichrist, and, therefore, must occur after the Ezekiel 38,39 invasion, which seems to take place early in the final seven-year period.

Furthermore, when the Ezekiel invasion takes places, the people of Israel are seemingly lulled by a false security which will be guaranteed by this Final Antichrist. In fact, it is not until the mid-point of this last seven-year period that this man of sin turns on the people of Israel and attempts to destroy them.

### Gog Is Not The Antichrist

Also, the leader of the coalition in Ezekiel, Gog, is not the same personage as Antichrist. There are a number of reasons as to why this is so.

### They Lead Different Coalitions

First, the final Antichrist is the last Gentile "world ruler" while Gog is the leader of a regional "northern coalition" of nations that will invade Israel.

### Antichrist Is Part Of The Revived Roman Empire While Gog Is From Outside The Empire

Second, the "little horn" in Daniel, the Antichrist, belongs to the revived Roman Empire in its final form. Gog, however, comes from a region that is geographically from the far north. This area is outside of the boundaries of the ancient Roman Empire.

### Gog Makes No Covenant With The Jews And Does Not Kill The Two Witnesses

Lastly, Antichrist, the coming world leader, makes a covenant with the Jews which he also breaks. Furthermore, this man of sin kills the two witnesses that the Lord sends to Israel in the last days (Revelation 11). Scripture never says that Gog is involved in any of these events.

Therefore, we can conclude that the battle described in the eleventh chapter of Daniel is a later incident—likely taking place several years after the invasion described in Ezekiel.

Furthermore, the previous context indicates that this "willful king" is as an absolute ruler. This fits with other passages in the Bible which picture a worldwide government at the time of the end (Daniel 7:23, Revelation 13:7).

The war recorded here in Daniel is seemingly a rebellion against the global leadership of the final Antichrist. This world government, that will be in power, is going to be attacked.

In sum, none of these explanations of the identity of the king of the North, or the exact timing of this skirmish, can be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, for Daniel is not that specific as to the timing of the event.

However, what it is clear is that this "willful king" will be opposed to Christ.

## Event 27 The Seventh Bowl Judgment: Worldwide Devastation (Revelation 16:17-21)

We now arrive at the last of the "bowl" judgments. With it, the judgments of the Lord will be finished. The Bible explains it in this manner:

Finally the seventh angel poured out his bowl into the air and a loud voice came out of the temple from the throne, saying: "It is done!" Then there were flashes of lightning, roaring, and crashes of thunder, and there was a tremendous earthquake—an earthquake unequaled since humanity has been on the earth, so tremendous was that earthquake. The great city was split into three parts and the cities of the nations collapsed. So Babylon the great was remembered before God, and was given the cup filled with the wine made of God's furious wrath. Every island fled away and no mountains could be found. And gigantic hailstones, weighing about a hundred pounds each, fell from heaven on people, but they blasphemed God because of the plague of hail, since it was so horrendous (Revelation 16:17-21 NET).

### Judgment Is Complete

The words "it is done," which are associated with the seventh bowl, indicate that there will be no more judgments once this one is completed. In other words, the coming kingdom of God is near at hand!

### What Is The Great City?

We are told that an earthquake of unparalleled magnitude will shake the "great city," and divide it into three parts. What city is this?

### Option 1: Babylon

Some understand this to be Babylon. In fact, the words "the great" seems to support this view.

### Option 2: Rome

There are a number of commentators who argue that this "great city" refers to Rome.

### Option 3: Jerusalem

Some understand this to be Jerusalem. There are a number of reasons given.

First, the exact words are used to describe Jerusalem earlier in Revelation:

Their corpses will lie in the street of the great city that is symbolically called Sodom and Egypt, where their Lord was also crucified (Revelation 11:8 NET).

In addition, the topographical changes described in Zechariah 14:4 also fit what is recorded here:

On that day his feet will stand on the Mount of Olives which lies to the east of Jerusalem, and the Mount of Olives will be split in half from east to west, leaving a great valley. Half the mountain will move northward and the other half southward (Zechariah 14:4 NET).

### **Babylon Is Destroyed**

It seems that this unprecedented earthquake will essentially destroy all of the cities of the world. Included in this destruction will be the ancient city of Babylon on the Euphrates River. Babylon is the special object of God's judgment. Chapters 17 and 18 describe the fall of Babylon in more detail.

In fact, the fall of Babylon is the main teaching with respect to the seventh bowl of judgment. As we have noted, it is an event that was announced earlier—Revelation 14:8—as well as being prefigured in Revelation 14:14-20.

### The Topography Of The Earth Will Be Changed

This devastating earthquake will also produce other effects. It will level mountains and cause islands to disappear. As the Flood of Noah produced global changes in the topography of the earth, so will this ruinous earthquake.

In fact, it will prepare the earth for the coming Eden-like conditions that the Old Testament prophets predicted. These perfect conditions will characterize the earth during the thousand-year reign of Jesus Christ upon the earth—the Millennium.

### The Hailstones

The Lord will also send huge hailstones as a punishment. These gigantic stones will crush many of the evil people who are still living upon the earth. We find in biblical history that hail was often used as God's instrument of divine judgment upon wicked people (Joshua 10:11, Job 38:22-23, Isaiah 28:2, Ezekiel 13:11-13).

### The Hard Hearts Of The People

Tragically, the Bible tells us that these three series of divine judgments, the seals, the trumpets, and the bowls, will not cause the evil people of the world to repent of their sins and place their faith in Christ.

On the contrary, like the Pharaoh of the Exodus, their hearts will continue to be hardened throughout all of these divine judgments.

Though the people of the earth are certainly not ignorant that the Lord Himself has sent all of these judgments, they will still continue to blaspheme His Holy name. This fact speaks volumes about the evil that is found in the human heart!

### Do These Bowl Judgments Take Place Before Christ Returns Or During His Return?

There is a debate as to whether these seven bowl judgments occur before Christ returns or during His return.

### Option 1: The Judgments Take Place During His Return

Some argue that the various bowl judgments take place during a specific forty-five-day period of time. This entire period of time, forty-five days, is also seen as the Second Coming of Christ. Those who hold this view appeal to the chronological note given in the Book of Daniel:

And from the time that the regular burnt offering is taken away and the abomination that makes desolate is set up, there shall be 1,290 days. Blessed is he who waits and arrives at the 1,335 days (Daniel 12:11,12 ESV).

The second half of Daniel's seventieth week consists of one thousand two hundred and ninety days. This will bring us to the end of the Great Tribulation period. However, according to this passage, the blessings of the reign of Jesus Christ are not enjoyed until some forty-five days later—at one thousand three hundred and thirty-five days.

Therefore, it is contended that this forty-five-day period is the period in which these final bowl judgments, associated with the Second Coming of Christ, are poured out on the earth. Consequently, that final forty-five-day period could rightly be called the Second Coming of Christ.

In this case, the one thousand two hundred and ninety days come to their completion with the appearance of the sign of the Son of Man in heaven (Matthew 24:30). After this, the judgments of Revelation 16 will follow in a forty-five-day period which will be concluded with the literal, physical descent of Christ to the earth.

### Option 2: Preparation For The Millennium

Another view is that the forty-five day period is the time of preparation for the beginning of the Millennium which will follow the Second Coming of Christ. Those who hold this view say it is wrong to describe the return of the Lord as taking place over a forty-five-day period. Indeed, it does not fit with what was said when the Lord left this world:

After he had said this, while they were watching, he was lifted up and a cloud hid him from their sight. As they were still staring into the sky while he was going, suddenly two men in white clothing stood near them and said, "Men of Galilee, why do you stand here looking up into the sky? This same Jesus who has been taken up from you into heaven will come back in the same way you saw him go into heaven" (Acts 1:9-11 NET).

When Christ returns, it will be in the same manner, as well as at the same place where He left this world—at the Mount of Olives.

The bowl judgments, therefore, describe what happens *before* Jesus Christ returns, rather than during His return. These judgments then set the stage for the return of the Lord to the earth.

This seems to be the best way to understand what is to come.

### Event 28 The Conversion Of Egypt (Isaiah 19:18,19)

One of the most amazing predictions in Scripture concerns Israel's historical enemy—Egypt. The passage reads as follows:

At that time five cities in the land of Egypt will speak the language of Canaan and swear allegiance to the Lord who commands armies. One will be called the City of the Sun. At that time there will be an altar for the Lord in the middle of the land of Egypt, as well as a sacred pillar dedicated to the Lord at its border (Isaiah 19:18,19 NET).

The Egyptians will one day turn in faith to the God of Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob!

### The Time Is Still Future

We find four different statements in this context, each introduced by the phrase "in that day." They are as follows:

In that day the Egyptians will be like women, and tremble with fear before the hand that the Lord of hosts shakes over them. . . . In that day there will be five cities in the land of Egypt that speak the language of Canaan and swear allegiance to the Lord of hosts. . . . In that day there will be an altar to the Lord in the midst of the land of Egypt, and a pillar to the Lord at its border. It will be a sign and a witness to the Lord of hosts in the land of Egypt. . . . And the Lord will make himself known to the Egyptians, and the Egyptians will know the Lord in that day and worship with sacrifice and offering, and they will make vows to the Lord and perform them (Isaiah 19:16,18,19, 23 ESV).

Most of the time, but not always, when that this phrase, "in that day," is used Scripture, it refers to the time of the end.

Furthermore, it does not refer to some specific twenty-four-hour period, but to a more general time in the future. A good English equivalent is "at that time." This is important for us to realize.

Therefore, at a particular time in the future, a series of events will take place that will forever change the situation of the people of Egypt. Indeed, those in Egypt will turn from being antagonistic to the Lord, to putting their trust in Him.

### Three Monumental Things Will Happen

Scripture speaks of three events that will take place.

First, there will be several Egyptian cities that will speak Hebrew, "the language of Canaan," as well as swear allegiance to the Lord (Isaiah 19:18). In fact, it seems that one of these five cities will actually be the home city of the cult of the sun god—Re!

Next, we are told that the Lord, the God of Israel, will be worshiped in Egypt with an "altar" in the center of the land, as well as with a "monument" on their border (Isaiah 19:19).

It is likely, that there is not merely one altar and one memorial. Instead, this "altar" and "memorial" may represent many worship centers.

If this is the case, then it would be similar to what the Bible said of Abraham and Jacob. These two patriarchs built altars and memorial pillars in various places in the Promised Land (Genesis 12:8, 28:18). In doing so, they acknowledged the presence of the Lord in their lives wherever they went.

### Egypt And Assyria Will Worship The Lord

We also discover that the Lord is not only going to deliver Egypt and Israel from the oppression of the Assyrians, but these three countries will eventually be joined together in common worship of the Lord.

Specifically, Egypt and Assyria will travel back and forth to each other's countries to worship the God of Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob. In fact, the Lord calls Egypt "my people" and Assyria "the work of My hands:"

Whom the Lord of hosts has blessed, saying, "Blessed be Egypt my people, and Assyria the work of my hands, and Israel my inheritance" (Isaiah 19:25 ESV).

Therefore, a glorious future awaits Egypt and Assyria.

## Event 29 The Final Siege And Deliverance Of Jerusalem: (Zechariah 12-14)

Jerusalem is the one city in the world where the Lord has placed His holy name. Indeed, according to Scripture, more than any city on our planet, God's program revolves around this holy city. At the time of the end, connected with the Battle of Armageddon, there will be a final attempt to once-and-for-all destroy Jerusalem and its inhabitants.

### The Lord Gathers All Nations Against Jerusalem

Zechariah the prophet records that the Lord will gather all the nations of the earth for a last battle against Jerusalem. We read:

A prophecy: The word of the LORD concerning Israel. The LORD, who stretches out the heavens, who lays the foundation of the earth, and who forms the spirit in human beings, declares: I am going to make Jerusalem a cup that sends all the surrounding peoples reeling. Judah will be besieged as well as Jerusalem. On that day, when all the nations of the earth are gathered against her, I will make Jerusalem an immovable rock for all the nations. All who try to move it will injure themselves (Zechariah 12:1-3 NIV).

There are a number of things that we learn from this passage. They include the following:

After the introduction, we learn that the deliverance of Jerusalem will come at the time of the end, "on that day." In fact, all nations are gathered against Jerusalem in this final conflict—the War, or Campaign, of Armageddon.

Described in Revelation 16:13-16, we are told that the nations will gather in the Jezreel Valley, in front of Mt. Megiddo, and will then make their way to the city of Jerusalem. Scripture says:

And they assembled them at the place that in Hebrew is called Armageddon (Revelation 16:16 ESV).

At Megiddo, the troops will muster for this march to Jerusalem.

However, their attempt to destroy the holy city will cause them to be destroyed.

Indeed, the Lord has promised that Jerusalem will be a cup that causes "reeling" and be an "immovable rock" for these nations. The imagery is that Jerusalem will be a cup of wine that will make the nations stagger in drunkenness. The psalmist used this same illustration:

You have shown your people desperate times; you have given us wine that makes us stagger (Psalm 60:3 NIV).

Jerusalem is also likened to an immovable rock that is so heavy that it will cause injury to the nations that try to lift it.

### The Lord Will Supernaturally Liberate Jerusalem

In response to the siege of the nations, the Lord will liberate Jerusalem through divine disruption of these attacking armies. We are told that God will strike every horse and rider with madness and blindness:

On that day I will strike every horse with panic and its rider with madness," declares the Lord. "I will keep a watchful eye over Judah, but I will blind all the horses of the nations. Then the clans of Judah will say in their hearts, "The people of Jerusalem are strong, because the Lord Almighty is their God' (Zechariah 12:4-5 NIV).

The inhabitants of the city will realize that the Lord is on their side.

Jerusalem, the "holy city," will not be destroyed:

On that day I will make the clans of Judah like a firepot in a woodpile, like a flaming torch among sheaves. They will consume all the surrounding peoples right and left, but Jerusalem will remain intact in her place (Zechariah 12:6 NIV).

Though surrounded and hopelessly outnumbered, the entire city will remain intact:

On that day the Lord will shield those who live in Jerusalem, so that the feeblest among them will be like David, and the house of David will be like God, like the angel of the Lord going before them. On that day I will set out to destroy all the nations that attack Jerusalem (Zechariah 12:8-9 NIV).

God's intervention on the side of Israel will result in a divine slaughter of all the armies of the nations that come against Jerusalem. The Bible emphasizes that though Israel will fight powerfully, its strength and success will actually come from the Lord God—the God of Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob.

Later in the Book of Zechariah, we read about this conflict. It says:

A day of the LORD is coming, Jerusalem, when your possessions will be plundered and divided up within your very walls. I will gather all the nations to Jerusalem to fight against it; the city will be captured, the houses ransacked, and the women ravished. Half of the city will go into exile, but the rest of the people will not be taken from the city. Then the LORD will go out and fight against those nations, as he fights on a day of battle (Zechariah 14:1-3 NIV).

Though all seems to be lost, for one last time, the Lord will supernaturally intervene and rescue Jerusalem from its enemies.

## Event 30 The National Conversion Of Israel And Great Promises For Their Future (Zechariah 14)

The Jewish nation, as well as its leadership, rejected the Messiah—Jesus of Nazareth—during His First Coming to the earth. As a result of their rejection, Christ pronounced judgment upon them. Within a generation Jerusalem and the temple were destroyed, and the people were sent into exile.

However, the Lord also gave a message of hope to the "chosen" people. The Bible says that at the time of the end, the people of Israel, as a nation, will turn to Jesus, their Messiah, for forgiveness. When this occurs, He will return to the earth.

### There Will Be A Time Of Repentance For Israel

As we saw in our previous event, there will be a final siege of Jerusalem in the "last days." This siege, or campaign of Armageddon, will take place immediately before the coming of the Lord.

At the climax of the campaign of Armageddon, when Israel's enemies are ransacking Jerusalem, Israel will turn to the Messiah Jesus in mourning. They will call for His deliverance.

Scripture says that after the physical deliverance from their enemies, (Zechariah 12:1-9), the nation of Israel will experience a spiritual deliverance (Zechariah 12:10-14). The Bible explains it this way:

And I will pour out on the house of David and the inhabitants of Jerusalem a spirit of grace and supplication. They will look on me, the one they have pierced, and they will mourn for him as one mourns for an only child, and grieve bitterly for him as one grieves for a firstborn son. On that day the weeping in Jerusalem will be as great as the weeping of Hadad Rimmon in the plain of Megiddo. The land will mourn, each clan by itself, with their wives by themselves: the clan of the house of David and their wives, the clan of the house of Nathan and their wives, the clan of the house of Levi and their wives, the clan of Shimei and their wives, and all the rest of the clans and their wives (Zechariah 12:10-14 NIV).

It is at this time, when the Lord delivers them from their physical enemies, that they will recognize Jesus as their Messiah. As a result, the people will weep and mourn.

### Zechariah 14: The Day Of The Lord: When Evening Turns Into Morning

At the time of Israel's repentance, the "dark evening" of the "day of the Lord" will be ending, with a new day about to dawn.

As we saw in a previous event (Event 4), the day of the Lord is a period of time when the Lord will pour out His judgment upon a Christ-rejecting world, followed by His return where He judges sin and then rules in righteousness. We can compare this time period to a dark evening, when judgment comes, and then the dawn of the morning, when the Lord appears.

Zechariah 14 provides us with an example where the dark evening portion of the "day of the Lord" turns into the bright morning with the mighty deliverance of the Lord.

It is here that we will also read of God's mighty faithfulness to His chosen nation, Israel, and His great promises for their future.

### From Evening To Dawn: The Promises Of Israel's Future

First, the future devastation of Jerusalem is predicted. This will be a dark time when all the nations of the world will gather against this holy city. Their enemies will capture part of Jerusalem, plunder the houses of the Jews, rape the Jewish women, and then exile half of those who survive. The Lord said:

For I will gather all the nations against Jerusalem to wage war; the city will be taken, its houses plundered, and the women raped. Then half of the city will go into exile, but the remainder of the people will not be taken away (Zechariah 14:2 NET).

However, in the midst of this crisis, the Lord will declare His own sovereign control over these horrific events. As terrible as these things will be, the nation of Israel must remember that it is the Lord who will ultimately bring about their deliverance.

In fact, after Zechariah describes the future devastation of Jerusalem, he then predicts their future deliverance (14:3-21). Included are seven distinct promises from the Lord. They include the following:

### Promise 1: The Lord Will Rescue His People

First, God promises to rescue the Jewish people from this terrible conflict in Jerusalem:

Then the Lord will go to battle and fight against those nations, just as he fought battles in ancient days. On that day his feet will stand on the Mount of Olives which lies to the east of Jerusalem, and the Mount of Olives will be split in half from east to west, leaving a great valley. Half the mountain will move northward and the other half southward. Then you will escape through my mountain valley, for the mountains will extend to Azal. Indeed, you will flee as you fled from the earthquake in the days of King Uzziah of Judah. Then the Lord my God will come with all his holy ones with him (Zechariah 14:3-5 NET).

In response to the national repentance of Israel, as well as their turning in faith to Jesus the Messiah, the Lord declares that He will fight against those nations who have attacked the "holy city." In fact, He will end the siege by Jesus' physical return to the Mount of Olives.

This will fulfill the promise given to His disciples as the Lord was ascending into heaven:

After he [Jesus] said this, he was taken up before their very eyes, and a cloud hid him from their sight: They were looking intently up into the sky as he was going, when suddenly two men dressed in white stood beside them. "Men of Galilee," they said, "why do you stand here looking into the sky? This same Jesus, who has been taken from you into heaven, will come back in the same way you have seen him go into heaven" (Acts 1:9-11 NIV).

Not only will Jesus physically return to the Mount of Olives, we are also told that this mountain will split from east to west and provide a way of escape for those who are trapped in Jerusalem.

### Promise 2: The Lord Will Remake The Areas Around Jerusalem

The Lord then promised to give some supernatural signs in the heavens as well as make some physical changes around the city of Jerusalem:

On that day there will be no light-the sources of light in the heavens will congeal. It will happen in one day (a day known to the Lord); not in the day or the night, but in the evening there will be light. Moreover, on that day living waters will flow out from Jerusalem, half of them to the eastern sea and half of them to the western sea; it will happen both in summer and in winter (Zechariah 14:6-8 NET).

There will be supernatural signs in the sky which includes an evening where there will be light.

In addition, there will be a river of living water flowing out of Jerusalem to the eastern sea, the Dead Sea, as well as to the western sea—the Mediterranean Sea. Thus, the entire land of Israel will be irrigated year-round. Droughts, therefore, will be a thing of the past.

The prophet Ezekiel also predicted that the Dead Sea would be revitalized during the time of the reign of the Messiah (Ezekiel 47:8-12).

### Promise 3: The Lord Will Reign From Jerusalem

We then have the promise that the Lord, Jesus the Messiah, will rule from Jerusalem:

The Lord will then be king over all the earth. In that day the Lord will be seen as one with a single name (Zechariah 14:9 NET).

The Lord will rule over the entire world with Jerusalem as His capital.

### Promise 4: The Lord Will Renovate The Topography Of Jerusalem

Jerusalem itself will see a geographical change:

All the land will change and become like the Arabah from Geba to Rimmon, south of Jerusalem; and Jerusalem will be raised up and will stay in its own place from the Benjamin Gate to the site of the First Gate and on to the Corner Gate, and from the Tower of Hananel to the royal winepresses. And people will settle there, and there will no longer be the threat of divine extermination-Jerusalem will dwell in security (Zechariah 14:10-11 NET).

The topography of the city will be changed. The land around Jerusalem, both to the north, Geba, as well as to the south, Rimmon, will be flattened. In contrast, Jerusalem itself will be elevated. With this change, Israel will dwell in complete security.

### Promise 5: The Lord Will Punish Those Who Oppress Jerusalem

Those who fought against Jerusalem will be punished:

But this will be the nature of the plague with which the Lord will strike all the nations that have fought against Jerusalem: Their flesh will decay while they stand on their feet, their eyes will rot away in their sockets, and their tongues will dissolve in their mouths. On that day there will be great confusion from the Lord among them; they will seize each other and attack one another violently. Moreover, Judah will fight at Jerusalem, and the wealth of all the surrounding nations will be gathered up-gold, silver, and clothing in great abundance. This is the kind of plague that will devastate horses, mules, camels, donkeys, and all the other animals in those camps (Zechariah 14:12-15 NET).

The Lord then promised to punish those who oppressed of Jerusalem with judgments of both plague and panic. In addition, their wealth will now go to the people of Judah. All of this will take place at the culmination of the battle of Armageddon.

### Promise 6: The Lord Will Establish Universal Worship In Jerusalem

Next, we find that universal worship of the Lord will be the new rule:

Then all who survive from all the nations that came to attack Jerusalem will go up annually to worship the King, the Lord who rules over all, and to observe the Feast of Tabernacles. But if any of the nations anywhere on earth refuse to go up to Jerusalem to worship the King, the Lord who rules over all, they will get no rain. If the Egyptians will not do so, they will get no rain – instead there will be the kind of plague which the Lord inflicts on any nations that do not go up to celebrate the Feast of Tabernacles. This will be the punishment of Egypt and of all nations that do not go up to celebrate the Feast of Tabernacles (Zechariah 14:16-19 NET).

Scripture tells us that a large number of Gentiles will embrace Jesus as their Savior during the Great Tribulation period. Many will survive this difficult period. These believers in Christ, the tribulation saints, will go up each year to Jerusalem to worship the King, Jesus. They will also celebrate the Feast of Booths, or Tabernacles. This will be a required festival of the earthly kingdom of Jesus.

### Promise 7: Jerusalem Shall Be A Completely "Holy City"

This last promise concerns Jerusalem. The city will become one of "complete holiness:"

On that day the bells of the horses will bear the inscription "Holy to the Lord." The cooking pots in the Lord's temple will be as holy as the bowls in front of the altar. Every cooking pot in Jerusalem and Judah will become holy in the sight of the Lord who rules over all, so that all who offer sacrifices may come and use some of them to boil their sacrifices in them. On that day there will no longer be a Canaanite in the house of the Lord who rules over all (Zechariah 14:20,21 NET).

Jerusalem will indeed be the "holy city." In other words, it will be set apart from everything that is unholy. Of the utmost importance, all people who worship the King will be holy.

These are some of the wonderful promises of God for the descendants of Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob as well as for the Holy City of Jerusalem!

### Event 31 The Banquet At The Wedding Celebration Of The Lamb (Revelation 19:6-9)

The Bible speaks of a future event known as the "marriage supper of the Lamb," or better yet, the "banquet at the wedding celebration of the Lamb." We read about this in the Book of Revelation:

Then I heard what sounded like the voice of a vast throng, like the roar of many waters and like loud crashes of thunder. They were shouting: "Hallelujah! For the Lord our God, the All-Powerful, reigns! Let us rejoice and exult and give him glory, because the wedding celebration of the Lamb has come, and his bride has made herself ready. She was permitted to be dressed in bright, clean, fine linen" (for the fine linen is the righteous deeds of the saints). Then the angel said to me, "Write the following: Blessed are those who are invited to the banquet at the wedding celebration of the Lamb!" He also said to me, "These are the true words of God" (Revelation 19:6-9 NET).

Simply put, the "banquet at the wedding celebration of the Lamb" is a future celebration of the Lord with His people.

This definition brings up a number of questions. Who are the participants? When will this event take place? How long will this celebration last? What does the Bible say about this coming event?

### Both Testaments Look Forward To This Event

In the Old Testament, we find the Lord is symbolically portrayed as the husband of Israel:

For your husband is the one who made you-the Lord who commands armies is his name. He is your protector, the Holy One of Israel. He is called "God of the entire earth" (Isaiah 54:5 NIV).

As such, He promised Israel, His wife, that a lavish banquet awaited her, as well as believing Gentiles, at a future time:

In Jerusalem, the Lord of Heaven's Armies will spread a wonderful feast for all the people of the world. It will be a delicious banquet with clear, well-aged wine and choice meat. There he will remove the cloud of gloom, the shadow of death that hangs over the earth. He will swallow up death forever! The Sovereign Lord will wipe away all tears. He will remove forever all insults and mockery against his land and people. The Lord has spoken! (Isaiah 25:6-8 NLT).

Along with the description of this banquet, we find that death will be destroyed and all tears wiped away!

### Jesus Promised The Same Banquet For Believers

We also find the Lord Jesus, on a number of occasions, promising a similar banquet to those who believe in Him. They are as follows:

### The Healing Of The Centurion's Servant

After Jesus healed a servant of a certain centurion, He spoke about Gentiles feasting with Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob in His future kingdom:

I tell you, many will come from the east and west to share the banquet with Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob in the kingdom of heaven (Matthew 8:11 NET).

This is consistent with what the Lord said in Isaiah. Gentiles, as well as Jews, will participate in this coming feast.

# The Parable Of The Wedding Banquet

On two occasions, it is recorded that Jesus gave the parable of the wedding banquet (Matthew 22:1–14, Luke 14:16–24). In this parable, the Lord pronounced judgment on the Jewish religious leaders of his day. These are the ones who rejected his invitation to become part of His kingdom.

On the other hand, the Lord then announced that the unworthy would attend the banquet instead of them. These attendees, who placed their faith in Him, would consist of the so-called "sinners" of Israel as well as the despised heathens, the Gentiles.

# The Parable Of The Ten Maidens Is Linked To The Time Of The End

The Lord also highlighted this future wedding feast in the parable of the ten virgins, or the ten maidens (Matthew 25:1–13). From this parable, we find that only those who are ready and prepared for the coming of the groom, Jesus, will accompany Him to this future wedding feast.

Furthermore, in this context, we also find that Jesus explicitly connects this "wedding banquet" with events that will follow His unexpected Second Coming to the earth. In fact, He gave this ominous warning:

Therefore stay alert, because you do not know the day or the hour (Matthew 25:13 NET).

On another occasion, He said:

You also must be ready, because the Son of Man will come at an hour when you do not expect him (Luke 12:40 NET).

Therefore, the idea of a future wedding banquet, with the Lord and His people, is something that is taught in both testaments.

# The Banquet Reveals The Intimate Nature Between The Lord And The Believers

The promise of this future wedding banquet between the Lord and His people emphasizes the personal and intimate relationship which believers experience with Him.

Indeed, in biblical times, meals were occasions for close, personal fellowship.

The Bible gives a number of examples of this.

We find that Jesus promised to the church at Laodicea that He would "share a meal with them" if they repented from their actions:

Listen! I am standing at the door and knocking! If anyone hears my voice and opens the door I will come into his home and share a meal with him, and he with me (Revelation 3:20 NET).

Those who open the door of their heart to Christ will experience this intimate fellowship with Him.

The Lord's Supper is another example of this personal type of fellowship. In fact, the celebration of the Lord's Supper becomes a preview of the eternal fellowship that believers will experience with their Lord (1 Corinthians 11:17–34).

All in all, this marriage banquet portrays a time of celebration and intimate fellowship with the King.

# The Timing Of The Event

Bible believers have different views as to the exact timing of this event. The suggestions are as follows:

# Option 1: On Earth At The Beginning Of The Millennium

This first option holds that it will take place on earth at the beginning of the Millennium—at the time of Christ's return. In other words, at His return all believers will participate in this wedding banquet.

# Option 2: Throughout The Millennium

There is also the opinion that this feast continues throughout the thousand-year-period and concludes at the end of the Millennium.

# Option 3: At The Beginning Of The Millennium And Continuing Throughout Eternity

There is also the view that this feast continues throughout all eternity.

Since the Scripture is silent as to the timing and duration of this future feast, we cannot answer these questions with certainty.

# The Contrast Between The Two Banquets

There is another banquet that we've yet to mention, the "great banquet of God." The marriage banquet of the Lamb stands in complete contrast to the "great banquet of God." This is the event where the Lord destroys His enemies at His coming and the birds consume their dead bodies:

Then I saw an angel standing in the sun, shouting to the vultures flying high in the sky: "Come! Gather together for the great banquet God has prepared. Come and eat the flesh of kings, generals, and strong warriors; of horses and their riders; and of all humanity, both free and slave, small and great"... Their entire army was killed by the sharp sword that came from the mouth of the one riding the white horse. And the vultures all gorged themselves on the dead bodies (Revelation 19:17–18, 21 NLT).

Ironically, while the people of God will revel in this wonderful banquet of the Lamb, the evil people, who have rejected the message of Jesus Christ, will themselves be the banquet for the birds of prey!

This sums up some of the main points which the Bible makes about the coming "wedding banquet of the Lamb." What a wonderful time it will be!

# Event 32 The Sign Of The Son Of Man (Matthew 24:30)

When asked about His coming back to the earth, the Lord Jesus pointed to the "sign of the Son of Man." The Bible records what He said as follows:

Immediately after the distress of those days the sun will be darkened, and the moon will not give its light; the stars will fall from the sky, and the heavenly bodies will be shaken. Then will appear the sign of the Son of Man in heaven. And then all the peoples of the earth will mourn when they see the Son of Man coming on the clouds of heaven, with power and great glory (Matthew 24:29-30 NIV).

What exactly was He referring to? What precisely is the "sign of the Son of Man?"

# This Is A Sign Of The Second Coming Of Christ

To begin with, we must understand that this is a sign of His Second Coming to the earth, it is not a sign of the rapture of the church. The Bible explains His return in this manner:

Look, he is coming with the clouds," and "every eye will see him, even those who pierced him"; and all peoples on earth "will mourn because of him." So shall it be! Amen (Revelation 1:7 NIV).

Therefore, this particular sign has to do with His physical return to the earth.

# The Various Views Of The "Sign"

So, what is *the* sign? Among Bible-believers there is debate as to whether this specific "sign" is some sort of heavenly ensign, or banner, that is seen when Christ appears, or whether the sign is actually Christ Himself.

# Option 1: The Ensign Or Banner

The Greek word that is translated as "sign" could also be rendered "ensign," "standard," or "flag." This may have some Old Testament connections with the blowing of the shofar, the ram's horn.

# The Blowing Of The Trumpet

In this context of our Lord speaking of His Second Coming, we find that the blowing of the trumpet will take place:

And he will send out his angels with the mighty blast of a trumpet, and they will gather his chosen ones from all over the world—from the farthest ends of the earth and heaven (Matthew 24:31 NLT).

When the trumpet, the shofar, was blown in ancient Israel, a banner with a crosspiece at the top was raised. An animal, usually a snake, was affixed to the banner.

# The Enemies Of Israel Are About To Be Crushed

This idea of a banner, or signal flag, is found in the writings of the prophet Isaiah, where it is connected to the "last days." We find, there, that at the "time of the end" the Lord will raise His banner as He is about to destroy the enemies of Israel:

# Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

At that time a root from Jesse will stand like a signal flag for the nations. Nations will look to him for guidance, and his residence will be majestic. At that time the sovereign master will again lift his hand to reclaim the remnant of his people from Assyria, Egypt, Pathros, Cush, Elam, Shinar, Hamath, and the seacoasts. He will lift a signal flag for the nations; he will gather Israel's dispersed people and assemble Judah's scattered people from the four corners of the earth (Isaiah 11:10-12 NET).

With this banner, or signal flag, raised, the Lord not only destroys His enemies, but He also gathers His scattered people from the four corners of the earth.

Therefore, some commentators conclude that the "sign of the Son of Man" is some type of visible sign that indicates the beginning of Jesus' return to the earth.

At His return, He will destroy the enemies of Israel, as well as regather the dispersed people of the nation from the four corners of the earth.

# Option 2: The Sign Is The Cross

Others have suggested that the sign is a cross in the sky. This would cause the people on earth to immediately recognize that it is Christ Himself who is returning to the earth. This suggestion was put forward by the early church father John Chrysostom.

# Option 3: The Sign Is Jesus Himself

A third view is that the "sign of the Son of Man" is the Son of Man Himself! This view sees the rest of the verse emphasizing that it is the coming of the Son of Man Himself that causes the mourning of the people of earth. In other words, when the world visibly sees the Lord, they see the sign.

## The Result

The appearance of this sign will cause the people of the earth to mourn. This alludes to two Old Testament passages. We read the following in the Book of Daniel:

In my vision at night I looked, and there before me was one like a son of man, coming with the clouds of heaven. He approached the Ancient of Days and was led into his presence. He was given authority, glory and sovereign power; all nations and peoples of every language worshiped him. His dominion is an everlasting dominion that will not pass away, and his kingdom is one that will never be destroyed (Daniel 7:13-15 NIV).

### We also read in Zechariah:

Then I will pour out a spirit of grace and prayer on the family of David and on the people of Jerusalem. They will look on me whom they have pierced and mourn for him as for an only son. They will grieve bitterly for him as for a firstborn son who has died (Zechariah 12:10 NLT).

In sum, the sign of the Son of Man is some type of visible sign that will appear when the Lord Jesus returns to the earth. It may be some type of banner, or the sign may simply be Christ Himself.

Whatever the case may be, when Jesus Christ returns it will be obvious to everyone on the planet!

# Event 33 The Second Coming Of Jesus Christ (Revelation 19:11-21)

The hope of Christians for the past two thousand years has been the Second Coming of Jesus Christ to the earth. In the Book of Revelation, the Scripture records His actual return. John wrote:

Then I saw heaven opened, and a white horse was standing there. Its rider was named Faithful and True, for he judges fairly and wages a righteous war. His eyes were like flames of fire, and on his head were many crowns. A name was written on him that no one understood except himself. He wore a robe dipped in blood, and his title was the Word of God. The armies of heaven, dressed in the finest of pure white linen, followed him on white horses. From his mouth came a sharp sword to strike down the nations. He will rule them with an iron rod. He will release the fierce wrath of God, the Almighty, like juice flowing from a winepress. On his robe at his thigh was written this title: King of all kings and Lord of all lords (Revelation 19:11-16 NLT).

As He returns, the first beast, the Final Antichrist, will attempt to make war with the Lord. Scripture speaks of this feeble attempt:

Then I saw the beast and the kings of the earth and their armies gathered together to make war against the rider on the horse and his army (Revelation 19:19 NIV).

All of this is in preparation for the final battle against Israel—Armageddon (Event 25 and 30).

The carnage of this battle is unimaginable. Scripture explains it this way:

So the angel swung his sickle on the earth and loaded the grapes into the great winepress of God's wrath. And the grapes were trodden in the winepress outside the city, and blood flowed from the winepress in a stream about 180 miles long and as high as a horse's bridle (Revelation 14:19-20 NLT).

Such is the punishment for those who do not place their faith in the Lord.

There are a number of other things about the Second Coming of Christ which all believers should understand. They are as follows:

# Jesus Promised To Return

To begin with, it is Jesus Himself who promised to return to earth. On the night of His betrayal, Christ said the following:

Let not your hearts be troubled. Believe in God; believe also in me. In my Father's house are many rooms. If it were not so, would I have told you that I go to prepare a place for you? And if I go and prepare a place for you, I will come again and will take you to myself, that where I am you may be also (John 14:1-3 ESV).

Since the Lord always keeps His promises, we know that someday He will return to our world.

# He Will Return Physically

It is important to note that the Second Coming of Jesus Christ is a physical return to the earth. Scripture compares it to His ascension into heaven:

# Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

And when he had said these things, as they were looking on, he was lifted up, and a cloud took him out of their sight. And while they were gazing into heaven as he went, behold, two men stood by them in white robes, and said, "Men of Galilee, why do you stand looking into heaven? This Jesus, who was taken up from you into heaven, will come in the same way as you saw him go into heaven" (Acts 1:9-11 ESV).

As Jesus physically ascended to heaven, so He will physically return to the earth.

# The Jews Must First Recognize Him As The Messiah

He will only return when the Jewish people recognize Him as the genuine Messiah.

To discover what the Bible says about Jesus' return, we first go back to statements of our Lord in the gospels when He predicted judgment against the city of Jerusalem and the Temple...

O Jerusalem, Jerusalem, who kills the prophets and stones those sent to her, how often I have longed to gather your children together, as a hen gathers her chicks under her wings, but you were unwilling! Look, your house is left to you desolate. For I tell you that you will not see Me again until you say, 'Blessed is He who comes in the name of the Lord'" (Matthew 23:37-39 BSB).

In this judgment against Jerusalem, we note that He says that their house [Temple] will be left desolate [destroyed], as He explains in the next chapter. In addition, the people won't see Him again until they recognize Him as the Messiah...

This is explained in the context of Christ's return as predicted in Zechariah, "On that day:"

So on that day I will set out to destroy all the nations that come against Jerusalem. Then I will pour out on the house of David and on the people of Jerusalem a spirit of grace and prayer, and they will look on Me, the One they have pierced. They will mourn for Him as one mourns for an only child, and grieve bitterly for Him as one grieves for a firstborn son (Zechariah 12:9.10 BSB).

This physical return of Christ to the Mount of Olives will fulfill another Old Testament prediction in Zechariah:

On that day his feet shall stand on the Mount of Olives that lies before Jerusalem on the east, and the Mount of Olives shall be split in two from east to west by a very wide valley, so that one half of the Mount shall move northward, and the other half southward (Zechariah 14:14 ESV).

Hence, whenever the Bible speaks of Christ coming again it always is a physical return that is predicted. In other words, Scripture knows no such thing of Christ merely "spiritually" returning to the earth.

# His Return Will Be Visible: Everyone In The World Will See It

Not only will Christ physically return to the earth, His Second Coming will also be visible to everyone in the world:

Look, he is coming with the clouds," and "every eye will see him, even those who pierced him"; and all peoples on earth "will mourn because of him." So shall it be! Amen (Revelation 1:7 NIV).

Jesus Himself emphasized this:

Then will appear in heaven the sign of the Son of Man, and then all the tribes of the earth will mourn, and they will see the Son of Man coming on the clouds of heaven with power and great glory (Matthew 24:30 ESV).

# Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

There is no doubt whatsoever that Scripture portrays the Lord Jesus returning to the earth both bodily and visibly.

# The Assurance That It Will Take Place

In fact, the last Book of the Bible ends with the following promise of Jesus:

He who is the faithful witness to all these things says, "Yes, I am coming soon!" Amen! Come, Lord Jesus! (Revelation 22:20 NLT).

When we put these passages together and we discover Jesus Christ will only return when He is recognized for who He truly is by the Jewish people, the Messiah, the Christ. His return will be to the Mount of Olives in the city of Jerusalem on that day.

In sum, the Second Coming of Jesus Christ to the earth is both personal and visible. This is the consistent teaching of Scripture.

# Event 34 The Messiah Will Come From Bozrah (Isaiah 63)

When Jesus Christ returns to the earth, seemingly, one of the stops He makes is in a place called Bozrah. This comes from a passage in Isaiah:

Who is this who comes from Edom, in crimsoned garments from Bozrah, he who is splendid in his apparel, marching in the greatness of his strength? "It is I, speaking in righteousness, mighty to save." Why is your apparel red, and your garments like his who treads in the winepress? "I have trodden the winepress alone, and from the peoples no one was with me; I trod them in my anger and trampled them in my wrath; their lifeblood spattered on my garments, and stained all my apparel (Isaiah 63:1-3 ESV).

There are numerous questions that arise from this passage. Among them are as follows:

Is this actually speaking of the Second Coming of Christ?

How does all of this fit the chronology of His return?

What is the meaning of the red apparel?

Where Is Bozrah?

Why is Edom mentioned?

# The Context Of Isaiah

As always, it is absolutely necessary to first examine the context of this passage in the writings of the prophet Isaiah.

# The Year Of The Lord's Favor And His Day Of Vengeance

Near the end of the Book of Isaiah there are two great passages that we need to look at when we examine this question. The first concerns the "year of the Lord's favor."

The Spirit of the Lord GOD is upon me, because the LORD has anointed me to bring good news to the poor; he has sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to those who are bound; to proclaim the year of the LORD'S favor, and the day of vengeance of our God (Isaiah 61:1-2 ESV).

Recall that this was the passage that Jesus read at a synagogue in Nazareth when He was handed a scroll of Isaiah:

And he came to Nazareth, where he had been brought up. And as was his custom, he went to the synagogue on the Sabbath day, and he stood up to read. And the scroll of the prophet Isaiah was given to him. He unrolled the scroll and found the place where it was written,

"The Spirit of the Lord is upon me, because he has anointed me to proclaim good news to the poor. He has sent me to proclaim liberty to the captives and recovering of sight to the blind, to set at liberty those who are oppressed, to proclaim the year of the Lord's favor." And he rolled up the scroll and gave it back to the attendant and sat down. And the eyes of all in the synagogue were fixed on him. And he began to say to them, "Today this Scripture has been fulfilled in your hearing" (Luke 4:16-20 ESV).

The eyes of the people in the synagogue were fixed upon the Lord Jesus because he stopped reading this passage in the middle of a sentence. He did not read the phrase "and the day of vengeance of our God" (Isaiah 61:2)

The reason for this was the purpose of His First Coming. He would later explain it as follows:

For the Son of Man came to seek and to save the lost" (Luke 19:10 ESV).

Jesus came into our world to save those who were lost, everyone! He did not come to bring vengeance upon those who had rejected the Lord, the God of the Bible.

# The Coming Of The Divine Warrior

However, in this passage in Isaiah 63, we find the predicted fulfillment of the second part of Isaiah 61, namely, the day of vengeance of our God! This will come about with the appearance of the "divine warrior."

As many commentators have noted, this is one of the most powerful passages in all of Scripture! Indeed, the arrival of the "divine warrior" is the arrival of the Messiah, who comes to the earth in judgment.

# The Background

The Moody Bible Commentary explains the background of this passage:

The Messiah will deliver Israel, not only by restoration of the nation but by judgment of the enemies of Israel. The backdrop is the future tribulation, when Israel will flee to the wilderness to escape the attack of the future world ruler, also known as the Antichrist (see Ezekiel 20:34-36; Revelation 12:6). Likely, the place in the wilderness is in Edom (modern Jordan) in the city of Bozrah (Petra; see Isaiah 34:5-17 for evidence to support this). The nations will pursue Israel there leading to a bloody war (previously depicted in 34:1-7). God is once again depicted as a conquering hero covered in the blood of those He has trampled in the winepress of His wrath (63:1-3). Not only did Isaiah previously draw this picture in Is 34, but the book of Revelation draws it as well (cf. Revelation 14:19-20; 19:13-15).

These passages identify Jesus the Messiah as the One coming in judgment of the enemies of Israel. From the above passages, it appears that Jesus returns to Bozrah at the end of the tribulation to deliver Israel. Having defeated the nations that attacked Israel in the wilderness, the Messiah will then lead them to Jerusalem (Micah 2:12-13), where His feet will stand on the Mount of Olives, and deliver besieged Jerusalem (Zechariah 14:3-4). God has acted alone because no one else was willing to take up the cause of beleaguered Israel (Isaiah 63:4-5). The destruction of the nations will come through the singular activity of the Son of God (verses 5-6; cf. Psalm 110:5-7) (Moody Online Bible Commentary, Isaiah).

We should note that, at times, Edom is used symbolically to refer to all of the unbelieving nations:

This is the same nation that was used to represent God's enemies in 34:5 (cf. Psalm 137:7; Ezekiel 35:1-15; Amos 1:11-12). In addition, the area named Edom ('edom ... and the reddened ('adom (cf. 63:2) ... garments provide a striking wordplay. Where better to get "reddened" garments than in the "red" land? (The Cornerstone Bible Commentary)

## Israel Flees Into The Wilderness

Recall that during this last seven-year period, known as the time of Jacob's trouble, or the 70th week of Daniel, Israel will flee into the wilderness to escape the attack of the future world ruler, the Final Antichrist. We read the following in the Book of Revelation:

# Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

... and the woman fled into the wilderness, where she has a place prepared by God, in which she is to be nourished for 1,260 days (Revelation 12:6 ESV).

The woman, in this passage, is symbolic of Israel. The people are supernaturally protected by the Lord for a period of time.

Some see a passage of Ezekiel predicting this very thing:

I will bring you out from the peoples and gather you out of the countries where you are scattered, with a mighty hand and an outstretched arm, and with wrath poured out. And I will bring you into the wilderness of the peoples, and there I will enter into judgment with you face to face. As I entered into judgment with your fathers in the wilderness of the land of Egypt, so I will enter into judgment with you, declares the Lord GOD (Ezekiel 20:34-36 ESV).

Whatever the case may be, there are a number of commentators who link this passage in Isaiah 63 with Revelation 12.

In other words, the Lord comes to Bozrah to bring these protected Jews back to Israel. In doing so, two things will be accomplished.

First, it will restore the people of the nation of Israel to their Promised Land at the time of the end. Second, it will be a time when the Lord judges those nations that are enemies of the Lord.

Accordingly, we find that the Lord is once again portrayed as a conquering hero. In this instance, He is covered in the blood of those whom He has trampled in the winepress of His wrath.

Not only did Isaiah give this illustration in chapter 34, but we also discover the Book of Revelation highlighting it as well (Revelation 14:19-20; 19:13-15).

# The Messiah, Jesus, Delivers Israel

Therefore, these passages identify Jesus the Messiah as the One coming to the enemies of Israel in judgment. From the above passages, it appears that Jesus returns to the location of Bozrah at the end of the tribulation period to deliver the beleaguered nation of Israel.

Having defeated the nations that attacked Israel in the wilderness, the Messiah will then lead them to Jerusalem (Micah 2:12-13), where His feet will stand on the Mount of Olives. He will then deliver besieged city of Jerusalem (Zechariah 14:3-4).

We should not miss the fact that it will be the Lord God alone doing this. Indeed, no one else will be willing to take up the cause of threatened nation of Israel (Isaiah 63:4-5). Therefore, the destruction of these nations will come through the singular work of the Son of God and Him alone.

# Summary

Isaiah records a mysterious figure coming from a place called Bozrah with blood-stained garments. From an examination of the totality of Scripture, we discover that this is referring to God the Son, the Lord Jesus Christ, in His return to the earth. The blood is not His but rather that of His enemies. It signifies His victory and their defeat.

# Event 35 Satan Is Bound For A Thousand Years (Revelation 20)

When the Lord Jesus returns to the earth, one of the things that will take place is the binding of Satan. Scripture explains it this way:

And I saw an angel coming down out of heaven, having the key to the Abyss and holding in his hand a great chain. He seized the dragon, that ancient serpent, who is the devil, or Satan, and bound him for a thousand years. He threw him into the Abyss, and locked and sealed it over him, to keep him from deceiving the nations anymore until the thousand years were ended. After that, he must be set free for a short time (Revelation 20:1-4 NIV).

There are a number of things that we learn from this passage.

# God Sends An Angel To Seize The Devil

The Bible says that angels are created beings, messengers that the Lord uses in His service:

Of the angels he says, "He makes his angels winds, and his ministers a flame of fire"... And to which of the angels has he ever said, "Sit at my right hand until I make your enemies a footstool for your feet"? Are they not all ministering spirits sent out to serve for the sake of those who are to inherit salvation? (Hebrews 1:7,13,14 ESV).

Satan, on the other hand, was an anointed cherub. His authority was higher than that of the angels. However, when he rebelled against God, his destiny was forever sealed.

# The Devil Is Bound In The Abyss

In contrast to the two evil human personages—the beast and the false prophet—the devil will not be thrown into the lake of fire at this time. Instead he will be imprisoned in the "abyss." There is no way for him to escape from this "bottomless pit."

# He Will Not Be Able To Deceive The Nations

While in prison, Satan will have no ability to deceive the people of the earth. He is kept from having any influence whatsoever.

# There Is A Fixed Time To His Imprisonment

It will be for one thousand years that this evil being, the devil, will be kept in prison. Therefore, for this time frame, it will be impossible for him to escape or to have any influence over those living upon the earth.

# There Will Be A Short Time When He Is Set Free

Finally, his imprisonment in the bottomless pit will end. Instead of being sent to the lake of fire, as was the destiny of the beast and the false prophet, the devil will be set free for a short period of time. Scripture says that this release is "necessary."

Why is this necessary? We will examine this question later as we look at other coming events which the Bible predicts will take place.

# Event 36 The Judgment Upon The Beast And The False Prophet (Revelation 19:20)

In the last days, Scripture tells us that there will be two human beings, the beast and the false prophet, who will bring massive devastation upon the world during the time of the Great Tribulation. The Bible says that they will be punished when the Lord returns:

Now the beast was seized, and along with him the false prophet who had performed the signs on his behalf—signs by which he deceived those who had received the mark of the beast and those who worshiped his image. Both of them were thrown alive into the lake of fire burning with sulfur (Revelation 19:20 NET).

The end to the beast, the final Antichrist, was predicted long ago. We first read about it in Daniel. It says:

I looked then because of the sound of the great words that the horn was speaking. And as I looked, the beast was killed, and its body destroyed and given over to be burned with fire (Daniel 7:11 ESV).

# The Beast Attempts To Fight The Lord Himself

The beast foolishly attempts to fight the Lord Jesus, the rider on the horse, as He returns to the earth with His saints. The Book of Revelation explains it this way:

And I saw the beast and the kings of the earth with their armies gathered to make war against him who was sitting on the horse and against his army (Revelation 19:19 ESV).

As can be imagined, this will be a one-sided battle.

His end is also recorded in the book of Revelation. The Bible says the following about his demise:

Now the beast was seized, and along with him the false prophet who had performed the signs on his behalf signs by which he deceived those who had received the mark of the beast and those who worshiped his image. Both of them were thrown alive into the lake of fire burning with sulfur (Revelation 19:20 NET).

There is an important thing that we should observe about this punishment.

# The Lake Of Fire Is Not Annihilation

This "lake of fire" will not annihilate the beast or the false prophet. Indeed, one thousand years later, when the devil is thrown into the lake of fire, the beast and the false prophet are still there:

And the devil, who deceived them, was thrown into the lake of burning sulfur, where the beast and the false prophet had been thrown. They will be tormented day and night for ever and ever (Revelation 20:10 NIV).

While the beast, who is the final Antichrist, and the false prophet are still in the lake of fire after one thousand years, they have not been annihilated. Indeed, we should note that the Bible says that "they" will be tormented day and night forever. In other words, when Satan is thrown into this same fiery lake, the beast and the false prophet have already been tormented; and, along with the devil, they will continue to be tormented forever. Such is the inglorious future for these three personages.

# Event 37 The Judgment Of The Nations (Matthew 25:31-46)

When Jesus Christ returns to the earth at His Second Coming, He will return in judgment. Jesus Himself spoke of this coming judgment as He concluded His last discourse to His disciples. His words are recorded in Matthew 25:31-46. They read, in part, as follows:

When the Son of Man comes in his glory, and all the angels with him, then he will sit on his glorious throne. Before him will be gathered all the nations, and he will separate people one from another as a shepherd separates the sheep from the goats. And he will place the sheep on his right, but the goats on the left. Then the King will say to those on his right, 'Come, you who are blessed by my Father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world.' . . . Then he will say to those on his left, 'Depart from me, you cursed, into the eternal fire prepared for the devil and his angels. And these will go away into eternal punishment, but the righteous into eternal life (Matthew 25:31-34,41,46 ESV).

From the Scripture, we read that the kingdom awaits the righteous while punishment is the destiny of the unbeliever.

The Apostle Paul also taught this truth—Jesus will judge humanity when He returns. He wrote the following words to the Thessalonians:

And God will provide rest for you who are being persecuted and also for us when the Lord Jesus appears from heaven. He will come with his mighty angels, in flaming fire, bringing judgment on those who don't know God and on those who refuse to obey the Good News of our Lord Jesus. They will be punished with everlasting destruction, forever separated from the Lord and from his glorious power (2 Thessalonians 1:7-9 NLT).

The Second Coming of Jesus Christ will be a time of relief, or rest, for believers, and vengeance upon unbelievers. Scripture makes this clear.

This brings up a number of important issues. Whom will Jesus Christ judge when He returns to the earth? Who will enter His promised kingdom?

## The Premillennial View Of The Future

We will answer this question according to the premillennial view of the "things to come." After stating the premillennial view, we will summarize other views of these judgments. Put simply, the premillennial view is as follows.

There will be a literal one thousand-year reign of Jesus Christ upon the earth after His Second Coming to our world. Therefore, we find that Jesus returns to earth, "pre," or before, the thousand-year reign, the Millennium, begins. Millennium is the Latin word for "thousand."

In other words, the return of Christ to the earth does not begin the eternal state for humanity. Instead, there will be an intermediate earthly kingdom that will last a thousand years. During this interval, Jesus will rule and reign upon the earth. After the thousand years is over, then the eternal state will begin.

# The Lord Will Rule From Jerusalem

When Jesus does return, He will fulfill a number of specific promises contained in the Old Testament. For example, Jesus, as the Messiah, will set up an earthly kingdom where He will rule from the city of Jerusalem.

We read the following in the Book of Isaiah:

This is what Isaiah son of Amoz saw concerning Judah and Jerusalem: In the last days the mountain of the Lord 's temple will be established as the highest of the mountains; it will be exalted above the hills, and all nations will stream to it. Many peoples will come and say, "Come, let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the temple of the God of Jacob. He will teach us his ways, so that we may walk in his paths." The law will go out from Zion, the word of the Lord from Jerusalem. He will judge between the nations and will settle disputes for many peoples. They will beat their swords into plowshares and their spears into pruning hooks. Nation will not take up sword against nation, nor will they train for war anymore (Isaiah 2:1-5 NIV).

This is similar to a number of promises made to the nation of Israel. The Lord will rule in righteousness for one thousand years with Jerusalem as His headquarters.

# The Last Judgment

At the end of this thousand-year reign of the Messiah, there will be the Last Judgment. At that time, all the unbelieving dead who have ever lived will be judged.

After this event occurs, the Lord will create a new heaven and new earth. This will be inhabited by believers only. For all eternity, believers will enjoy the wonder of His presence! This sums up the premillennial view of future events.

# Who Will Be Judged When Christ Returns According To The Premillennial View?

According to the premillennial view, there will be four separate groups of people whom the Lord will judge when He returns to the earth.

- 1. Those Living From The Nation Israel
- 2. The Gentile Nations
- 3. The Old Testament Saints
- 4. The Tribulation Saints

The church, the body of Christ, will have already been judged and rewarded before Jesus returns to the earth. This takes place at the "judgment seat of Christ," also called the "judgment seat of God" (see Event 3). These believers will return with Christ at His Second Coming and will rule and reign with Him during His earthly kingdom and beyond.

The Bible has the following to say about those who will be judged at His Second Coming.

# Group 1 The Living From Israel

When Jesus Christ returns to the earth in triumph, He will judge those from the nation of Israel who have survived the Great Tribulation. This judgment is described in Ezekiel:

With might and fury I will bring you out from the lands where you are scattered. I will bring you into the wilderness of the nations, and there I will judge you face to face. I will judge you there just as I did your ancestors in the wilderness after bringing them out of Egypt, says the Sovereign LORD. I will count you carefully and hold you to the terms of the covenant. I will purge you of all those who rebel and sin against me. I will bring them out of the countries where they are in exile, but they will never enter the land of Israel. And when that happens, you will know that I am the LORD (Ezekiel 20:34-38 NLT).

This judgment will purge out the rebels from among the nation. The non-rebellious will be the ones entering the kingdom.

Jesus also illustrated this judgment in Matthew 25:1-30 in the parables of the ten maidens and the ten talents. This judgment will be a separation of the "saved and the lost" of those from Israel. We can note the following:

# A. They Will Be Regathered From All Over The World

These survivors of the Great Tribulation will be re-gathered from all over the world to the land of Israel. This will follow the victory of Christ over His enemies at the War, or campaign, of Armageddon.

# B. The Purpose Of This Judgment: To Determine Whom Will Enter The Kingdom

Jesus will cause them to "pass under my rod." The purpose is to determine which individuals will enter God's kingdom upon the earth—the Millennium. The righteous from Israel—those who have put their trust in Christ—will enter the kingdom of God. They will experience the long-promised blessings that God has given to that nation. These believers will enter into the millennial kingdom with earthly bodies, not resurrected or glorified bodies.

# C. The Unrighteous Will Be Sent Away

However, not everyone will enter the kingdom. The unrighteous from the nation will be purged from the righteous and sent away to punishment. Jesus illustrated this truth in the parable of the talents. He said:

And throw this good-for-nothing servant into the outer darkness, where there will be weeping and gnashing of teeth (Matthew 25:30 CSB).

They will be banished from the presence of God.

# D. They Will Await Final Judgment

Although the Scripture does not say, it seems that these people will probably be put to death at that time. Their final judgment does not take place on this occasion. It will most-likely occur after the Millennium—the thousand-year reign of Jesus Christ upon the earth. They, along will all other unbelievers which have ever lived, will be judged and punished at that time.

This briefly sums up what will happen to those from the nation of Israel when Jesus Christ returns. There is a judgment as well as a punishment waiting for them.

# GROUP 2 The Living Gentile Nations Are Judged

Jesus spoke of judging the living Gentile (non-Jewish) nations at His Second Coming. Matthew records Jesus saying the following:

When the Son of Man comes in his glory with all of his angels, he will sit on his royal throne. The people of all nations will be brought before him, and he will separate them, as shepherds separate their sheep from their goats (Matthew 25:31,32 CEV).

Individuals from all the nations will be gathered for judgment at that time.

# Those Surviving The Great Tribulation Will Be Judged

These Gentiles are people who are still upon the earth at the end of the Great Tribulation period—the seventieth week of Daniel. This "seventieth week of Daniel" refers to the final seven-year period which the earth will experience before the return of Christ.

These particular Gentiles are the living, not the dead. The dead will be raised for the purpose of judgment in the future. The prophet Isaiah wrote of these people from the Gentile nations in the following manner:

To the LORD, all nations are merely a drop in a bucket or dust on balance scales; all of the islands are but a handful of sand. The cattle on Lebanon's mountains would not be enough to offer as a sacrifice to God, and the trees would not be enough for the fire. God thinks of the nations as far less than nothing (Isaiah 40:15-17 CEV).

Everyone who survives this terrible time of tribulation will be judged.

# The Place Is Stated: Jerusalem

They will be brought to the city of Jerusalem and judged in the valley of Jehoshaphat. We read in the Book of Joel:

"At that time, when I restore the prosperity of Judah and Jerusalem," says the LORD, "I will gather the armies of the world into the valley of Jehoshaphat. There I will judge them for harming my people, for scattering my inheritance among the nations, and for dividing up my land. They cast lots to decide which of my people would be their slaves. They traded young boys for prostitutes and little girls for enough wine to get drunk" (Joel 3:1-3 NLT).

The site of their judgment is certainly appropriate. The city of Jerusalem, the place where Jesus took the penalty of the sins of the world upon Himself at the cross of Calvary, will be the place of God's judgment.

# Individuals Will Be Judged

While the judgment of these Gentiles is called "the judgment of the nations," it is individuals that will be judged. Many passages speak of this "judgment of nations" as being specific to individuals when Christ returns; some are listed below.

In the parable of the wheat and the weeds Jesus put it this way:

Let both grow together until the harvest. Then I will tell the harvesters to sort out the weeds and burn them and to put the wheat in the barn (Matthew 13:30 NLT).

Individual judgment is also illustrated in Jesus' parable of the good and the bad fish.

Matthew records Jesus saying the following:

Once again, the kingdom of heaven is like a net that was let down into the lake and caught all kinds of fish. When it was full, the fishermen pulled it up on the shore. Then they sat down and collected the good fish in baskets, but threw the bad away. This is how it will be at the end of the age. The angels will come and separate the wicked from the righteous and throw them into the blazing furnace, where there will be weeping and gnashing of teeth (Matthew 13:47-50 NIV)

Each person, from every Gentile nation, will be answerable to God.

# The Righteous Enter The Kingdom: Unbelievers Are Sent Away

The righteous will enter into God's millennial kingdom while the unrighteous will be taken away to judgment. These Gentile unbelievers will be sent to the lake of fire. The King in Jesus' parable declared the following:

Then the king will say to those on his left, 'Get away from me! God has cursed you! Go into everlasting fire that was prepared for the devil and his angels' (Matthew 25:41 God's Word).

It is not clear if these Gentile unbelievers are immediately sent to the lake of fire or not. Some think these unbelievers are killed at this point, raised later at the Great White Throne judgment, and then sent to the lake of fire.

It could be argued that this is their final judgment so they do not have to appear at the Great White Throne judgment. Therefore, they are immediately thrown into the lake of fire. There is not enough information to be certain.

# Group 3: The Tribulation Saints

Along with these other two groups, there will be people who will put their faith in Jesus Christ during the Great Tribulation period—many of them will be killed. When Christ returns, those who became believers and were killed during this specific period of time, will also be judged. They will be raised from the dead in a resurrected, glorified body, receive rewards, and will enter into the kingdom of God.

In the Book of Revelation, we read the following:

I saw thrones, and those who sat on them were allowed to judge. Then I saw the souls of those whose heads had been cut off because of their testimony about Jesus and because of the word of God. They had not worshiped the beast or its statue and were not branded on their foreheads or hands. They lived and ruled with Christ for 1,000 years. The rest of the dead did not live until the 1,000 years ended (Revelation 20:4-6 God's Word).

These "souls" are the people who have been beheaded for the testimony of Jesus. They are in a different category from other believers, such as the New Testament church and the Old Testament saints.

# Group 4 The Old Testament Saints

There will also be a judgment of the Old Testament saints. This refers to people who lived during the Old Testament period and trusted the Lord— the God of Israel. They will be raised from the dead and judged. Daniel wrote:

Many of those who lie dead in the ground will rise from death. Some of them will be given eternal life, and others will receive nothing but eternal shame and disgrace (Daniel 12:2 CEV).

While Daniel speaks of both the saved and the lost being raised, it seems that only the Old Testament saints are raised at this time. The unbelievers from the Old Testament period will be raised and judged at the Great White Throne judgment.

The promise of judgment found here in the Book of Daniel is only a general statement of judgment for the saved and the lost. In other words, he does not specify if they are judged together or separate.

Jesus also spoke of this judgment. Matthew records Him saying:

For I, the Son of Man, will come in the glory of my Father with his angels and will judge all people according to their deeds (Matthew 16:27 NLT).

These believers, who lived during the Old Testament period, will experience God's rewards.

### There Are Those Who Have A Different View

It is important to note that this view of the judgment to come is not shared by every Bible-believer. We need to make the following observations about other perspectives.

# Not Everyone Believes In A Separate Judgment

Not every Christian believes in a separate judgment of the nations from the Great White Throne judgment. They see only one final judgment at the end of time. In other words, there will be a "Judgment Day." Everything will take place on this one particular day.

# Not All Agree On The Existence Of A Literal Millennium

Those who hold the view of only one final judgment are not in agreement with respect to the existence of the subject of the Millennium—the thousand-year rule of Jesus Christ upon the earth. Some believe that a literal Millennium will occur while others do not. The views can be simply stated as follows:

# View 1: There Is One General Judgment When Christ Returns

There are many Christians who do not believe in a literal Millennium. They see only one general resurrection at the time of the Second Coming of Christ. All people who have ever been born, both the righteous and unrighteous, will be raised and then judged at this final judgment. There will be no separate judgment of the saved and the lost. In other words, there will be no intermediate earthly kingdom upon the return of Christ. Eternity will begin immediately after the "day of judgment."

# View 2: There Is One General Judgment After A Literal Millennium

There are others who do believe in a literal Millennium, but see only one judgment at the end of this thousand-year period. They believe that there will be no judgment before Christ comes or even when He comes again. It is only *after* the thousand-year period of the Millennium that everyone, from the beginning of time, will be judged.

# All Believers Agree That All Humanity Will Be Judged By God

Regardless of these different views, all Christians agree that everyone, both the righteous and unrighteous, will be judged by God in the future. The righteous will go away into eternal life while the unrighteous will be eternally separated from God. The only difference among Bible-believers is the timing of these judgments—not the fact of these judgments. The coming judgment is certain!

# Implications For The Timing Of The Rapture Of The Church

Although the specific question of whether Jesus Christ will come for His church before the tribulation—the pre-tribulational view—or at the time of His Second Coming to earth—the post-tribulational view—is not dealt with in this passage, the implications are clearly in favor of the pre-tribulational viewpoint.

If the rapture of the church occurs while Christ is coming from heaven to earth at His Second Coming to set up His kingdom, and the church meets the Lord in the air, it is obvious that this very act would separate all the saved from the unsaved.

Under these circumstances, no judgment of the nations would be necessary subsequent to the Second Coming of Christ, because the sheep and the goats would already be separated.

This sums up the various judgments which are to come.

# Event 38: The Restoration Of Israel (Isaiah 11:11,12, Matthew 24:30,31)

In our previous volume, 25 Signs We Are Near the End, we mentioned that the return of the nation Israel to their land in the "last days" would be accomplished in two stages. The first has already taken place when the modern state of Israel was formed in 1948.

However, there will be a second phase to this return which will take place after the Second Coming of Jesus Christ.

Indeed, the people from the nation of Israel will be completely restored to their ancient homeland after the Lord Jesus comes again. The evidence is found in a passage in Isaiah:

In that day the Lord will reach out his hand a second time to reclaim the surviving remnant of his people from Assyria, from Lower Egypt, from Upper Egypt, from Cush, from Elam, from Babylonia, from Hamath and from the islands of the Mediterranean. He will raise a banner for the nations and gather the exiles of Israel; he will assemble the scattered people of Judah from the four quarters of the earth (Isaiah 11:11,12, NIV).

The New Testament also records this miraculous event:

Then the sign of the Son of Man will appear in heaven, and all the tribes of the earth will mourn. They will see the Son of Man arriving on the clouds of heaven with power and great glory. And he will send his angels with a loud trumpet blast, and they will gather his elect from the four winds, from one end of heaven to the other (Matthew 24:30,31 NET).

The Lord, as always, will be true to His promises—the promises made to Abraham, Isaac and Jacob, will be fulfilled. Their descendants will live in the Land of Promise with its well-defined borders. All the nations of the world will come to Jerusalem—the city of the Great King.

# The Chronology

Simply stated, the chronology of these coming events is as follows:

First, there is the return of Israel to their ancestral homeland. This has already been accomplished.

Next, the final seven-year period of the Great Tribulation. This is also known as the "Seventieth week of Daniel" and the "Time of Jacob's trouble."

Then, during the last part of this Great Tribulation period, Israel will experience the final siege of Jerusalem. When everything seems to be lost, the Lord will then intervene for His people.

The people of Israel will then repent of their sin of rejecting Jesus as the Messiah.

Christ then returns to the Mount of Olives in the city of Jerusalem.

The Lord then gathers the remnant of His people from the four corners of the earth.

According to Scripture, this is the future that awaits the descendants of Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob.

# Event 39 The Restitution Of All Things (Matthew 19:28, Acts 3:19-21)

Scripture speaks of a time when all things will be restored. Indeed, one of the great promises of the Bible is the "restitution of all things."

Jesus spoke of a time when all things will be "renewed:"

Jesus said to them, "I tell you the truth: In the age when all things are renewed, when the Son of Man sits on his glorious throne, you who have followed me will also sit on twelve thrones, judging the twelve tribes of Israel" (Matthew 19:28 NET).

Peter also spoke to the crowd about this coming event:

Therefore repent and turn back so that your sins may be wiped out, so that times of refreshing may come from the presence of the Lord, and so that he may send the Messiah appointed for you - that is, Jesus. This one heaven must receive until the time all things are restored, which God declared from times long ago through his holy prophets (Acts 3:19-21 NET).

He called it "the times of refreshing."

## What Is The Idea Behind These Promises?

Simply stated, this will be the fulfillment of the finished purposes of God which began in the Garden of Eden. While disobedience brought sin and death, as well as separation from God, there will come a time when the results of the Fall will be overturned. In other words, everything will be restored to the Lord's original design. The earth and its inhabitants will undergo a blessed change!

From these two passages, we discover the following eight truths:

# 1. There Will Be A Time Of Restoring

According to the words of Jesus and Peter, there will be a definite time when everything is restored. This refers to bringing things back from a state of disorder and decay to a state of restoration and order.

## 2. It Will Extend To All Parts of Creation

This restoration will extend to all parts of creation where the disorder has been felt. This includes the physical restoration as well as the spiritual restoration of all things.

# 3. The Restoration Has Been A Theme Of The Prophets From The Very Beginning

Immediately after humanity fell into sin and the earth was cursed, God spoke through His prophets about a time when all things would be restored to their original perfection. In other words, it is a continual and constant theme of Scripture.

# 4. It Will Take Place At The Return Of Jesus

It is when Jesus Christ returns to the earth that this restoration will occur.

As Peter wrote, Jesus was "appointed beforehand" as the Messiah to the Jews. Though rejected and crucified, He has risen from the dead and proceeded into heaven.

# 5. The Regeneration Cannot Take Place Before His Return

This leads us to the next point. Peter stated that it is necessary that the Lord would "remain in heaven" *until* the time arrives for the restoring of all things. When that time comes, then God the Father will send Him back to the earth.

# 6. It Is A Time Of Refreshing For Israel

This period of restoration is associated with the time of "refreshing" which will come upon the nation of Israel. The nation will be brought to spiritual life again after years in decline.

# 7. The Times Are Based Upon Their National Repentance

Before this time of refreshing can occur, there must be a national repentance of the nation. Indeed, they must recognize their national crime of killing their Messiah. This confession will take away their sins which will lead the way for the return of Christ and the times of refreshing.

# 8. When Israel Repents, Christ Will Return

Finally, and most importantly, it is only when this national repentance takes place that the Messiah—Jesus—will return to the earth. At that time, every vestige of the original curse will be removed. "All things" will be made new!

This sums up the promises of Scripture as to the future of our planet as well as to the people who have trusted in the God of the Bible. The "restoration of all things" is indeed coming!

# Event 40

# The Beginning Of The Millennium (Revelation 20:4-6)

After the Lord returns, and judges those who are still alive upon the earth, the one-thousand-year kingdom age will begin. This is known as "the Millennium," which is Latin for "one thousand." Scripture explains this period as follows:

I saw thrones on which were seated those who had been given authority to judge. And I saw the souls of those who had been beheaded because of their testimony about Jesus and because of the word of God. They had not worshiped the beast or its image and had not received its mark on their foreheads or their hands. They came to life and reigned with Christ a thousand years. (The rest of the dead did not come to life until the thousand years were ended.) This is the first resurrection. Blessed and holy are those who share in the first resurrection. The second death has no power over them, but they will be priests of God and of Christ and will reign with him for a thousand years (Revelation 20:4-6 NIV).

These verses bring up a number of questions.

# How Should This Passage Be Interpreted?

Bible-believing Christians are not in agreement as to how to interpret this passage. Basically, there are three ways in which it is viewed.

# Amillennialists: There Is No Literal Millennium

There are those who hold to an "amillennial" point of view. Basically, they interpret this passage about the Millennium figuratively. In other words, the term "one thousand years" does not correspond to any specific era of one thousand literal years. Within the amillennial belief system, there are differences of opinion as to what exactly this refers to.

Some teach that it denotes the rule of Christ in the hearts of His people who are presently living upon earth. Thus, it is argued that the Millennium of Revelation Chapter 20 is not a perfect state. In contrast to this, the future Messianic kingdom is a perfect state. Therefore, the Millennium of Chapter 20 cannot be the future Messianic kingdom, rather it refers to this present age.

Other amillennialists teach that the Millennium of Revelation 20 refers to the rule of Christ over His people "in heaven" throughout eternity.

In sum, whatever their specific interpretation of the thousand years is, all amillennialists agree that Revelation 20 is not speaking of a literal intermediate kingdom that will take place upon the earth.

# Postmillennialists

Postmillennialists believe that the return of Jesus Christ will occur *after* the Millennium. As is true with the amillennialists, there are a number of differences among those who hold this viewpoint.

Some postmillennialists believe we should interpret the thousand-year reign of Christ, as recorded in Revelation 20, as figuratively. In other words, it refers to the present age in which we live.

Other postmillennialists believe that the Millennium is a literal one thousand-year period of worldwide peace that is yet future. Yet they believe that this will take place *before* the return of Christ. After this period is over then the Second Coming of Christ will take place.

Postmillennialism has not been very popular since the First World War. Indeed, after the war it has become increasingly clear to most people that the world is not getting better and better but rather worse and worse. While there has certainly been progress in many areas of our existence, it is clear to anyone who is paying attention that worldwide peace, as well as the other conditions of the Millennium that the Old Testament prophets described, will never occur without the direct help of the Lord.

The fact that Postmillennialism teaches that world peace, as well as the predicted biblical conditions of the Millennium upon the earth, will take place *before* the Second Coming of Christ, makes it an unrealistic option.

### Premillennialism

Premillennialists interpret these verses in Revelation 20 literally. They see it as a description of events that will proceed chronologically. In other words, the Second Coming of Christ will precede His literal earthly millennial reign.

# The Phrase "A Thousand Years" Is Used Six Times In Revelation 20

In Revelation 20, the Greek phrase translated as "a thousand years" occurs six times (verses 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7). Since God revealed that certain events will occur both before and after the thousand-year reign of Christ, we should interpret this number literally.

In point of fact, John specifically located this reign as yet future in this verse. This is a strong argument against interpreting it simply as Christ's present reign in human hearts, or His future reign throughout eternity, as many amillennialists do.

Among those who hold the premillennial view, there are basically two main positions. Historic premillennialists, who are also known as Covenant premillennialists, hold that the Lord will fulfill His promises to Abraham through the "spiritual seed" of Abraham. This includes both Old Testament Israel as well as the New Testament church.

On the other hand, Dispensational premillennialists believe that the Lord will fulfill His promises to Abraham through his physical seed—the literal offspring of Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob.

The earthly reign of Christ will be the literal fulfillment of many Old Testament prophecies. God promised King David that one of his descendants would reign over the nation of Israel forever (2 Samuel 7:10-16).

Dispensationalists believe that this reign will begin after Christ returns to the earth, at His Second Coming. His rule will continue throughout the Millennium, as well as forever into eternity. Since the kingdom of David, and his successors, ruled in an earthly kingdom, the future fulfillment of the promised Davidic kingdom will also take place on the earth.

# Progressive Dispensationalists

Progressive dispensationalists have a different viewpoint. They believe that the rule of Jesus as the successor of David began when He ascended into heaven, after His resurrection from the dead. This rule moves from heaven to earth at the time of His Second Coming and it will continue throughout all of eternity.

# Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

Progressive Dispensationalists see the promised kingdom of David as having both a heavenly and an earthly stage. It is often described as already/not yet. In other words, the kingdom in one sense is "already" taking place in heaven, but "not yet" upon the earth.

In sum, most dispensationalists believe that some form of the kingdom of God is currently taking place. They differ as to whether the present form of the kingdom—the church—is an actual stage of the Davidic Kingdom, or distinct from it.

# The Promises To The Overcomers Will Be Fulfilled

In Revelation Chapters 2 and 3, in His letters to the seven churches, the Lord made a number of promises to those who "overcome." We find that many of these specific promises will be fulfilled in a literal Millennium.

Among other things, these passages indicate that the rewards that believers receive from the Lord at the judgment seat, the bema, will involve serving under Him in the Millennium (For more information on the promises to the overcomers in Revelation 2 and 3 see our book, *The Book Of Revelation Chapters 1-3: Introduction And The Letters To The Seven Churches*.

# What Will Life Be Like During The Millennium?

Interestingly, the Book of Revelation gives us no specific information as to what life will be like upon the earth during the Millennium. To discover this, we must go to the Old Testament and the various predictions which are given.

In sum, the Millennium, the literal thousand-year reign of Jesus Christ upon the earth, will follow His Second Coming.

# Event 41 The Resurrection Of The Rest Of The Believing Dead: The First Resurrection (Revelation 20:5)

Scripture speaks of two distinct resurrections—that of the just and that of the unjust. All Bible believers agree that there will be a resurrection of both the believing and unbelieving dead.

# There Is A Resurrection Of The Righteous

The resurrection of the righteous is described in Scripture in the following ways:

# 1. The Awakening To Everlasting Life

Some of the dead, those who sleep in the dust, will awake to everlasting life. The prophet Daniel wrote:

Multitudes who sleep in the dust of the earth will awake: some to everlasting life . . . (Daniel 12:2 NIV).

The bodies of the dead, while presently sleeping in the graves, will be awakened someday. This is one way in which the resurrection is described.

# 2. The Resurrection Of The Righteous

The Bible also says the believers will be raised at the "resurrection of the righteous." Jesus spoke of this time. He said:

But when you give a banquet, invite the poor, the crippled, the lame, the blind, and you will be blessed. Although they cannot repay you, you will be repaid at the resurrection of the righteous (Luke 14:13,14 NIV).

There will be a resurrection of those who are righteous—those who have placed their faith in the God of Scripture.

# 3. The Resurrection Of Life

Jesus also spoke of the resurrection "of life" or a resurrection "which leads to life." We read of this in John's gospel:

Do not be amazed at this, because a time is coming when all who are in the graves will hear his voice and come out—those who have done good things, to the resurrection of life . . . (John 5:28,29 CSB).

There is a resurrection of the dead which will lead to eternal life.

# 4. The Better Resurrection

The writer to the Hebrews wrote of a "better" resurrection. He put it this way:

Women received back their dead, raised to life again. There were others who were tortured, refusing to be released so that they might gain an even better resurrection (Hebrews 11:35 NIV).

Those who believe in the Lord can look forward to this "better resurrection."

## 5. The First Resurrection

The Apostle John said that after the Second Coming of Christ there will be a "first resurrection." We read of this in the Book of Revelation:

Then I saw thrones, and people seated on them who were given authority to judge. I also saw the souls of those who had been beheaded because of their testimony about Jesus and because of the word of God, who had not worshiped the beast or his image, and who had not accepted the mark on their foreheads or their hands. They came to life and reigned with Christ for a thousand years . . . This is the first resurrection (Revelation 20:4-5 CSB).

Only the righteous will take part in this "first resurrection."

The Bible says that all those who have died will someday be raised.

However, not everyone will be raised at the same time. Indeed, only those who have died in the faith are part of this "first resurrection."

# Event 42 The Enthronement Of The King (Luke 1:30-33)

Long ago there was a promise that was made by the angel Gabriel to Mary, the Mother of Jesus:

Then the angel told her: "Do not be afraid, Mary, for you have found favor with God. Now listen: You will conceive and give birth to a son, and you will name him Jesus. He will be great and will be called the Son of the Most High, and the Lord God will give him the throne of his father David. He will reign over the house of Jacob forever, and his kingdom will have no end" (Luke 1:30-33 CSB).

The King, Jesus, will indeed be installed in Jerusalem to rule and reign.

# Christ Returns As King Of Kings

The Bible says that the babe born in Bethlehem will, one day, return as King of Kings and Lord of Lords:

I saw heaven standing open and there before me was a white horse, whose rider is called Faithful and True. With justice he judges and wages war. His eyes are like blazing fire, and on his head are many crowns. He has a name written on him that no one knows but he himself. He is dressed in a robe dipped in blood, and his name is the Word of God. The armies of heaven were following him, riding on white horses and dressed in fine linen, white and clean. Coming out of his mouth is a sharp sword with which to strike down the nations. "He will rule them with an iron scepter." He treads the winepress of the fury of the wrath of God Almighty. On his robe and on his thigh he has this name written: king of kings and lord of lords (Revelation 19:11-16 NIV).

Once installed, Jesus Christ will rule and reign from Jerusalem:

In the last days, the mountain of the Lord's house will be the highest of all—the most important place on earth. It will be raised above the other hills, and people from all over the world will stream there to worship. People from many nations will come and say, "Come, let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the house of Jacob's God. There he will teach us his ways, and we will walk in his paths." For the Lord's teaching will go out from Zion; his word will go out from Jerusalem. The Lord will mediate between nations and will settle international disputes. They will hammer their swords into plowshares and their spears into pruning hooks. Nation will no longer fight against nation, nor train for war anymore (Isaiah 2:2-4 NLT).

# What A Contrast To His First Coming

Lest we forget, at His First Coming, the following words were said either directly to Jesus, or about Him:

When Pilate heard this, he brought Jesus out and sat down on the judge's seat at a place known as the Stone Pavement (which in Aramaic is Gabbatha). It was the day of Preparation of the Passover; it was about noon. "Here is your king," Pilate said to the Jews. But they shouted, "Take him away! Take him away! Crucify him!" "Shall I crucify your king?" Pilate asked. "We have no king but Caesar," the chief priests answered. Finally Pilate handed him over to them to be crucified (John 19:13-16 NIV).

The true King was rejected by the people. They chose Caesar over Jesus—hence, they yelled at Pilate to crucify Jesus.

While He was on the cross, those who passed by ridiculed Him:

# Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

The people passing by shouted abuse, shaking their heads in mockery. "Look at you now!" they yelled at him. "You said you were going to destroy the Temple and rebuild it in three days. Well then, if you are the Son of God, save yourself and come down from the cross!" (Matthew 27:39-40 NLT).

The tragedy of the cross was summed up by John in the saddest verse of the Bible:

He was in the world, and though the world was made through him, the world did not recognize him (John 1:10 NIV)

Betrayed by one of His own, rejected by His people and then crucified, though He never sinned, sums up the response of the people of Israel to the First Coming of Christ.

However, as we have read, He will return—not as the babe in Bethlehem—but as King of Kings and Lord of Lords! In fact, the Bible calls Him the "Lion of the tribe of Judah."

And one of the elders said to me, "Weep no more; behold, the Lion of the tribe of Judah, the Root of David, has conquered, so that he can open the scroll and its seven seals" (Revelation 5:5 ESV).

At the time of His return, Christ will be installed as the rightful King of Israel, as well the King over the entire earth!

# Event 43 The Millennial Temple (Isaiah 2:2-4, Ezekiel 40-48)

The Bible speaks of two temples that have been built in the past in Jerusalem. The First Temple was built by Solomon based upon the desire of his father David. It was destroyed by the Babylonians in 587 B.C.

The Second Temple was rebuilt after the return of the exiles from Babylon. King Herod later expanded this Second Temple. It was destroyed by the Romans in A.D. 70.

The Bible also predicts that two temples are yet to be built.

The first is the "Tribulation Temple," which will be desecrated by the coming Antichrist. This temple will be built in unbelief of Jesus as the Messiah.

There is another temple coming after that—the "Millennial Temple". We learn of this future temple from the writings of the prophet Ezekiel.

# Where This Millennial Temple Fits Into God's Program

Ezekiel recorded the promises of God to the people of Israel—that they would be restored to their Promised Land in the "last days" (Chapters 33-39).

The final section of Ezekiel concerns what takes place when the Lord brings His people, Israel, back to their ancestral homeland, as well as certain changes that will be made to the geography of the Holy Land (Chapters 40-48).

Within these chapters of Ezekiel, it is announced both that God would set His sanctuary in the midst of His people at a future time (37:26-28), and what it would look like and how it would function (40-46).

# Hope For The Future

This promise of a future temple would have provided hope for the people who were held captives in Babylon. Indeed, God's plan for them in the future was not captivity, but rather a new age of blessing with the Messiah ruling from His temple in Jerusalem.

After a brief introduction to the vision that Ezekiel received (40:1-4), the prophet then described this future temple complex (40:5-42:20). After this, he records the return of the Lord to His holy temple (43:1-9). Once this takes place, worship of the Lord will occur in this new temple (43:10-46:24). In addition, changes will take place in the geography of the Promised Land (47-48).

This sums up what these passages tell us about this coming temple. The question, therefore, is this: How are we to interpret these chapters?

There are three basic views as to how to understand them. They are as follows:

# Option 1 They Have Already Been Fulfilled In History

Some commentators believe that Ezekiel's prediction was fulfilled when the exiles returned from Babylon and reestablished themselves in the Promised Land. In other words, the Temple that is revealed in this vision of Ezekiel has already been built in the past.

# Response

The problem with this view is that the details in Ezekiel's vision were not fulfilled in the building of the Second Temple. In fact, neither the Second Temple, constructed under the supervision of Zerubbabel, or the later expansion by King Herod, was ever built to the exact specifications found in Ezekiel. Consequently, there has been no literal fulfillment of this prediction.

# Option 2 It Will Be Fulfilled Spiritually

Many commentators interpret this section "spiritually." They claim that it refers either symbolically to the New Testament church, or it is symbolic of a kingdom that is still future. Whatever the case may be, there will never be a literal fulfillment of Ezekiel's predictions.

# Response

There are several things which we can say in response. First, the Bible does not say that the church replaces Israel in God's program. Add to this, to attempt to find some type of meaning for the church in these chapters, with all the myriad of specific details that are given, seems hopeless.

The same holds true for those who believe that it somehow speaks of the greatness of God's future kingdom.

More important, it trivializes the multitude of details that are recorded in these nine chapters. Indeed, the Lord gives us the exact dimensions of the various rooms in the entire temple complex. Furthermore, the Lord made certain that Ezekiel recorded them precisely as given:

The man said to me, "Son of man, watch closely, listen carefully, and pay attention to everything I show you, for you have been brought here so that I can show it to you. Tell the house of Israel everything you see" (Ezekiel 40:4 NET).

The fact that the Lord commanded the prophet to document *all* of the details is another reason to reject the idea that these nine chapters are merely symbolic.

# Option 3 These Chapters Are A Literal Prediction To Be Fulfilled In The Future

This is the best view. These verses are a prediction of what the last Temple will look like. In the future, there will be a literal fulfillment of what the Lord so meticulously told Ezekiel to record.

In sum, these chapters not only reveal a future temple and its worship, they also record certain physical changes that will take place in the Promised Land when Israel dwells there securely during the Millennium—the one-thousand-year reign of Christ upon the earth.

This understanding of the text is consistent with the rest of the book of Ezekiel, as it is with the entirety of Scripture.

# **Ezekiel And Revelation**

Interestingly, the Apostle John makes reference to some of the things described in Ezekiel in connection with his description of the future eternal state. Revelation 21 and 22 describes life on the new earth after our present earth passes away. It appears that some features of this millennial system of worship that Ezekiel describes will continue on into the eternal state. These are further reasons to believe that this temple that Ezekiel wrote about it a literal building which will be constructed when the Lord returns to the earth.

# Event 44 The "Loosing" Of Satan: The Deception Of The Nations (Revelation 19:20)

The Bible says that at the Second Coming of Jesus Christ to the earth, the beast and the false prophet are thrown into the lake of fire:

But the beast was taken prisoner, and along with it the false prophet, who had performed the signs in its presence. He deceived those who accepted the mark of the beast and those who worshiped its image with these signs. Both of them were thrown alive into the lake of fire that burns with sulfur (Revelation 19:20 CSB).

This "lake of fire" will be their everlasting punishment.

Satan, the adversary of God, however, will be kept in the abyss, the bottomless pit, until a future time.

# Satan Is Released At The End Of The Millennium

Furthermore, at the end of the thousand-year reign of Christ upon the earth—the Millennium—we are told that Satan, the adversary, will be "loosed" from his prison in the abyss—the bottomless pit—for one last time:

Now when the thousand years are finished, Satan will be released from his prison and will go out to deceive the nations at the four corners of the earth . . . (Revelation 20:7,8 NIV).

# The Big Question: Why?

If this is a prediction of a literal event where the devil is literally released from his place of incarceration and then allowed to deceive those who dwell upon the face of the earth, the big question is "Why?" Why would the Lord allow this to happen?

The Bible does not give us any specific reason as to why the Lord will do this. However, there are a couple of lessons that we learn from this coming event.

# The Continual Evil Character Of Satan Is Exposed

First, we find that after spending one thousand years locked up in the abyss Satan does not change his evil character. Indeed, this wicked creature picks up right where he left off by deceiving those who live upon the earth.

There is a great lesson in this for all of us. At the very beginning of life on the earth this created being, who was originally perfect in all of his ways, arrogantly decided to sin against God. Now, after being incarcerated for one thousand years, instead of humbly asking for some type of forgiveness from the Lord, he continues with his evil ways. In other words, this personage is beyond any type of help or redemption from the Lord.

This is one of the many reasons as to why we should not ever try to humanize Satan. In fact, many people mistakenly want to "pray" for him. We should never do this because we know from the Bible that it will not do any good. Indeed, the Lord has already given us the outcome of his fate in Scripture.

# The Heart Of Humans Is Wicked

A second lesson we learn from the "loosing" of Satan concerns the human heart. The Bible describes it as deceitful and desperately wicked:

The heart is deceitful above all things, and desperately sick; who can understand it? (Jeremiah 17:9 ESV).

As the reign of Christ progresses throughout the thousand years, we find that many will not embrace His Kingly rule over them. Hence, they will not obey Him.

There will be consequences for this disobedience. For one thing, nations which fail to worship the Lord at Jerusalem will have their rain withheld:

But if any of the nations anywhere on earth refuse to go up to Jerusalem to worship the King, the Lord who rules over all, they will get no rain (Zechariah 14:17 NET).

Zechariah described this act of punishment as a plague while, at the same time, giving specific mention to Egypt:

If the Egyptians will not do so, they will get no rain - instead there will be the kind of plague which the Lord inflicts on any nations that do not go up to celebrate the Feast of Tabernacles. (Zechariah 14:18 NET).

All nations, with specific mention of Egypt, will come under the judgment of God should they fail to obey Him:

This will be the punishment of Egypt and of all nations that do not go up to celebrate the Feast of Tabernacles (Zechariah 14:19 NET).

Why Egypt is singled out is not explained. What it does tell us, as we learn elsewhere (Isaiah 19), is that Egypt will still exist as a nation in the Millennium as well as be in favor with the Lord.

It is clear that Zechariah is describing the Millennium in this passage, Zechariah 14, not the eternal state. The fact that there will exist nations that could potentially rebel against the Lord, and therefore, face His divine judgment, as well as their need for rain, makes this obvious.

Indeed, none of this could happen in the eternal realm.

If any ultimate proof was ever needed about the sinfulness of human nature, it is certainly revealed at this juncture. At the end of the Millennium, after Jesus Christ has lovingly ruled over the earth for one thousand years, Satan will be released from the abyss and permitted to lead one last revolt against Him. Although the people of the earth know the character of the Lord, many of them will still decide to rebel against him.

This event is so tragic. These people who have been living under perfect conditions, who have been governed perfectly by the King of Kings—Jesus Christ—nevertheless decide to side with the devil in his rebellion.

Therefore, the "loosing" of Satan at the end of the Millennium teaches us some valuable lessons about this evil personage and well as the darkness of the human heart.

# Event 45 The Last Revolt Against The Lord Thwarted: Gog And Magog (Revelation 20:7-9)

Picking up where our last event left off, Satan, the adversary, has been released from his prison in the abyss. He is allowed, for one last time, to deceive the nations and lead a rebellion against the Lord. The Bible describes this event as follows:

When the thousand years are completed, Satan will be released from his prison and will go out to deceive the nations at the four corners of the earth, Gog and Magog, to gather them for battle. Their number is like the sand of the sea. They came up across the breadth of the earth and surrounded the encampment of the saints, the beloved city. Then fire came down from heaven and consumed them (Revelation 20:7-9 CSB).

There are a number of important things that we learn about this battle.

## The Devil Resumes His Evil Work

As we saw in the previous event, instead of having a change of heart, Satan will resume his evil work of deceiving the nations. He will attempt to convince them to submit to his authority rather than that of Christ. Incredibly, this wicked being will gather a large army from all parts of the world to fight against the Lord.

# Who Are The People That Rebel?

The people who follow Satan in this rebellion will be those who have not trusted Jesus Christ as their Savior during the Millennium. Even though everyone will know who Jesus Christ is during this one-thousand-year period (Jeremiah 31:33-34), not everyone will trust in Him as Savior.

While only believers will enter the Millennium, they will have children. Consequently, everyone born during that time will need to personally trust Christ in order to have eternal salvation.

To sum up, Jesus Christ permits Satan to assemble an army and encircle His capital city, Jerusalem, at the end of the Millennium. Seemingly, no sooner than this great army of Satan assembles, fire will come down from heaven and destroy this entire group of rebellious individuals.

This is the inglorious end of Satan, the being who, from the very beginning, has attempted to overthrow the throne of God and usurp His authority.

This also puts to rest the often-brought-up theory that human beings, once they are placed in a perfect environment, will willingly serve the Lord who has created them. Even in this ideal situation of the Millennium, countless people will respond to the very first opportunity they have to rebel against the Lord.

There are a number of questions which arise about this last battle.

# Who Are Gog And Magog?

The identity of "Gog and Magog" has been the subject of much discussion among Bible-believers. In the Book of Ezekiel, the same names are mentioned in a "last days" invasion of Israel. Gog is the title of the ruler, while Magog is the land from where he comes from.

# Is This The Ezekiel 38, 39 Invasion?

There are good Bible commentators that contend that the invasion of Israel recorded in Ezekiel 38,39 is referring to this same event at the end of the Millennium. The obvious reason as to why these two accounts may refer to the same event is that the names Gog and Magog are used in both sections of Scripture.

# **Comparing Ezekiel And Revelation**

Yet, the differences between the two events make it impossible to view these two passages as describing the same episode. Indeed, this reference to Gog and Magog in Revelation 21 must not be confused with a similar reference in Ezekiel 38 and 39.

In fact, there are a number of reasons as to why each passage is referring to a different event.

# Reason 1: There Are Different Meanings For The Terms Gog And Magog

While the same terms "Gog and Magog" are used in both accounts, they do not mean the same thing. In Ezekiel, Gog is the title of the leader of an invasion of a few specified nations and Magog is a specific land that is north of Israel.

However, in Revelation, Gog and Magog refer to all the nations of the world. Thus, in Ezekiel, the nation's come from the same geographical region while in Revelation they come from the four corners of the earth.

# Reason 2: The Settings Are Entirely Different

Beginning in Ezekiel 36, this prophet, Ezekiel, who was exiled to Babylon, predicts the future regathering of the nation of Israel to their ancient homeland. This prediction was to take place in the "last days."

Ezekiel's prediction goes on to say that, after the people of Israel have returned to their land, there would be a future attack on the nation. This attack, by Gog, would occur after the Jewish people are resettled in their land and are living in peace.

Thus, as Ezekiel says, the people will have *recently* come back to their land, after they have been away for a long time, when this battle occurs. At the end of Revelation, Israel will have been in their land for a thousand years, at least.

# Reason 3: In Revelation, The Lord Is Already Known To All

There is another huge difference. It is after this invasion recorded in Ezekiel takes place that both the Gentiles and Israel will then know that the Lord is God:

In this way, I will show my greatness and holiness, and I will make myself known to all the nations of the world. Then they will know that I am the Lord. . . In this way, I will make known my holy name among my people of Israel. I will not let anyone bring shame on it. And the nations, too, will know that I am the Lord, the Holy One of Israel (Ezekiel 38:23; 39:7 NLT).

This is an entirely different scenario than what we find in Revelation. This battle, at the end of Revelation, takes place at the end of the millennial kingdom. There will certainly be no need for Jesus Christ, the Messiah, to come to be known by either the Gentiles or by Israel at this time.

Indeed, He has been reigning over both Israel and the Gentiles for almost 1,000 years!

# Look Up! A Timeline of 50 Last Days Events

In sum, Ezekiel 39 says that after God destroys these invading armies, then all the nations will know that the Lord is God. In Revelation, all the nations have already known, for a thousand years, that the Lord is God.

# Reason 4: A Cleanup In Eternity?

In addition, it does not seem to make any sense that there will be a seven-year cleanup of the earth as the eternal state is about to begin:

Then the people in the towns of Israel will go out and pick up your small and large shields, bows and arrows, javelins and spears, and they will use them for fuel. There will be enough to last them seven years! (Ezekiel 39:9 NLT).

Indeed, we are told that after the incident recorded in Revelation 20 takes place, God will judge the wicked dead and then create a new heaven and a new earth. Thus, there will be no need to clean up the old earth.

# Reason 5: Who Gathers The Army?

In Ezekiel, the leader Gog has the idea to invade Israel, while in Revelation it is Satan who gathers the army.

# Reason 6: There Is A Different Geography For The Destruction

In Ezekiel, the destruction occurs once they enter the mountains of Israel—the borders of the promised Land. In the account in Revelation, they will surround the city of Jerusalem before the armies are finally destroyed.

# **Conclusion:** These Are Different Events

In Ezekiel, the setting of the invasion is before the Millennium—pre-millennial. In Revelation, it is after the Millennium, or post-millennial.

# Event 46 Satan Is Cast Into The Lake Of Fire (Revelation 20:10)

After the final battle of Gog and Magog, the supernatural being who became the devil, the adversary, will be punished once-and-for-all. It will end his inglorious career.

#### The Career Of Satan

From the very start, the God of the Bible has predicted the eventual fate of the created spirit-being who became Satan, or the devil. The Scripture informs us of the following:

#### 1. Satan's Destiny Was Announced At His Rebellion

When this particular personage rebelled in heaven, his ultimate destiny was announced. We read the following account in the Book of Ezekiel:

You traded far and wide. You learned to be violent, and you sinned. So I threw you down from God's mountain in disgrace. The guardian angel forced you out from the fiery stones. You became too proud because of your beauty. You wasted your wisdom because of your greatness. So I threw you to the ground and left you in front of the kings so that they could see you. You dishonored your own holy places because of your many sins and dishonest trade. So I set fire to you to burn you up. I turned you into ashes on the ground in the presence of all who saw you. All the nations who knew you are horrified because of you. You have come to a terrible end, and you will never exist again (Ezekiel 28:16-19 God's Word).

While this passage initially speaks of the fall of the King of Tyre, the punishments pronounced seem to go beyond this earthly king. Therefore, they are ultimately against Satan, the anointed cherub who became the devil. The destiny of the devil, therefore, was determined at the beginning.

#### 2. The Fate Of The Serpent Was Predicted In The Garden Of Eden

In the Garden of Eden, God prophesied the final destiny of Satan in the judgment He pronounced upon the serpent—the snake. We read of this in the third chapter of the Book of Genesis:

From now on, you and the woman will be enemies, and your offspring and her offspring will be enemies. He will crush your head, and you will strike his heel (Genesis 3:15 NLT).

The seed of the woman, who is Jesus Christ, will crush the head of the snake. The judgment upon the snake is ultimately a judgment upon Satan.

#### 3. It Was Predicted That The Serpent Will Eat Dust

It was also predicted that Satan would have to eat dust. This is a prophetic picture of his final degradation. Eating dust carries with it the idea of total defeat. The prophet Micah wrote:

They shall lick the dust like a serpent, like the crawling things of the earth (Micah 7:17 ESV).

There was judgment upon the snake for its part in the temptation of Adam and Eve. This judgment includes what will happen to the devil.

#### 4. At The Cross The Devil Was Defeated

The crushing of the serpent's head was accomplished at the cross. The Bible says the following about the victory of Jesus:

The one who commits sin is of the devil, for the devil has sinned from the beginning. The Son of God was revealed for this purpose: to destroy the devil's works (1 John 3:8 CSB).

Jesus Christ came into this world to destroy the works of the devil. The devil knows that he has been defeated. It is just a matter of time before his evil work comes to an end.

#### 5. He Will Be Thrown Out Of Heaven

Satan will be kicked out of heaven during the time of the Great Tribulation:

So that huge dragon—the ancient serpent, the one called the devil and Satan, who deceives the whole world—was thrown down to the earth, and his angels along with him (Revelation 12:9 NET).

#### 6. The Devil Will Be Confined To The Abyss

We also have noted that, after Jesus Christ returns, Satan will be confined to the abyss, the bottomless pit. Scripture says the following in describing this:

Then I saw an angel coming down from heaven holding the key to the abyss and a great chain in his hand. He seized the dragon, that ancient serpent who is the devil and Satan, and bound him for a thousand years (Revelation 20:1,2 CSB).

He will be confined to the abyss when the Lord Jesus returns for one thousand years.

#### 7. He Will Ultimately Go Into The Lake Of Fire

Eventually, he will spend eternity in the lake of fire. The Bible says the following somber words about his final fate:

And the devil who deceived them was thrown into the lake of fire and sulfur, where the beast and the false prophet are too, and they will be tormented there day and night forever and ever (Revelation 20:10 NET).

This is his ultimate destination.

In fact, the Lord Jesus said that this particular place was actually created for the devil and his angels:

Then he will say to those on his left, 'Depart from me, you who are cursed, into the eternal fire prepared for the devil and his angels' (Matthew 25:41 NIV).

This lake of fire will indeed be a righteous punishment for this evil being and the problems which he has caused.

#### 8. He Will Be Punished Forever

Contrary to popular belief, Satan will not be in charge of hell. There will be no organized sin with him as the leader. Everyone there will be eternally punished, including Satan. This sums up what the Bible has to say about the final destiny of the devil. It is clear from Scripture that the Lord will eternally punish him for his horrific evil.

# Event 47 The Great White Throne Judgment (Revelation 20:11-15)

When the Bible speaks of the "Last Judgment," it is not similar to taking a final test to see whether we pass or fail. That type of judgment has already taken place. It occurs in this life. What we do with Jesus Christ in this life determines how we will be judged in the next.

Thus, this "Last Judgment" is the public recognition of decisions long-since made. The Bible tells us about this awesome event.

#### 1. Jesus Said All Humanity Will Be Judged

The "Last Judgment" is also known as the "Great White Throne Judgment." Jesus spoke of the eventual judgment of all humanity:

Don't be so surprised! Indeed, the time is coming when all the dead in their graves will hear the voice of God's Son, and they will rise again. Those who have done good will rise to experience eternal life, and those who have continued in evil will rise to experience judgment (John 5:28, 29 NLT).

As we have just read, there will be a resurrection which leads to life as well as one which leads to condemnation. Everyone, however, will be judged.

In the Old Testament, the prophet Daniel wrote of a judgment that would lead to "everlasting contempt" or "eternal shame and disgrace." He wrote:

Many of those who lie dead in the ground will rise from death. Some of them will be given eternal life, and others will receive nothing but eternal shame and disgrace (Daniel 12:2 CEV).

Judgment will come to everyone.

#### 2. Jesus Will Be Their Judge

The Bible says that the Lord Jesus Himself will be the Judge. He said:

Moreover, the Father judges no one, but has entrusted all judgment to the Son... And he has given him authority to judge because he is the Son of Man (John 5:22,27).

The claim of Jesus Christ is that He will be the One who will judge humanity.

#### 3. The Participants At The Great White Throne Judgment (The Premillennial View)

Bible-believers are not agreed as to who will participate in the Great White Throne Judgment. According to the premillennial view, there will be four groups of people who will be judged at this particular time.

They are as follows:

#### The Unsaved Dead Of All Time

Satan

The Fallen Angels

The Millennial Believers

These are the four specific groups which will be judged at this future time.

#### The Premillennial View Simply Stated

The premillennial view basically says that Christ will return before the Millennium, His thousand-year reign upon the earth. At that time, He sets up an earthly kingdom where He will rule from Jerusalem for one thousand years.

At the end of the thousand years, there will be a final judgment. However, most believers have already been judged long before this time. Their judgment consists not of condemnation, but rather of rewards, and they have been ruling with Christ in His earthly kingdom since. It is only at the end of the thousand years that this final judgment occurs. Most of the participants in this judgment are unbelievers.

With this in mind, we can observe what Scripture says about this final judgment according to the premillennial view.

#### All Of Wicked Humanity Will Be Judged

The Book of Revelation speaks of a final judgment of all the wicked who have ever lived. After the thousand years of peace upon the earth, there is a final rebellion of Satan that will be stamped out by God. John wrote about this as follows:

And when the thousand years are ended, Satan will be released from his prison and will come out to deceive the nations that are at the four corners of the earth, Gog and Magog, to gather them for battle; their number is like the sand of the sea. And they marched up over the broad plain of the earth and surrounded the camp of the saints and the beloved city, but fire came down from heaven and consumed them (Revelation 20:7-9 ESV).

After this event, there is a final judgment of the wicked. John also wrote:

And I saw a great white throne and the one sitting on it. The earth and sky fled from his presence, but they found no place to hide. I saw the dead, both great and small, standing before God's throne. And the books were opened, including the Book of Life. And the dead were judged according to what they had done, as recorded in the books (Revelation 20:11,12 NLT).

The people judged at the Great White Throne will include all those who have rejected the message of God. They are raised at this final judgment.

The Book of Revelation also says that, at the time of this last judgment, death and Hades will give up their dead:

Then the sea gave up the dead that were in it, and death and Hades gave up the dead that were in them; each one was judged according to their works (Revelation 20:13 CSB).

These people are merely called "the dead." No one is named. This is in keeping with the rest of Scripture where the unbelieving dead are unnamed. While they do exist, and are being punished, they are, in one sense, treated as though they did not exist.

#### Satan Will Be Judged

Satan, the created spirit-being who became the devil, is also judged. The Bible specifies his judgment in the Book of Revelation. It says:

And the devil, who deceived them, was thrown into the lake of burning sulfur, where the beast and the false prophet had been thrown. They will be tormented day and night for ever and ever (Revelation 20:10 NIV).

His punishment occurs at this time.

#### Evil Angels Will Be Judged

Although the Bible does not specifically say that the evil angels will be judged at this time, Jesus said the lake of fire was prepared for them. We read of His words in Matthew where He said:

Then he will also say to those on the left, 'Depart from me, you who are cursed, into the eternal fire prepared for the devil and his angels!' (Matthew 25:41 CSB).

Their punishment will also come, most likely, at the Great White Throne.

#### Millennial Believers Will Be Rewarded

While all people who enter the Millennium will be believers, there will be children born to these people during the one-thousand-year millennial reign of Christ on the earth. Judgment will also take place for these individuals who are born during the millennial period. They will have an opportunity to believe in Christ, or reject Him.

Those who have believed during this period will likely be judged at the Great White Throne. However, their judgment consists of rewards, not punishment. They will enter into God's eternal kingdom.

#### 4. Everyone Will Give An Account For Their Behavior

At the Great White Throne Judgment, everyone will give an account of their deeds. Jesus spoke of this awesome moment:

I tell you, on the day of judgment people will give account for every careless word they speak (Matthew 12:36 ESV).

Every word ever spoken will be taken into account.

In another place, the Lord said that all secrets will be revealed:

There is nothing covered that won't be uncovered, nothing hidden that won't be made known. Therefore, whatever you have said in the dark will be heard in the light, and what you have whispered in an ear in private rooms will be proclaimed on the housetops (Luke 12:2,3 CSB).

Nothing will be hidden in this judgment.

#### 5. This Is Judgment To Their Final State

The Great White Throne is the "final Judgment." Those who are judged are assigned to their final state. The Bible does not indicate any chance for belief after this last judgment. This is truly an awesome event!

#### Note: Not Everyone Believes In A Literal Millennium

We should also note that not every Bible-believer accepts the idea that there will be a literal Millennium following the return of Christ. They believe the Great White Throne Judgment occurs when Christ comes again. His return is the "last Judgment" which the Bible speaks about—the one and only judgment for humanity and angels.

Again, we stress the fact that though there are disagreements among Bible-believers over the timing of the Great White Throne Judgment, all agree that it will indeed occur someday.

#### Event 48

#### The New Heavens And New Earth Created (Revelation 21:1)

After the Last Judgment, where all the unbelievers are separated from the believers, Scripture speaks of the Lord creating a "new heaven and a new earth:"

Then I saw "a new heaven and a new earth," for the first heaven and the first earth had passed away, and there was no longer any sea (Revelation 21:1 NIV).

One of the questions which arises from this section is, "Why?" Why would the Lord destroy this universe which He originally created? The reasons can be simply stated as follows:

First, though this present earth was made for humans to live upon, sin has entered and completely corrupted every aspect of it. This corruption extends to the human race, the animal kingdom, and the environment. Everything has been corrupted. This corruption must be reversed. The new heaven and new earth will reverse this present, sinful state, of the world.

#### The Fulfillment Of His Promises

There is, yet, another reason as to why the Lord will make a new heaven and new earth—to fulfill the promises which He has previously made.

#### David Was Promised A Throne Forever

For example, King David was promised that one of His descendants would rule forever. The Bible records this promise:

The Lord declares to you that the Lord himself will establish a house for you: When your days are over and you rest with your ancestors, I will raise up your offspring to succeed you, your own flesh and blood, and I will establish his kingdom. He is the one who will build a house for my Name, and I will establish the throne of his kingdom forever. I will be his father, and he will be my son. . . Your house and your kingdom will endure forever before me; your throne will be established forever (2 Samuel 7:11-14,16 NIV).

One particular descendant of David will indeed rule and reign for all eternity, the Lord Jesus.

#### An Everlasting Kingdom Will Be Established

In Daniel, we also read the promise of God of a kingdom which shall never be destroyed:

In the time of those kings, the God of heaven will set up a kingdom that will never be destroyed, nor will it be left to another people. It will crush all those kingdoms and bring them to an end, but it will itself endure forever (Daniel 2:44 NIV).

God's kingdom will last forever. In these last two chapters of Revelation, we will read of the fulfillment to that promise.

#### The Lord Promised To Prepare A Place For Us

Finally, we have the promise of the Lord Jesus. As He was about to leave this world He promised to prepare a place for believers:

Don't let your hearts be troubled. Trust in God, and trust also in me. There is more than enough room in my Father's home. If this were not so, would I have told you that I am going to prepare a place for you? When everything is ready, I will come and get you, so that you will always be with me where I am (John 14:1-3 NLT).

The following chapters will reveal the place in which the Lord has prepared for us (Event 49). It is our eternal home in the house of the Father.

Therefore, the new earth will see the complete fulfillment of these predictions and promises. The writer to the Hebrews made this clear:

All these people were still living by faith when they died. They did not receive the things promised; they only saw them and welcomed them from a distance, admitting that they were foreigners and strangers on earth. People who say such things show that they are looking for a country of their own. If they had been thinking of the country they had left, they would have had opportunity to return. Instead, they were longing for a better country—a heavenly one. Therefore God is not ashamed to be called their God, for he has prepared a city for them (Hebrews 11:13–16 NIV).

The people of God have been waiting for this better country—a heavenly city. We will discover that the Living God will indeed create a new universe where only righteousness will dwell.

In doing so, He will fulfill the promises made long ago. Indeed, believers will finally have that heavenly city, that "better country," just as the Lord had promised.

Consequently, the final two chapters in the Book of Revelation will reveal the final stage in the Lord's plan of the ages. The Lord God will deliver the human race from this fallen world into a new, incorruptible world which He will create. In doing so, it will fulfill the original intention of the first creation, as well as fulfilling the promises of a future blessing.

#### The New Universe (Revelation 21:1)

John begins by declaring what he saw—a new universe! The old heaven and the old earth are now gone, replaced by all things new. It is new in the sense that it is a "new kind of universe." Indeed, there is a complete transformation of all things. In addition, we discover that the new earth has no sea in it.

This brings up a few questions: Will everything in the old universe be destroyed, including the home of God? What is the relationship between the old universe and the new one? Why is the new earth without the sea?

#### Will Heaven, God's Home, Pass Away?

We should note that the phrase "the first heaven and the first earth" refers to the visible universe. John certainly did not mean the special abode of God will pass away! The Bible calls this unique place the "third heaven." Paul wrote:

I know a man in Christ who fourteen years ago (whether in the body or out of the body I do not know, God knows) was caught up to the third heaven (2 Corinthians 12:2 NET).

The third heaven is a description of the place where the Lord dwells in a special way.

In fact, we read that Jesus "passed through the heavens:"

Therefore since we have a great high priest who has passed through the heavens, Jesus the Son of God, let us hold fast to our confession (Hebrews 4:14 NET).

The first heaven and the second heaven describe the visible universe.

In sum, it is only the present physical universe that will pass away, or cease to exist, when the Lord makes a new heaven and earth. God's home, heaven, will continue to exist.

#### What Is The Relationship Between The Old Earth And New Earth?

What John saw, a new universe, had been promised earlier in Scripture. For example, Peter spoke of the present universe disappearing:

The day of the Lord's return will surprise us like a thief. The heavens will disappear with a loud noise, and the heat will melt the whole universe. Then the earth and everything on it will be seen for what they are (2 Peter 3:10 CEV).

From the various passages that speak of the renewal of the heaven and the earth, it is not clear what relationship the new will have with the old. Will the old heaven and earth be merely renewed, or will it be entirely replaced?

In other words, is this an example of creation out of nothing, as took place in the initial creation of the heaven and earth? Or is it a thorough renovation of the present heaven and earth, with God reconstructing the elements?

#### There Is Some Mystery As To How This Will Happen

As is the case with the resurrected body of the believer, there is some mystery in this process. What is clear is that the present heaven and earth will pass away in the form that they are presently in, and God will make something new for believers to enjoy with Him.

#### Will It Be In Two Stages?

In this passage, Revelation 21:1, the eternal state is called a "new heaven and a new earth." However, this is not the same thing that Isaiah the prophet was referring to when he wrote about the "new heaven and new earth" (Isaiah 65:17–25). He was speaking of the Millennium, the thousand-year reign of Jesus Christ upon the earth.

We know this because in this passage we find such things as sin and death still existing in Isaiah's description of this new world. In the eternal state, there will be no sin and no death.

Therefore, it seems possible, even likely, that the re-making of the heaven and the earth will take place in two stages, beginning at the Second Coming of Jesus Christ. When the Lord returns to this earth, the world will be made new for His intermediate earthly kingdom, the Millennium. Then, at the end of His thousand-year rule, the entire universe will be made new.

For more information on the subject of the new heavens and the new earth see our book *Heaven: The Final Destination For Believers* Appendix 4, "A Verse-By-Verse Look At Revelation 21 and 22: The New Jerusalem, The Holy City."

#### Event 49

#### The Holy City: The Arrival Of The New Jerusalem (Revelation 21,22)

As we noted in the previous event, once the old earth passes away, the Lord will establish a new heaven and a new earth—a new universe. After seeing this "new heaven and new earth," John then described what he saw—the Holy City coming down from heaven:

And I saw the holy city, new Jerusalem, coming down out of heaven from God, prepared as a bride adorned for her husband (Revelation 21:2 ESV).

Two things are immediately apparent.

First, the adjectives "new" and "holy" distinguish this city from our present world. Indeed, the New Jerusalem will supersede anything and everything that has happened before.

#### The Two Jerusalem's Contrasted

On the other hand, calling it "Jerusalem" points to a certain continuity between the two cities. Indeed, both the "old" and "new" Jerusalem are cities which are loved by God and have a special place in His dealings with the human race.

In fact, in the Bible, many great events have taken place, and will take place, in the old city of Jerusalem. The greatest of these are the death of God the Son, Jesus Christ, on the cross of Calvary, and His resurrection from the dead.

Therefore, Jerusalem is central to the biblical account of history as the place of our redemption. However, in contrast to the "old" Jerusalem, there will never be any sin or rebellion in the Holy City.

#### The Bride Is Adorned To Meet The Groom

The prophet then compares the city to a bride who is adorned to meet the groom. From this verse, Revelation 21:2, we have several issues that need to be addressed.

The first issue concerns the physical relationship of the New Jerusalem to the present earth. The comparison of the city to a bride also brings up a number of questions, one being: "Is the church, which is also compared to a bride, the New Jerusalem?"

#### What Is The Physical Relationship Between The New Jerusalem And The New Earth?

There have been several explanations about the exact relationship of the New Jerusalem to the new earth. In other words, where will this city be located?

John sees the Holy City, New Jerusalem, coming down out of heaven, prepared as a bride adorned for her husband. The fact that it is never said to land upon the earth leads some to see it as hovering over the new earth. In fact, there are many who believe that the New Jerusalem could be a satellite city that remains above the new earth.

Others believe that the New Jerusalem will be within the boundaries of the new earth. Exactly where, is not stated.

When looking at what the Scripture says, we find the text does not specifically say the New Jerusalem will come down to the new earth, only that John saw it coming down out of heaven, from God.

However, the fact that the Holy City is said to have a sturdy foundation would seem to imply that it is somewhere upon the new earth.

#### Is The New Jerusalem The New Testament Church?

There have been a number of people who claim that the description of the New Jerusalem, in the Book of Revelation, is actually a description of the New Testament church. The main reason for this belief is the use of the "bride" figure to describe the New Jerusalem. Since the church is also described as a bride, this has led them to conclude that the New Jerusalem is identical with the church.

However, the bride figure in Scripture describes not only the church, but also Israel's relationship with God. The evidence is as follows.

#### The Bride Figure Describes The Church

Earlier in the Book of Revelation, we find that the "bride" figure describes believers in an intimate relationship with Christ:

Let us be glad and rejoice, and let us give honor to him. For the time has come for the wedding feast of the Lamb, and his bride has prepared herself. She has been given the finest of pure white linen to wear. For the fine linen represents the good deeds of God's holy people (Revelation 19:7,8 NLT).

In this passage, the bride—the true believers in Jesus, has prepared herself for the wedding.

The Apostle Paul made this comparison earlier in his letter to the Corinthians:

I'm as protective of you as God is. After all, you're a virgin whom I promised in marriage to one man—Christ (2 Corinthians 11:2 God's Word).

In this illustration, the church is the bride who has been promised in marriage to Christ.

#### The Old Testament Uses The Bride Figure With God And Israel

The Old Testament also used the "bride" as a figure to describe Israel's relationship to God. We read in Hosea:

I will accept you as my wife forever, and instead of a bride price I will give you justice, fairness, love, kindness, and faithfulness. Then you will truly know who I am (Hosea 2:19,20 CEV).

We find something similar in Isaiah:

Your children will commit themselves to you, O Jerusalem, just as a young man commits himself to his bride. Then God will rejoice over you as a bridegroom rejoices over his bride (Isaiah 62:5 NLT).

The Lord said the following to Jeremiah:

The Lord spoke his word to me, "Go and announce to Jerusalem, This is what the Lord says: I remember the unfailing loyalty of your youth, the love you had for me as a bride. I remember how you followed me into the desert, into a land that couldn't be farmed" (Jeremiah 2:1,2 God's Word).

Does this mean that Israel, the church, and the New Jerusalem are three names of the same entity? The answer is, "No." They are always kept distinct from one another.

However, the New Jerusalem, while a literal city, also represents the people who live in it—the believers in Christ. Therefore, the same term can describe either the city, or the inhabitants of the city, depending upon the context.

In addition, we will later discover that the names of the tribes of Israel are written on the gates of the New Jerusalem. This indicates that those believers from Israel will themselves have access to the city.

We will also learn that throughout these two chapters there is a distinction maintained between the church (who is the bride, the wife of the Lamb), the nation of Israel, and the Gentile nations. These three entities are always kept distinct from one another.

To sum up, while the believers in Christ and the city of the New Jerusalem are distinct from one another, the city and its inhabitants can be described by the same term, the "bride."

#### Death, Dying, Pain, And Tears Are Gone Forever!

One of the greatest promises in Scripture is found in Revelation 21.

After Revelation 21, verse two, John stops describing the New Jerusalem. He will now record God's spoken Word which is delivered from His throne.

As we read, twice we find that this attention getting word "behold" is used. As we have mentioned in other places, this word is very important because it signals something vital is about to be said or take place, not to mention, this use of the term is noteworthy because it is one of the few occasions in the Book of Revelation where God Himself speaks.

Indeed, what we have here is one of the greatest verses in the entire Bible: "All things will be made new." The curse that corrupted all things in the Garden of Eden has been finally reversed! The Lord God will bring about an entirely new creation. People will have new bodies, the animal kingdom will be made new, and we will have an entirely new environment. The results of sin will be forever gone.

After making this statement, we have the Lord's command for John to write these things down. Perhaps John was so overwhelmed when he heard the actual voice of God that he forgot to write down the words. We are not told.

However, the reason for writing them down is revealed to us: The words of God are faithful and true!

We find that this is a recurring theme throughout the Bible. The God of the Bible cannot lie. Indeed, at all times, He speaks the truth; therefore, we can always trust His promises.

There will come a time when pain, sorrow, and tears are a thing of the past.

#### The Tree Of Life (Revelation 22)

In the New Jerusalem, the heavenly city, there will be the creation of a "tree of life." The Bible explains it in this manner:

Then the angel showed me the river of the water of life, as clear as crystal, flowing from the throne of God and of the Lamb down the middle of the great street of the city. On each side of the river stood the tree of life, bearing twelve crops of fruit, yielding its fruit every month. And the leaves of the tree are for the healing of the nations (Revelation 22:1,2 NIV).

A pure river of the "water of life" flows from the throne of God and of the Lamb through the middle of the street in the New Jerusalem. On either side of the river grows the tree of life bearing its twelve kinds of fruit. This suggests God's ceaseless provision for every season.

#### What Is This Tree Of Life?

The idea of a "tree of life" takes us all the way back to the beginning. The Bible says that God created the tree of life and placed it in the midst of the Garden:

The Lord God made all sorts of trees grow up from the ground—trees that were beautiful and that produced delicious fruit. In the middle of the garden he placed the tree of life . . . (Genesis 2:9 NLT).

When Adam and Eve disobeyed God and brought sin into the world, they lost all their access to the tree of life. The Bible says the following:

Then the Lord God said, "Look, the human beings have become like us, knowing both good and evil. What if they reach out, take fruit from the tree of life, and eat it? Then they will live forever!" So the Lord God banished them from the Garden of Eden, and he sent Adam out to cultivate the ground from which he had been made. After sending them out, the Lord God stationed mighty cherubim to the east of the Garden of Eden. And he placed a flaming sword that flashed back and forth to guard the way to the tree of life (Genesis 3:22-24 NLT).

Now, in Revelation 22, we discover that in the eternal city, the New Jerusalem, the residents will once again have access to a "tree of life." And, since there will never be any more sin, this tree will be able to be eaten from for all eternity.

What is important to note about this "tree of life" however, is that instead of producing its fruit seasonally, like we are used to, this tree will perpetually produce its fruit. In fact, it will produce a new crop each month of the year. Therefore, the new earth will constantly be fruitful. This is another illustration of God's blessings in the world to come.

Also, since there will be no moon and no night, there will not be a lunar calendar to mark time. Evidently there will be some other type of method that will define the different months for the inhabitants. We are simply not told how there can be days and months without the cycle of the sun and the moon.

#### Will It Be Necessary To Eat From The Tree Of Life?

We noted that eating from the original tree of life in Eden could perpetuate life forever. Some Bible students think that this may also be the function of this "tree of life" in the New Jerusalem as well. In other words, in some unknown sense, it may exist to maintain the immortality of the inhabitants. However, this is only conjecture since nothing specific is said of the necessity of eating from this tree to remain immortal.

#### In What Sense Is The Tree For Healing?

Since there will be no death in the new world, in what sense are the leaves of the tree for the healing of the nations?

Some Bible students suggest the "healing tree" is referring back to the Millennium. But this does not fit the fact the we are dealing with eternity, not a temporary kingdom upon the earth.

It is contended that the leaves, in some unexplained sense, promote wellbeing. They will provide healing from the conditions of the old creation. In fact, some understand the word "healing" to mean "health-giving." Whether they promote wellbeing literally or symbolically is not clear.

#### Who Are The Nations Mentioned?

In the eternal state, we find that nations still exist. They are groups of people which are viewed according to their old creation divisions. There will be a literal Millennium that will take place on the earth before the eternal state begins. From this thousand-year period, there will be countless numbers of children born to those who initially enter. These children will have the same ethnicity as their parents.

Therefore, the simple answer to this question seems to be that the nations are the offspring who have trusted Christ during the Great Tribulation period. These people, who were born during the Millennium, have also put their trust in Christ.

# Event 50 Eternity (Matthew 25:34, Revelation 21:3)

The last of our list of fifty coming events is different from all the rest. Indeed, it is the only one that will never end—Eternity! This is the wonderful promise of Scripture, that those who believe in the God of the Bible will live forever in His presence.

#### The Promises Of God

We will cite a few of many promises that Scripture gives us with respect to our eternal destiny.

The most famous verse in Scripture truly says it all:

For God loved the world in this way: He gave his one and only Son, so that everyone who believes in him will not perish but have eternal life (John 3:16 CSB).

Those who place their faith in Jesus will indeed have everlasting life.

The Lord will show His greatness to us throughout eternity:

And God raised us up with Christ and seated us with him in the heavenly realms in Christ Jesus, in order that in the coming ages he might show the incomparable riches of his grace, expressed in his kindness to us in Christ Jesus (Ephesians 2:7 NIV).

Among other things, this shows that our lives in eternity will not be static. In other words, we will continue to see His greatness and the riches of His grace in the coming ages.

#### The Promise Of Dwelling With The Lord Forever

Scripture gives this testimony of what will take place in the future:

Then I heard a loud voice from the throne: Look, God's dwelling is with humanity, and he will live with them. They will be his peoples, and God himself will be with them and will be their God (Revelation 21:3 CSB).

It is almost overwhelming to think about this. For all eternity, the Lord will dwell with us. We will be His people and He will be our God!

#### The Righteous Will Inherit God's Everlasting Kingdom

Jesus spoke of a time when the righteous, those who have believed in Him, will inherit the kingdom of God.

Then the King will say to those on his right, 'Come, you who are blessed by my Father; inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world (Matthew 25:34 CSB).

#### The Guarantee Of Jesus

Finally, at the end of the Book of Revelation, we have this guarantee from Jesus:

I, Jesus, have sent my angel to attest these things to you for the churches. I am the root and descendant of David, the bright morning star (Revelation 22:16 CSB).

The Lord Jesus attests that the words recorded in the Book of Revelation are true. In other words, the events predicted will indeed come to pass.

Eternity in the presence of the living God, where there is no pain, no suffering, no death, and only joy unspeakable, is the destiny of those who believe in Christ!

#### Summary And Conclusion To First Four-books In This Series

In this series on the subject of Bible prophecy, we have looked at a number of important matters. Briefly, we can summarize them as follows:

#### Bible Prophecy Is A Central Teaching Of Scripture

The subject of Bible prophecy is not something obscure in the Bible. Indeed, from the first book of the Bible to the last, we have examples of future predictions.

#### The Ability To Predict The Future Is The Claim Of Scripture Itself

This leads us to our second point. The claim to be able to accurately predict the future comes from the Bible, itself.

#### There Are Many Examples Of Fulfilled Prophecy

We also find numerous examples of specific biblical predictions which have been literally fulfilled.

#### There Are Many Signs That Are Presently Being Fulfilled

Many predictions, with respect to the "last days," have either been fulfilled or are in the process of being fulfilled.

#### Conclusion: We Have Every Right To Expect That All Predictions Will Ultimately Be Fulfilled

With these facts in mind, we can be confident that these predicted events will indeed be fulfilled at some time in the future.

#### Appendix 1

#### The Bible And Tomorrow's News

# 12 Biblical Predictions About The Last Days That Are Now Being Literally Fulfilled

The God of the Bible, who declares to be the only God who exists, has made many predictions about future events. We have chronicled a number of these that have already been fulfilled in our book 50 Biblical Prophecies Made And Fulfilled: God's Work In History.

Also in the Scripture, the Lord has made certain predictions about events that have not yet occurred. These deal with the time of the end, the time before the kingdom of God comes to the earth. Among other things, the Bible informs us what our world would look like before Christ returns.

Daniel the prophet, when writing about last days events, admitted that he did not understand what he was writing about. He was specifically told that only those who would be living at that time would be able to understand them!

I heard, but I did not understand. So I said, "Sir, what will happen after these things?" He said, "Go, Daniel. For these matters are closed and sealed until the time of the end. Many will be purified, made clean, and refined, but the wicked will go on being wicked. None of the wicked will understand, though the wise will understand (Daniel 12:8-10 NET).

The wise, who live at the time of the end, will understand what is taking place in the last days. Who are the wise? They are believers who take the Scripture and Bible prophecy seriously.

Therefore, if the Bible is the Word of God, and we are able to understand what it predicts, then there are certain things that we should expect to see as we come closer to the end.

#### The Two Questions

So, here are the two questions that we will answer: from the Bible, what should we expect to see happening in our world in the last days, and what do we now see?

In other words, what are our "Great Expectations" about what the future holds?

# Biblical Prediction 1 The Entire Population Of The Earth Will Be Able To Watch Certain Prophesied Events In Real Time

In the Book of Revelation, there is the account of two witnesses of Jesus Christ who testify to the people of the earth for some three and one-half years. Eventually they are killed by the final Antichrist. The Bible explains what happens to them in the following manner:

The Entire World Will Watch Certain Events In Real Time: The Two Witnesses (Revelation 11)

We begin by looking at a passage in the Book of Revelation:

And I will give power to my two witnesses, and they will be clothed in burlap and will prophesy during those 1,260 days."

These two prophets are the two olive trees and the two lampstands that stand before the Lord of all the earth. If anyone tries to harm them, fire flashes from their mouths and consumes their enemies. This is how anyone who tries to harm them must die. They have power to shut the sky so that no rain will fall for as long as they prophesy. And they have the power to turn the rivers and oceans into blood, and to strike the earth with every kind of plague as often as they wish.

When they complete their testimony, the beast that comes up out of the bottomless pit will declare war against them, and he will conquer them and kill them. And their bodies will lie in the main street of Jerusalem, the city that is figuratively called "Sodom" and "Egypt," the city where their Lord was crucified. And for three and a half days, all peoples, tribes, languages, and nations will stare at their bodies. No one will be allowed to bury them. All the people who belong to this world will gloat over them and give presents to each other to celebrate the death of the two prophets who had tormented them.

But after three and a half days, God breathed life into them, and they stood up! Terror struck all who were staring at them. Then a loud voice from heaven called to the two prophets, "Come up here!" And they rose to heaven in a cloud as their enemies watched.

At the same time there was a terrible earthquake that destroyed a tenth of the city. Seven thousand people died in that earthquake, and everyone else was terrified and gave glory to the God of heaven (Revelation 11:3-13 NLT)

#### What Do We Learn From This Passage?

- 1. At the time of the end, two witnesses are allowed to prophesy for 1,260 days... or three-and one-half years. They will perform signs and wonders testifying of Jesus Christ.
- 2. The first beast, the Final Antichrist is allowed to kill them.
- 3. Their bodies will lie in the main street of Jerusalem.
- 4. For three and a half days all the people of the earth will stare at their corpses.
- 5. Nobody will be allowed to bury them.
- 6. The people of the earth will gloat over their deaths and celebrate it by sending gifts to one another.
- 7. After 3 ½ days God will breathe life into their dead bodies.
- 8. Terror strikes everyone that sees them arise from the dead.
- 9. A loud voice from heaven calls them up.
- 10. They ascend into heaven in full view of their enemies.

So here is our first great expectation, namely, at the time of the end it will be possible for everyone on the planet to see these events in real time.

As can be imagined, commentators from the past wondered how all the people of the earth could observe such a spectacle. Indeed, how could everyone on the face of the earth see their dead bodies for three and one-half days? Even if this only referred to people living in the same geographical area, this would still be impossible.

### The Abomination Of Desolation Is Viewed By The Entire World Matthew 24:15-22

Our second illustration comes from the words of Jesus in His famous Olivet Discourse. When asked about the signs of the end of the age before He returns to the earth, we read the following predictions of what will take place:

Therefore when you see the ABOMINATION OF DESOLATION which was spoken of through Daniel the prophet, standing in the holy place-- let the reader understand-- then those who are in Judea must flee to the mountains. Whoever is on the housetop must not go down to get things out of his house. And whoever is in the field must not turn back to get his cloak. But woe to those women who are pregnant, and to those who are nursing babies in those days! Moreover, pray that when you flee, it will not be in the winter, or on a Sabbath. For then there will be a great tribulation, such as has not occurred since the beginning of the world until now, nor ever will again. And if those days had not been cut short, no life would have been saved; but for the sake of the elect those days will be cut short. (Matthew 24:15-22 NET)

#### What Do We Learn From This Passage?

- 1. An event will take place in the city of Jerusalem where a future temple is defiled.
- 2. This particular event is known as the abomination of desolation.
- 3. Jesus cited the original prediction from the writings of the prophet Daniel.
- 4. Christ said "when you see," namely, when this event occurs, then it is time to flee Jerusalem.
- 5. This event will be the start of the Great Tribulation period, the final 3 ½ years before the return of Christ.

But how is the world going to see it?

On July 28, 2014, The Temple Institute, an organization in Jerusalem which works toward the rebuilding of the Third Temple, began a revolutionary campaign to literally rebuild it—through the power of crowdfunding. Headlines under the title "Don't make history. Make the future. Build the Third Temple." Among other things, their online ad read as follows . . .

Now is time for one of its most ambitious projects yet: completing architectural plans for the actual construction, fusing ancient texts and modern technology. While strictly adhering to the religious requirements set forth in Biblical texts, the Third Temple will also be equipped with every modern amenity: full computerization, underground parking, temperature control, elevators, docks for public transportation, wheelchair access, and much more.

Note the plan—"fusing ancient texts and modern technology." It seems clear that when the Temple will eventually be rebuilt, there will be the ability of the people of the earth to watch, in real time, what is taking place.

#### So How Are They Going To See It?

We no longer have to wonder how this can be accomplished. The technology is with us now.

From their website of Elon Musk's Starlink...

#### Starlink

#### World's most advanced broadband Satellite Internet

Starlink is the world's first and largest satellite constellation using a low Earth orbit to deliver broadband internet capable of supporting streaming, online gaming, video calls, and more.

Leveraging advanced satellites and user hardware coupled with our deep experience with both spacecraft and on-orbit operations, Starlink delivers high speed low-latency internet to users all over the world.

#### It Is Now A Possibility For Everyone To See These Events

So, these two events, that Scripture predicts that the entire world will be able to see, will soon be possible for everyone on the face of the earth to view. For further documentation on see Sign 15 in our book 25 Signs We Are Near The End .... The Exponential Increase Of Technology as well as our book *The Final Antichrist*.

#### **Biblical Prediction 2**

## All Financial Transactions Worldwide Will Be Able To Be Monitored

In our last illustration we saw the predictions in Scripture how certain events that will take place in the last days will be able to be viewed by everyone on earth, specifically the death and the raising back to life of the two witnesses in Revelation 11 as well the abomination of desolation predicted by Jesus in Matthew 24. We now move on to the second of our 12 predictions...

There is a passage in Scripture that speaks of a worldwide economic system where nobody can buy or sell without a particular mark—the mark of the beast:

Then I saw another beast coming up from the earth. He had two horns like a lamb, but was speaking like a dragon. He exercised all the ruling authority of the first beast on his behalf, and made the earth and those who inhabit it worship the first beast, the one whose lethal wound had been healed. He performed momentous signs, even making fire come down from heaven in front of people and, by the signs he was permitted to perform on behalf of the beast, he deceived those who live on the earth. He told those who live on the earth to make an image to the beast who had been wounded by the sword, but still lived. The second beast was empowered to give life to the image of the first beast so that it could speak, and could cause all those who did not worship the image of the beast to be killed. He also caused everyone (small and great, rich and poor, free and slave) to obtain a mark on their right hand or on their forehead. Thus no one was allowed to buy or sell things unless he bore the mark of the beast—that is, his name or his number. This calls for wisdom: Let the one who has insight calculate the beast's number, for it is man's number, and his number is 666 (Revelation 13:11-16 NET).

#### What Do We Learn From This Passage?

- 1. After the first beast, the Final Antichrist arrives on the scene, a second beast, namely the false prophet arises.
- 2. He will be given the same authority as the first beast.
- 3. The second beast requires everyone on the earth to worship the first beast.
- 4. To show his power, he does these astounding miracles, including fire coming down from the sky.

- 5. The false prophet does this in the presence of the people of the earth.
- 6. He deceives all the people who live on the earth because of the signs he performs.
- 7. The second beast causes the people of the earth to make an image, a statue, to the first beast.
- 8. The false prophet gives life to the image of the beast so that it could speak.
- 9. Those upon the earth are commanded to worship the beast and his image.
- 10. Those who do not worship the beast, or his image will be killed.
- 11. The false prophet causes everyone in the world to receive the mark of the beast on their right hand or forehead.
- 12. Nobody will be able to buy or sell without the mark of the beast.
- 13. The mark is the name of the first beast and the number of his name.
- 14. The number of the first beast is 666.

#### The Problem Stated How Could Anyone Monitor A Worldwide Economic System?

Can you imagine, even fifty years ago, when humans were aware as to the extent where people lived on our planet, that a system could be put in place where nobody could buy or sell anything anywhere without a particular mark on either their right hand or their forehead? It would seem ridiculous to think that any leader could have people in all parts of the globe monitoring every business transaction. In fact, it seemed like something impossible.

Well again, the impossible will indeed eventually happen.

Revelation 13 will now be able to be literally fulfilled... every financial transaction on the earth can eventually be monitored. Consider the following headline...

### As CBDCs Launch, How Long Until The Social Credit Grid Controls You? BY ITM TRADING

Central Bank Digital Currencies are not just digital cash—they're the foundation for absolute control," warns Taylor Kenney in her latest video. As countries like China weaponize social credit systems, the U.S. quietly inches closer to implementing its own version under the guise of financial inclusion. "A CBDC tracks every transaction, but it doesn't stop there—it can reward or punish behavior in real-time."

With 134 countries actively pursuing CBDCs, she warns it's only a matter of time before the U.S. follows suit (cited by Tyler Durden, Zero Hedge, December 27, 2024)

Furthermore. Tim Cook the CEO of Apple said the next generation of children will not know what cash is, every transaction will be digital.

Again, we ask the question, "do you think this could have merely been a lucky guess by John, the writer of Revelation, namely, the fact that he wrote of a day when every financial transaction could be monitored?

As we stressed in our first prediction, there is no way, humanly speaking that anyone in the first century A.D. could have foreseen such a thing.

However, there is a God in heaven who knows the future, and who has through his spokesmen the prophets, made certain predictions about the future. The fact that these predictions are coming true should make it clear that the God of the Bible has provided sufficient evidence to believe in Him.

Well, we have only looked at two of these 12 Biblical predictions about the last days. Like the first two, our next one, the predictions concerning the descendants of Abraham, Isaac and Jacob, the nation of Israel, humanly speaking, could have never come to pass. But as we shall see, it certainly has...

#### **Biblical Prediction 3**

# At The Time Of The End, The Descendants Of Abraham, Isaac And Jacob Would Still Exist, Return To Their Ancient Homeland, Form A Modern State, And Unify Jerusalem

This third prediction concerns what would happen to the descendants of Abraham, Isaac and Jacob at the time of the end. We actually find a number of specifics. They include...

The Lord promised that the nation of Israel would exist at the time of the end.

In addition, they will also miraculously come back to their ancient homeland in the last days.

In doing so, they would form a modern state.

Furthermore, the city of Jerusalem would be unified under their control.

Each of these events have been predicted by Scripture and each have literally come to pass!

How do we explain any of this on a natural level? We simply cannot!

#### **Biblical Prediction 4**

# The Reborn Nation Of Israel Would Remain In The World's Spotlight

Incredibly, not only will Israel exist and become a modern state, but this tiny nation will be in the world's spotlight will remain there.

In fact, a number of predicted last days events center around Israel and the Jewish people. This includes the invasion of Gog (Ezekiel 38,39 and the Campaign of Armageddon, Revelation 16)

The fact that Zechariah 12:3, in speaking of the time of the end, says, "yet all the peoples of the earth will be assembled against it [Jerusalem]

To have all the nations of the world against Israel, it certainly must remain in the world's spotlight...

Seemingly, not a day goes by where Israel isn't somewhere in the world's headlines... Why?

#### **Biblical Prediction 5**

#### Israel Will Never Have Any Peace

While Israel would come back to their ancient homeland in the last days and form a modern state, according to Scripture, they will never have a moment of peace. They will constantly search for it but never find it.

In fact, when they think they have peace and safety then we are told sudden destruction would come upon them.

This has been the situation with Israel since its rebirth in 1948, basically no acceptance by the great majority of the world. Why is this one country treated so differently as the Scripture indicates that it would be?

How could the biblical writers, on a natural level, have known this? Simply put, they could not.

#### **Biblical Prediction 6**

#### There Will Be Continual Persecution Of Jews And Christians

According to Scripture, at the time of the end, there will be two people groups who will be persecuted: Jews and Christians. The evidence can be summarized as follows:

#### The Whole World Will Be Against Israel

Before the return of Jesus Christ to the earth, there will be a military campaign by the world ruler, the Final Antichrist, to obliterate the nation of Israel. In fact, he will assemble the armies of the world to attack the Jews and the city of Jerusalem. This is popularly known as the "campaign" or "battle" of Armageddon.

The Scripture says the entire world will be against Israel at the time of the end:

I am about to make Jerusalem a cup that brings dizziness to all the surrounding nations; indeed, Judah will also be included when Jerusalem is besieged. Moreover, on that day I will make Jerusalem a heavy burden for all the nations, and all who try to carry it will be seriously injured; yet all the peoples of the earth will be assembled against it. On that day ... (Zechariah 12:3,4 NET).

Notice what is said in this passage. The Lord is speaking of the time of the end. Two things are highlighted, the nation of Israel, which will still exist, is causing problems for the surrounding nations. Further *all* the peoples of the earth will be assembled against it... on that day.

Yet, in all of this, despite all of the predicted persecution and the desire to destroy them, the nation of Israel will continue to exist until the very moment the Lord returns. Long ago, the Lord promised this to His people through the prophet Jeremiah:

The LORD provides the sun to be a light during the day. He orders the moon and stars to be lights during the night. He stirs up the sea so that its waves roar. His name is the LORD of Armies. This is what the LORD says: Only if these laws stop working, declares the LORD, will Israel's descendants stop being a nation in my presence. This is what the LORD says: Only if the heavens could be measured or the foundations of the earth could be searched, would I ever reject all of Israel's descendants because of everything that they have done, declares the LORD (Jeremiah 31:35-37 God's Word Translation)

#### Christians Will Also Be Persecuted

In speaking of the time of the end, Jesus also warned Christians that they will be persecuted by the entire world for their belief in Him.

Then you will be handed over to be persecuted and put to death, and you will be hated by all nations because of me (Matthew 24:9 NIV).

From the various warnings in Scripture, we can conclude the following things.

#### Christians Will Exist At The Time Of The End

There will still be believers in Jesus Christ in the last days. From a human point of view, this was anything but certain at the time the Lord made the statement. Yet, His church, His true believers, will continue to exist—just as the Lord predicted:

On this rock I will build my church, and the gates of Hades will not overcome it (Matthew 16:18 NIV).

Nothing can stop this from happening. Nothing.

#### The Hatred For Christians Will Be Worldwide

Not only will believers in Christ exist, but they will also be found everywhere. Furthermore, wherever they do reside, there will be hatred against them because of the name of Christ.

#### Believers In Jesus Christ Will Be Persecuted Because Of Him

We discover that Christians will also be persecuted for their beliefs. Jesus said:

But before all this, they will seize you and persecute you. They will hand you over to synagogues and put you in prison, and you will be brought before kings and governors, and all on account of my name (Luke 21:12,13 NIV).

The Apostle Paul echoed this truth:

In fact, everyone who wants to live a godly life in Christ Jesus will be persecuted (2 Timothy 3:12 NIV).

#### This Is Precisely What Is Happening Today

Today, the two most persecuted groups in the world, in order, are Jews and Christians. No other group is even close. So, these two predictions, in this case warnings, have sadly come to pass. Furthermore, the persecution against both Jews and Christians continues to accelerate.

Question: How did the Bible know either group would still exist? This question makes for a fascinating study.

#### **Biblical Prediction 7**

#### The Ezekiel 38,39 Last Days Coalition That Will Attack Israel Would Continue To Form

The Ezekiel 38, 39 last days invasion of Israel sees four interest groups involved:

The nation of Israel who will be invaded...

The specific nation's that invade Israel...

The nation's that will question why this is taking place...

Finally, nations not mentioned as being involved...

From Scripture, we know the identities of each group.

Several decades ago, none of them were lined up where the Bible predicted they would be.

However, the situation has changed. Indeed, today, miraculously, the nations are lining up precisely what Scripture said it would be.

Is there any way that this could happen by chance?

In Ezekiel 38 and 39 the Bible predicts a last day's invasion of Israel by a number of countries. It is led by a personage who has the title of Gog. These nations will invade Israel from the north, south, east and west for the purpose of taking a spoil, something valuable that Israel has but all of them need.

The names of the invaders listed in Ezekiel are, or course, ancient. Therefore, we examine the geographical areas from where each group existed at the time and then discover which modern countries would be involved.

#### The Four Groups Involved

Four groups are mentioned: First, the people of Israel who will be attacked, second, the coalition of nations who will join to assemble to attack. Third, we have the nations who will not invade but rather will ask questions about why these various countries are doing this. Fourth, there are the nations who are conspicuous by their absence.

For example, in the invading group, the leader Gog is called the Prince of Rosh. Rosh, we believe is modern day Russia. Therefore, it will be a Russian who is the leader of the coalition. Other groups mentioned, Gomer and Beth Togarmah, are found in modern day Turkey. Persia is modern day Iran.

As far as those asking questions but not participating, ancient Sheba and Dedan are the modern-day Gulf States. Egypt, on the other hand, is conspicuous by its absence. Indeed, it not mentioned as being part of the invading force or questioning the invasion.

So, from Scripture we would conclude that there would be a coalition of nations who would invade Israel at the time of the end. Since these are specific predictions in Scripture, Bible believers assume that this is where these nations will end up.

However, in the 1970's there was a problem!

Egypt had been involved in every war with Israel, in 1948, 1967, 1973. In fact, Egypt was the driving force in each of the three wars with Israel. On the other hand, Iran was Israel's best friend in the Middle East. Their resupplying of Israel was crucial to the nation's survival in the 1973 Yom Kippur War

Turkey, who will be part of the invading force, is a member of NATO. At that time, they was Muslim in name only. It was the place where Israelis would take their vacations. They were a friend of Israel.

Furthermore, Scripture predicts a Russian/Iranian military confederation. Never in the history of the world has that taken place. In other words, the people from these two geographical areas have never fought together. Never!

#### **Everything Was Seemingly Wrong!**

The point is that our prophecy charts of who would be aligned with whom at the time of the end were completely opposite of what was happening in the world at that time. The predicted bad guys at the time of the end, Iran, and Turkey, were the good guys. Egypt, who will NOT be involved in this invasion, was the main nation that continually attacked Israel.

But we did not give up the faith. We knew that sooner or later this would change. We had "great expectations."

In 1979, Egypt, in the Camp David Accords, made peace with Israel. Jordan followed in 1994. They have had peaceful relations since then, no more wars. However, Muhammad Morsi and the fake election caused the Muslim Brotherhood to be elected to lead Egypt. They are directly connected to Iran.

At that time, Pastor Chuck Smith of Calvary Chapel of Costa Mesa, California and I were doing the program World News Briefing on Hischannel.com. We stated that Morsi's government would not last. Egypt will NOT be in bed with Iran and the radical Muslims. Yet, this was threatened by this new government.

However, Morsi was soon overthrown by a military coup led by General Al-Sisi. Then the Muslim Brotherhood was outlawed and designated a terrorist organization in Egypt in December 2013. Egypt remains at peace with Israel.

#### Iran

In the mid-1970's Pastor Chuck Smith was on Israel's northern border with officers from the Israeli Defense Force. As they looked at both Syria and Lebanon from their vantage point, he told them that these two countries should not be their worry. Instead, they should worry about Iran. They laughed at him when he said that since Iran was Israel's best friend in the Middle East. Chuck told them to remember what he said.

In 1979, the Shah of Iran was overthrown, and the Islamic Republic of Iran was established. Since then, Iran's state sponsored terrorism has spread throughout the world. Included also was the consistent drumbeat of "death to Israel." Global domination through worldwide Jihad has been their goal ever since.

At that time, Chuck started receiving phone calls from these same Israeli officers asking, "What's going to happen next?"

#### How Could We Know?

So how could Chuck and I know that the Morsi government would not last in Egypt? How could he confidently tell these Israeli leaders that Iran would be their major problem in the future? We stated that we are not "prophets" or "sons of prophets." We were merely telling the people what the Scripture predicted.

The situation in the 70's has been completely reversed. The Bible is proven right again! Basically, these nations are now lined up as the Scripture has predicted. Our takeaway from this is simple: God's Word will always turn out to be true, sooner or later! We cover this thoroughly in our book *The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion*.

#### **Biblical Prediction 8**

#### What Israel Will Look Like In The Last Days— Before The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion

When we closely examine what the Prophet Ezekiel stated about this last day's invasion of Israel by these various nations, we find that there are at least thirteen predictions, or assumptions, as to what the world would be like at the time of the end when this invasion takes place. From these assumptions, here is what we should expect to see.

#### Assumption 1 The Nation Of Israel Will Exist In The Last Days

This is primary. In fact, it is their country that will be invaded by this coalition of nations led by Gog. Before the invasion, we read the following in Ezekiel 37:

Then he said to me, "Son of man, these bones are all the house of Israel. Look, they are saying, 'Our bones are dry, our hope has perished; we are cut off.' Therefore prophesy, and tell them, 'This is what the sovereign Lord says: Look, I am about to open your graves and will raise you from your graves, my people. I will bring you to the land of Israel (Ezekiel 37:11-12 NET).

After describing the results of the invasion, the Lord says:

I will display my majesty among the nations. All the nations will witness the judgment I have executed, and the power I have exhibited among them. Then the house of Israel will know that I am the Lord their God, from that day forward (Ezekiel 39:21-22 NET.)

Specifically, the nation of Israel will exist in the last days. This is the first assumption.

#### Assumption 2 Gog, With His Armies Will Come To The Land Of Israel, A Land That Had Been Ravaged By Wars

Scripture says:

After many days you will be summoned; in the latter years you will come to a land restored from the ravages of war (Ezekiel 38:8 NET)

#### Assumption 3 The Promised Land Will Have Been In Ruins For A Long Time

Ezekiel 38:8 tells us that this land had suffered for a long period of time:

... with many peoples gathered on the mountains of Israel that had long been in ruins (Ezekiel 38:8 NET).

#### Assumption 4 The People Of Israel, However, Will Be Numerous

... with many peoples gathered on the mountains of Israel (Ezekiel 38:8 NET)

Earlier, in Ezekiel 37, we are told the people would be "like a great army."

So I prophesied as he commanded me, and the breath came into them, and they lived and stood on their feet, an exceedingly great army (Ezekiel 37:10 ESV)

#### Assumption 5 The People Of Israel Had Previously Been Scattered To Many Lands

... its people have returned from many lands to the mountains of Israel (Ezekiel 38:8 NLT)

#### Assumption 6 Yet, The People Will Have Returned To Their Ancient Homeland

Again, we read the Lord saying the following to Gog:

A long time from now you will be called into action. In the distant future you will swoop down on the land of Israel ... after its people have returned from many lands to the mountains of Israel (Ezekiel 38:8 NLT).

We should note that Ezekiel had earlier recorded the Lord predicting this return:

I will bring them out from among the peoples and gather them from foreign countries; I will bring them to their own land. I will feed them on the mountains of Israel, by the streams and all the inhabited places of the land (Ezekiel 34:13 NET).

#### Assumption 7 This Will Occur In The Last Days Of This Age

We are specifically told that these events will take place in the "last days," in the "distant future," after the people have returned to their ancient homeland in two separate statements that were addressed to Gog:

After many days you will be summoned; in the latter years you will come to a land restored from the ravages of war (Ezekiel 38:8 NET).

At that time in the distant future, I will bring you against my land as everyone watches, and my holiness will be displayed by what happens to you, Gog (Ezekiel 38:16 NLT).

In other words, this future invasion takes place after the people have returned to their ancient homeland in the "last days," the "time of the end."

#### Assumption 8 But Only After The People Had Been Away For A Long Time

The people in the land will have been gathered from many nations to the mountains of Israel, which were empty for a long time (Ezekiel 38:8 NCV).

#### Assumption 9 The Desolate Land To Which They Return Will Be Restored

Though they would return to a desolate land, they would restore the desolation:

A long time from now you will be called into action. In the distant future you will swoop down on the land of Israel, which will be enjoying peace after recovering from war (Ezekiel 38:8 NLT).

When Gog invades, the land will have been restored from the ravages of war, the cities will be populated, and the ruins rebuilt.

#### Assumption 10 Not Only Is The Land Restored The People Will Create Great Wealth

However, there is more than merely the restoration of the land. Indeed, once the people of Israel return to their ancient homeland, they will create great wealth.

In fact, it is this great wealth that will cause this personage named Gog, along with his allies, to invade the land. The Lord said to him:

This is what the Sovereign Lord says: At that time evil thoughts will come to your mind, and you will devise a wicked scheme. . . You will say, 'Israel is an unprotected land filled with unwalled villages! I will march against her and destroy these people who live in such confidence! I will go to those formerly desolate cities that are now filled with people who have returned from exile in many nations. I will capture vast amounts of plunder, for the people are rich with livestock and other possessions now Ezekiel 38:8-12 NLT).

Notice that there are vast amounts of items for them to plunder, to capture.

#### Assumption 11 When The People Return, They Will Form A State (Some Political Entity)

Gog and his allies will attack a nation, not just a mob of people.

#### Assumption 12 Their Borders Will Include The Mountains Of Israel

...with many peoples gathered on the mountains of Israel (Ezekiel 38:8 NET).

#### Assumption 13 They Will Come Back In Unbelief In Jesus As Their Messiah

How do we know this to be true? Scripture tells us that it is only when the Lord destroys these invading armies do the people begin to recognize that the Lord is working on their behalf. This assumes that they were in a state of unbelief until that time.

These thirteen predictions (assumptions), made about 2,600 years ago, must be fulfilled before the invasion can occur. You may have noticed that each and every one of them has now been literally fulfilled!

Therefore, against all odds these thirteen assumptions of what Israel would look like at the time of the end have now come to pass.

(For a complete documentation of their literal fulfillment see Appendix 3 in our book *The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion...* Two Prophets: Two Sets of Predictions: Undeniable Proof That The Bible Is True as well as 25 Signs We Are Near The End, Sign 9 ... "In The Last Days, Certain Specified Nations Will Invade Israel."

#### **Biblical Prediction 9**

#### Russia's Dominant Leadership In The Middle East (Ezekiel 38:1-3)

When we read about this "last days" invasion of Israel in the Book of Ezekiel, it begins with the Word of the Lord addressing a particular man who will lead this invasion:

Now the word of the LORD came to me, saying, "Son of man, set your face against Gog, of the land of Magog, the prince of Rosh, Meshech, and Tubal, and prophesy against him, and say, 'Thus says the Lord GOD: "Behold, I am against you, O Gog, the prince of Rosh, Meshech, and Tubal (Ezekiel 38:1-3 NKJV).

#### So, What Are Our Expectations About Gog And His Invading Forces?

From a look at Ezekiel 38 and 39, we can make a number of observations about this evil individual as well as what country he represents.

**Expectation 1:** He is not named but given a title—Gog.

**Expectation 2:** He is from the land of Magog.

This region would seemingly be in what is now parts of southwestern Russia, Georgia, eastern Turkey, Armenia, and Azerbaijan.

**Expectation 3:** Gog is directly addressed by the Lord in this passage.

Gog is directly addressed by the Lord in this passage. He is singled out as a person that the Lord is "against." So obviously he is an important character in the scheme of events as far as the Bible is concerned.

**Expectation 4:** He is a leader who will arise from modern day Russia.

See Appendix 1 in our book The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion as to why we hold this view.

**Expectation 5:** This assumes Russia is a powerful nation at this time in that part of the world.

**Expectation 6:** Gog alone puts together this coalition of nations that will invade Israel. They are named for us in Scripture:

I will turn you around, put hooks into your jaws, and bring you out with all your army, horses and horsemen, all of them fully armed, a great company with shields of different types, all of them armed with swords. Persia, Ethiopia, and Put are with them, all of them with shields and helmets. They are joined by Gomer with all its troops, and by Beth Togarmah from the remote parts of the north with all its troops - many peoples are with you (Ezekiel 38:4-6 NET).

When we look at an ancient map, we find that the geographical areas include modern day Iran and Turkey. Note that there are many people involved with this coalition.

Expectation 7: He will obviously be a powerful leader to be able to put together such a large group of nations.

**Expectation 8:** These nations obey him. Obviously, Gog has some type of sway over them.

This further indicates his power.

**Expectation 9:** He only arises in the "last days."

This next observation is crucial! In other words, we should NOT expect him to come on the scene before the time of the end. The Bible says:

After many days you will be summoned; in the latter years you will come to a land restored from the ravages of war, with many peoples gathered on the mountains of Israel that had long been in ruins. Its people were brought out from the peoples, and all of them will be living securely. You will advance; you will come like a storm. You will be like a cloud covering the earth, you, all your troops, and the many other peoples with you (Ezekiel 38:8-10 NET).

Expectation 10: He has evil thoughts, namely, to take something from Israel that does not belong to him.

He has no problem doing this:

This is what the sovereign LORD says: On that day thoughts will come into your mind, and you will devise an evil plan. You will say, "I will invade a land of unwalled towns; I will advance against those living quietly

in security - all of them living without walls and barred gates - to loot and plunder, to attack the inhabited ruins and the people gathered from the nations, who are acquiring cattle and goods, who live at the center of the earth" (Ezekiel 38:10-12 NET).

**Expectation 11:** Ezekiel 38:8 tells us that the people of Israel will be living confidently or living in confidence at that time.

One translation puts it this way:

But they have been taken out from the peoples, and they will be living in confidence (Ezekiel 38:8 The First Testament)

This tells us that they are NOT expecting to be invaded. Since this individual will catch the people of Israel unaware, it seems like he will have some type of relationship with them to the place where Israel thinks that they can trust him to protect them. See Appendix 4 in our book *The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion* for further details.

#### The Situation Today

Israel and Russia have had a cozy relationship in recent years, especially under Prime Minister Netanyahu. In other words, it would be easy for them to be caught unaware of an invasion by their "friend" Russia.

Furthermore, Russia is in Syria to stay for at least the next forty-nine years as per an agreement between Moscow and Damascus. As a reminder, Israel borders Syria on their north.

While much more could be said, it is clear that today, by far, Russia is the most powerful country when it comes to influencing the people of the Middle East.

#### **Biblical Prediction 10**

#### The United States Will Not Be A Player In The Middle East

This particular prediction deals with what the Bible does NOT say!

We read in Ezekiel of the evil thought of Gog as he decides to invade Israel with this coalition of nations:

This is what the Sovereign LORD says: On that day thoughts will come into your mind, and you will devise an evil plan. You will say, "I will invade a land of unwalled towns; I will advance against those living quietly in security—all of them living without walls and barred gates—to loot and plunder, to attack the inhabited ruins and the people gathered from the nations, who are acquiring cattle and goods, who live at the center of the earth" (Ezekiel 38:10-12 NET).

Gog devises a plan to invade Israel. We should note that he does not give a second thought about anyone coming to Israel's aid during the invasion. And as we are told, no country does. In other words, there is no superpower who will come to the rescue.

So where in the world is the United States? Simply put, we are a non-player in the last days invasion. Indeed, the U.S. is conspicuous by its absence. For whatever reason, willingly or unwillingly, America will not be involved in defending Israel or coming to its support in any way.

Since this has never been true of the United States since the founding of the modern state of Israel, we can assume from our non-mention, that the U.S. will be in decline as a superpower. Sadly, this is precisely the situation that we see today.

For further documentation of the United States not being a player in last days Bible prophecy see our book 45 Common Mistakes About Last Days Bible Prophecy Cleared Up ... Mistake 10..."The United States Is Not Found In Last Days Bible Prophecy" and Mistake 11: It Is A Mistake To Claim That The "Young Lions Of Tarshish" in Ezekiel 38:18 Refers To The United States.

Also see Sign 11, from our book 25 Signs We Are Near The End ... "No Superpower Will Intervene On Israel's Behalf When They Are Invaded (Ezekiel 38,39) Something Will Happen To The United States"

#### **Biblical Prediction 11**

#### There Will Be Preparations To Build A Third Temple

According to Scripture, the nation Israel and the city of Jerusalem will be center-stage for last days events. In particular, ground zero of predicted biblical events will be the Temple Mount in the city of Jerusalem. It is at that location that one day, the Jews will build a Third Temple. At this rebuilt Temple certain events that will take place will be "the sign" that the coming of Jesus Christ will be soon at hand.

The key is what we read about in the Book of Daniel. Daniel 12:11 tells us what will take place:

From the time that the daily sacrifice is removed and the abomination that causes desolation is set in place, there are 1,290 days (Daniel 12:11 NIV).

Once the sacrifices in the rebuilt Temple are suddenly stopped, and the abomination that causes desolation takes place, the desecration of the Holy of Holies, then in 1,290 days, or three and one-half years later, the Lord Jesus returns to the earth! Consequently, we can see how important this entire subject of the Third Temple is.

#### Time To Rebuild

On July 28, 2014, The Temple Institute, an organization in Jerusalem which works toward the rebuilding of the Third Temple, began a revolutionary campaign to literally rebuild it—through the power of crowdfunding. Headlines under the title "Don't make history. Make the future. Build the Third Temple." Among other things, their online ad read as follows . . .

Now is time for one of its most ambitious projects yet: completing architectural plans for the actual construction, fusing ancient texts and modern technology. While strictly adhering to the religious requirements set forth in Biblical texts, the Third Temple will also be equipped with every modern amenity: full computerization, underground parking, temperature control, elevators, docks for public transportation, wheelchair access, and much more.

Notice that their desire is for full computerization of the next Temple. This would explain how everyone on earth could "see" the Abomination of Desolation, the desecration of the Temple, when it takes place (see Biblical Prediction 1).

This rebuilding of the Temple and the offering of sacrifices has been long-predicted by those who have taken the Bible seriously. In other words, they believe the Lord has meant precisely what He has said. Consider this statement by Robert Govett:

The temple in Jerusalem will be yet rebuilt by the Jews in unbelief, and be the scene of wickedness greater than has ever appeared . . . While, then, the temple had been destroyed at the date of the writing of Revelation [approximately A.D. 90], it was hereby predicted that it would be rebuilt . . . Till the Jew is brought back to his own land, and the temple and sacrifices restored, the prophetic part of the Apocalypse does not begin (Robert Govett, *Govett on Revelation*, Volume I, Miami Springs, Florida, 1981, reprint of originally published in London in 1861 titled *The Apocalypse: Expounded by Scripture*, p. 497).

How did he know that? He wrote 1,800 years after the Jews had been scattered from their ancient homeland. In fact, they were still scattered around the world when he wrote.

How did he know that they would come back to their land and then build a Third Temple? Simple. The Bible says so!

Therefore, we must keep our eyes on the Temple Mount and the desire to see the Third Temple eventually built. As we have seen, preparations have been made. Now it is all about God's timing.

We document this fully in our book *The Jews, Jerusalem, and the Coming Temple* as well Sign 8 in our book ^... "Preparations Will Be Made To Build The Third Temple."

#### **Biblical Prediction 12**

#### People Will Call Good Evil, And Evil Good, And They Will Hate That Which Is Good

About 2,700 years ago, Isaiah the prophet wrote about the reason for the coming captivity of the southern kingdom of Judah:

How terrible it will be for people who call good things bad and bad things good, who think darkness is light and light is darkness, who think sour is sweet and sweet is sour. How terrible it will be for people who think they are wise and believe they are clever (Isaiah 5:20-21 NCV)

The people's inverted value system caused them to reject God's standards of righteousness.

Well, there's nothing new under the sun. Paul wrote:

Remember this! In the last days there will be many troubles... They will be cruel, will hate what is good (2 Timothy 3:1,3 NCV).

People will not only be cruel to one another; they will hate that which is good...

Calling good evil and evil good... Opposing that which is good... Another sign of the time of the end according to Scripture. As we are all painfully aware, it is now all around us.

#### Let's Review These Twelve Biblical Predictions...

## Biblical Prediction 1 The Entire Population Of The Earth Will Be Able To Watch Certain Prophesied Events In Real Time

The Bible predicts a world where everyone, at the time of the end, will be able to see global events take place in real time. Three instances are mentioned. They include:

Revelation 11 the events surrounding the death of the two witnesses. The entire world will know about their death, will have a worldwide celebration, and then will watch with horror as their dead bodies ascend into heaven.

Revelation 13 tells us that everyone on earth is commanded to take the mark of the beast upon the pain of death. How can that be made known to everyone? How could it be enforced?

Matthew 24:15 Jesus said when you "see" the Abomination of Desolation that will take place in the Temple in Jerusalem. How could anyone in the world "see" what takes place in the future Temple which will be built in Jerusalem.

With such projects as Elon Musk's Starlink, this will now be made possible.

Streaming, video calls, online gaming, remote working and more are now possible in even the most remote locations thanks to the world's most advanced internet system.

How could the biblical writers assume that this would be a possibility, short of divine revelation. They couldn't.

## Biblical Prediction 2 All Financial Transactions Worldwide Will Be Able To Be Monitored (Assumes Digital Currency Worldwide)

Scripture also predicts that a time will come when every business transaction on the planet will be monitored. Nobody will be able to buy or sell without the Mark of the Beast. This is the mark of the Final Antichrist, his name or the number of his name.

The push toward digital currency will allow this to happen on a global scale.

Question: How could anyone in the first century even remotely assume this could be possible? Again, they could not.

# Biblical Prediction 3 At The Time Of The End, The Descendants Of Abraham, Isaac And Jacob Would Still Exist, Return To Their Ancient Homeland, Form A Modern State, And Unify Jerusalem

The Lord promised that the nation of Israel would exist at the time of the end. In addition, they will also miraculously come back to their ancient homeland in the last days. In doing so, they would form a modern state. Furthermore, the city of Jerusalem would be unified under their control.

Each of these events have been predicted by Scripture and each have literally come to pass!

How do we explain any of this on a natural level? We simply cannot!

#### Biblical Prediction 4 The Reborn Nation Of Israel Would Remain In The World's Spotlight

Incredibly, not only will Israel exist and become a modern state, but this tiny nation will be in the world's spotlight will remain there.

In fact, a number of predicted last days events center around Israel and the Jewish people. This includes the invasion of Gog (Ezekiel 38,39 and the Campaign of Armageddon, Revelation 16)

The fact that Zechariah 12:3, in speaking of the time of the end, says, "yet all the peoples of the earth will be assembled against it [Jerusalem]

To have all the nations of the world against Israel, it certainly must remain in the world's spotlight...

Seemingly, not a day goes by where Israel isn't somewhere in the world's headlines... Why?

#### Biblical Prediction 5 The Nation Of Israel Will Never Have Any Peace

While Israel would come back to their ancient homeland in the last days and form a modern state, according to Scripture, they will never have a moment of peace. They will constantly search for it but never find it.

In fact, when they think they have peace and safety then we are told sudden destruction would come upon them.

This has been the situation with Israel since its rebirth in 1948, basically no acceptance by the great majority of the world. Why is this one country treated so differently as the Scripture indicates that it would be?

How could the biblical writers, on a natural level, have known this? Simply put, they could not.

#### Biblical Prediction 6 Both Christians And Jews Will Be Persecuted

Of all the people groups in the world, Scripture specifically predicts that two will be singled out for persecution at the time of the end, Christians and Jews.

Each group, one racial, the descendants of Abraham, Isaac and Jacob, and one non-racial, but religious, the believers in Christ, would not only exist in the last days, but they would also both be singled out for persecution.

This is precisely what we see happening now. The two main groups in the world that suffer persecution are Christians and Jews.

There is something else we should not miss. We should recognize how amazing this prediction is, namely how could anyone know, two thousand years ago, that Christians and Jews would still exist at the time of the end, not only exist but specifically be persecuted.

Humanly speaking, nobody could know but the biblical writers did know! How did they know?

### Biblical Prediction 7 The Ezekiel 38,39 Last Days Coalition That Will Attack Israel Would Continue To Form

The Ezekiel 38, 39 last days invasion of Israel sees four interest groups involved:

The nation of Israel who will be invaded...

The specific nation's that invade Israel...

The nation's that will question why this is taking place...

Finally, nations not mentioned as being involved...

From Scripture, we know the identities of each group.

Several decades ago, none of them were lined up where the Bible predicted they would be.

However, the situation has changed. Indeed, today, miraculously, the nations are lining up precisely what Scripture said it would be.

Is there any way that this could happen by chance?

### Biblical Prediction 8 What Israel Will Look Like In The Last Days Before The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion

Before the last days invasion of Israel by a number of regional nations, the Bible tells us what Israel will look like at the time of the aggression. In fact, thirteen specific things are assumed to be true about Israel and their future standing in the world.

Here is the mind-boggling truth. All thirteen have been miraculously fulfilled! What are the odds that this could happen by chance.

#### Biblical Prediction 9 Russia's Dominant Leadership In The Middle East

In the last days, Scripture predicts that Russia will exert its influence over Middle East. In fact, they alone must be powerful enough to form and lead a last day's coalition of nations that will invade Israel.

Today, this is exactly what we are seeing develop.

Lucky guess?

#### Biblical Prediction 10 The United States Will Not Be A Player In The Middle East

In contrast to Russia, the United States will have its attention elsewhere internationally. When the Ezekiel 38,39 invasion takes place, the leader of the coalition, Gog, will not give a second thought about any nation intervening on the side of Israel. The United States will be conspicuous by its absence.

For whatever reason, and there are many possibilities, the United States will not be involved in the events of the last days with respect to Israel, the Middle East, Russia, and Western Europe.

#### Biblical Prediction 11 There Will Be Preparations To Build A Third Temple

The Temple Mount, the small geographical area in Jerusalem, will be the scene where the most important last days events will take place. They will revolve around a future Temple that has not yet been built.

However, preparations are being made to build a Third Temple. Basically, everything is ready, the implements, the trained people who will manage it, etc. However, the possibility to build is not yet a reality.

Predicted in Scripture, predicted by those who have taken the Bible seriously. How did they know?

### Biblical Prediction 12 People Will Call Good Evil, And Evil Good, And They Will Hate That Which Is Good

Finally, the Bible says that the world system at the time of the end will be calling evil "good," good "evil," and hating that which is good.

Sadly, this mindset is now everywhere in our present world. Those who protest are regarded as regressive, not progressive. The "regressives" will be told that there is not a place for them in this evolving world.

They will be singled out and ostracized for being intolerant, homophobic, Islamophobic, transgender phobic, and racist.

#### Conclusion

After looking these 12 biblical predictions, and the facts supporting it, does anyone really believe that this is all coincidence? Maybe lucky guessing?

The simple truth is that there is indeed a God who exists and who has a plan for time and eternity. Furthermore, He has revealed that plan to us in Scripture.

It is crucial that we understand His plan as well as do our part to spread His truth to the entire world.

#### Conclusion On Our 12 Biblical Predictions

What are the odds that any one of these twelve biblical predictions could be fulfilled by mere chance?

Correct. None of these things were predictable on a natural level. However, the Bible is a supernatural book, the divine revelation of the only God who exists. This is why we see the stage being set for the literal fulfillment of each of these predictions. The words of the Lord to ancient Israel are appropriate here:

You have heard; now look at all the evidence! Will you not admit that what I say is true? (Isaiah 48:6 NET).

#### Summing Up:

If a person is intellectually honest, they cannot deny the Scripture has accurately predicted all these things ahead of time.

The logical conclusion is that the Bible is indeed the Word of the Living God, which among other things, has supernaturally told us what will take place in the future.

Therefore, it further confirms the main message of Scripture: Jesus Christ is the one way to reach the one God. He alone is the way, the truth, and the life.

Finally, from what the evidence has shown, believers in Jesus Christ will have so many other biblical predictions fulfilled in the future. This includes our bodies raised from the dead, the uniting with our friends and relatives who have passed on, who have believed in Christ, and the promise of forever living in the presence of the Lord.

#### Appendix 2:

## Understanding God's Plan For The Future Of Our World

The Bible makes it clear that God has a plan for both time and eternity. History, according to Scripture, does indeed have an endgame.

So, the obvious question is this: "Is there anything in the Scripture that tells us the details of His plan as well as how we can know if we are getting near the time of the end?

Well, there certainly is!! In fact, the Bible emphasizes that we can understand the times in which we are living by paying attention to a number of events that are predicted to take place!

Consequently, we should take the time to study God's Word so we can understand precisely where we are in God's prophetic timetable.

To illustrate this, we read in the Book of Daniel that after certain things were revealed to the prophet, the Lord stated the following:

But you, Daniel, close up these words and seal the book until the time of the end. Many will dash about, and knowledge will increase (Daniel 12:4 NET).

This passage is highly instructive for us. Daniel was told to "seal up the book *until* the time of the end." Though many people would attempt to understand the meaning of these things which were predicted about the future of our world, they would not be able to.

Indeed, the prophet was told that it would only be "at the time of the end" that believers in the God of the Bible would be able understand what is taking place with respect to the events of the "last days." This is because "the" knowledge shall increase.

Specifically, it is talking about knowledge of Bible prophecy which includes the many predictions that are contained in the Book of Daniel.

Accordingly, there is the biblical promise, namely, that those who would live at the time of the end of the age, before the Kingdom of God comes to the earth, would be in a unique position to make sense out of what was going on in the world.

#### The Question From The Heavenly Being

In addition, apart from the words that the Lord gave Daniel, we also read in this chapter that there was a question from one heavenly being to another heavenly being, about the things that Daniel was told:

One said to the man clothed in linen who was above the waters of the river, "When will the end of these wondrous events occur?" (Daniel 12:6 NET).

In this instance, we find that one of these heavenly beings was ignorant as to when these predicted events would take place, so he had to ask another one of the heavenly beings about the timing.

The point is this: this heavenly being wanted to know what the Lord had in store for the future, and we should want to know too.

#### Daniel Did Not Know

Daniel himself admitted that he did not understand the things he was hearing. He said the following:

I heard, but I did not understand. So I said, "Sir, what will happen after these things?" (Daniel 12:8 NET)

This is profound. To put this issue into perspective, let us recall some of the highlights of the ministry of Daniel the prophet.

To begin with, this man was given more prophetic insight into the future than any other man who has ever lived, with the possible exception of John in the Book of Revelation.

For example, Daniel interpreted the dream of Nebuchadnezzar (chapter 2) which told of four successive Gentile kingdoms coming to the earth, to eventually be replaced by the fifth kingdom, namely, the kingdom of God.

Daniel also received his own vision of these kingdoms in (Chapter 7) with further information given about each of them, particularly the last one, Rome.

In the ninth chapter, Daniel was given specific information on the exact time of the Messiah's First Coming to the world as well as information about the timing of His Second Coming.

These are just some of the many predictions that Daniel recorded in his book.

#### Daniel Would Not Be Able To Understand Last Days Events

Yet, Daniel was the told that he would *not* be able to understand the meaning of these predicted future events that he had just heard and written about:

He said, "Go, Daniel. For these matters are closed and sealed until the time of the end. Many will be purified, made clean, and refined, but the wicked will go on being wicked. None of the wicked will understand, though the wise will understand (Daniel 12:9-10 NET).

Let us pay close attention to what these verses specifically promise.

First, these prophetic matters that Daniel heard and wrote about will be closed up, not understood, until the time of the end. Therefore, they would not make sense to anyone who lived previously to the end times.

However, the wicked, though living at the time of the end, would not be able to understand them. They would remain wicked and not comprehend the meaning of certain events taking place in our world.

On the other hand, the wise who live at the time of the end, would understand their meaning.

In other words, those who take God's Word seriously, and looked at certain events that were taking place, would be able to see how they fit in with the Lord's plan that He has revealed to us in Scripture.

Ok, since we have the promise, namely, that we, who are living at the time of the end, can understand why certain things are happening in the world because they will fit with God's plan, then how do we go about finding out what the Bible says on this important question?

This is where the study of the entirety of Scripture comes into play, not just a verse here or a chapter there.

Seemingly, the best way to be able to do this, is start with what we know is eventually going to happen and then work backwards.

The key event, as far as our world is concerned, is the Second Coming of Jesus Christ. It is the culmination of the promises of God in both testaments, namely, God's kingdom comes to earth in the presence of the King!

However, before this takes place, the Bible lists a number of events that will occur before His return.

Therefore, we want to know from Scripture what our world will be like before His return.

In other words, what does the Bible specifically predict will happen to certain nations that exist at the time of the end? That's exactly what are going to look at now.

First, Israel. The Bible has much to say about what will happen to the descendants of Abraham, Isaac and Iacob.

The reason being is that Israel is God's clock, His timepiece. The nation is the hour hand, the city of Jerusalem is the minute hand, while the Temple Mount is the second hand (We develop this in our book The Jews, Jerusalem, and the Coming Temple).

Amazingly, many of the biblical predictions about Israel's future have already been literally fulfilled.

From our book, 25 Signs We Are Near The End, we discover the following seven signs that the Bible predicts.

#### Sign 1 The Miracle Of Israel's Survival

The fact that Israel is "the key," to Bible prophecy means that the nation will still exist in the "last days," just as it does indeed exist today. Therefore, not surprisingly, we find in Scripture that the Lord has specifically promised Israel that they would always exist.

Indeed, God said as long as the sun and moon are in the sky, there would be the nation of Israel (Jeremiah 31:35-36). Furthermore, in many passages, in both testaments, Israel is explicitly mentioned in Scripture as existing at the time of the end.

#### Sign 3 Israel Will Miraculously Return To Its Ancient Homeland In The "Last Days"

Not only does Israel exist in the last days but against all odds of history they have returned to their ancient homeland and have been recognized as a modern country. This, too, fulfills that which the Bible has promised.

What is also so amazing is that no other nation in the history of the world has ever been entirely removed from their homeland and then returned, and it has happened to Israel, not once, but twice—the first time it was for 70 years, the last time for almost 1,900 years!

Furthermore, each time their exile, as well as their return, was predicted in Scripture.

Another remarkable thing is that the second exile of Israel was predicted by the prophet Isaiah before they even entered into a first exile!

#### Sign 5 Jerusalem Will Be United Under Israeli Rule

In 1948, when the modern state of Israel was reborn, the city of Jerusalem was divided between two countries—Israel and Transjordan. While the Israeli's were in control of west Jerusalem, east Jerusalem was in the hands of Transjordan.

With this in mind, careful Bible students went on to predict that another war must take place.

Why?

The reason was the Scripture assumes that Jerusalem will be united under Israeli rule in the "last days." Indeed, the Word of God predicts certain events would take place involving Israel and east Jerusalem at the time of the end.

Hence, it is these passages from Scripture, that assume Israeli control over all of Jerusalem, that explain why Bible students have foretold another war.

As expected, in June of 1967, the city of Jerusalem was united under Israeli rule. This was the first time this has happened in 2,600 years!

The Six Day War saw the Israeli's capture the entire city and it remains under their control to this day. In fact, in 2025, the people celebrated the 58th anniversary of the reunification of Jerusalem.

#### Sign 6 Israel Will Constantly Be In The World's Spotlight

While all of these previous predictions have been literally fulfilled, another notable one considers Israel's place in the world at the time of the end.

Not only will Israel remarkably become a modern state, or country, and the city of Jerusalem will be unified in the last days, but this tiny nation will also be in the world's spotlight.

We know this because the Bible, in the Book of Zechariah, speaks of the entire world being against Israel at the time of the end.

This could only take place if the various nations were aware of Israel, as well as the current political climate with them and their neighbors.

Now, while it is one thing to predict the return of the people to their ancient homeland, it is quite another thing to predict that the headlines of the world will continually feature this small nation.

Yet, this is precisely what has happened. Indeed, it seems that hardly a day goes by without Israel being mentioned somewhere in the headlines of the world's media.

#### Sign 7 There Will Be A Continual Search For Peace In Israel

Our world has not accepted the idea of a unified Jerusalem under Israeli rule. In fact, a great part of the world has not recognized the idea of a Jewish state at all! This fits with what the Scriptures predicted.

Consequently, there has been a continuous call for some sort of peace agreement that would give away much of Israeli land, as well as divide Jerusalem again. This has been advocated from the moment the city was unified.

This idea of a "peace treaty" is an important concept in the "last days" scenario of Scripture.

In fact, it assumes that there are major problems between Israel and its neighbors and that they cannot seem to find a solution.

#### Sign 21 There Will Be A Rise In Anti-Semitism (The Entire World Will Be Against Israel)

With the rejection of any future for Israel, which is taught by the mainline church, and with false prophets teaching a different message with respect to Christ's coming, we should also expect a rise of anti-Semitism at the time of the end.

In fact, this is precisely what the Scripture teaches. Not only would Israel exist, return to their ancient homeland, and be in the world's spotlight, but at the time of the end they will basically be on their own.

In "Sign 9," of our 25 Signs We Are Near The End, we observed that there will a number of nations who will invade Israel in the last days (Ezekiel 38,39). We also discovered that nobody would come to Israel's defense at that time.

In other words, they will be without human help. However, although abandoned by other nations, Israel would not be forgotten by them. To the contrary, they will be hated and vilified by the entire world.

Again, this is exactly what we see in our world today. Israel is despised by a great part of humanity. Furthermore, that hatred will only grow worse as we approach the time of the end.

In documenting this fact, there is another point that should be noted, namely, for Israel to be persecuted, it must exist. As we indicated in Sign 1, the fact of Israel's existence is a miracle of the highest order.

#### Sign 22 Christians Will Continue To Be Persecuted

While the Jews will be vilified and persecuted at the time of the end, the Bible says they will not be alone in this experience. Indeed, Christians will also be singled out for persecution.

While humankind likes to boast how civilized and advanced, they have become, we find that does not include their treatment of Christians.

Jesus predicted that the persecution of His followers would continue to the very end. In other words, the unbelieving world will never tolerate the message of Christ.

History records that more Christians have been killed for the cause of Christ in the 20th Century than in the first nineteen centuries combined. The 21st Century is actually ahead of last century with the number of believers being martyred for their faith.

Like Israel, from Scripture, the existence of Christians is assumed at the time of the end. On a human level, how could this be possible? Its leader was crucified, and His disciples were scattered.

Yet, Christianity exists today as the largest religion in the world. Therefore, we have the miracle of Christianity's existence as well as the fact that believers in Christ, as it has been true from the beginning, continue to suffer persecution.

#### Conclusion

Let us remember that these seven predicted signs, that have been made in the Bible, are from books that were written from 2,000 to 2,600 years ago.

The first thing that we should immediately notice is that each of these seven signs has been literally fulfilled!

Now, we should pause for a minute and think about the odds that these events predicted in Scripture could have happened by chance. Simply put, it is not possible. Yet they all have come to pass just as the Bible predicted.

Therefore, we should conclude that we are dealing with a supernatural revelation from God, namely, the Bible.

#### How Ezekiel 38,39 Helps Us Understand The Times We Are Living In

In looking at Israel, there is one particular passage that sheds light on what will happen to it in the last days, namely, Ezekiel 38,39.

Basically, these two chapters predict a last day's invasion of Israel by a number of nations.

The leader of this invasion is a personage called Gog. The description of him that is given to us in Ezekiel 38 reveals that he is a leader from the modern-day country of Russia. We explain why this is true in some detail in Appendix 1 of our book "The Ezekiel 38,39 Invasion" a free download from our website educatingourworld under the heading of Bible prophecy.

In addition, twice in this verse, Ezekiel 38:8 makes it clear that this invasion will happen at the time of the end:

After many days you will be summoned. In the latter years, you will come against the land that has been brought back from the sword and regathered from many peoples on the mountains of Israel, which had been a continual waste. But they were brought out from the peoples (Ezekiel 38:8 TLV).

Notice the two phrases, "after many day" and "in the latter years." This designates that this invasion will happen at the time of the end.

As we examine the passage, we find that there are four interest groups involved in this scenario:

First, there is Israel who will be invaded.

Second, there is the coalition of nations that will participate in the invasion. Among others, they include Russia, Turkey and Iran.

Third, there are nations specifically mentioned that will not be involved in the invasion but will protest what happens. This includes the Gulf States, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, etc.

Fourth, there will be nations conspicuous by their absence. This includes Egypt but also the United States and China. None of these three are specifically mentioned or alluded to as either participating in the invasion or sitting it out.

In sum, we have the nation that is going to be invaded, the coalition that will participate in the invasion, those who protestor the invasion, but will not help militarily, and those who, for whatever reason, are not involved.

From understanding what the Bible says about this scenario, we can make a number of conclusions about these various nations that are listed, as well as the ones who are not listed.

Obviously, these nations that are specified in Scripture will still exist at the time of the end. Israel, Russia, Iran, Turkey, and the Gulf States, namely, the Saudis, Qatar, Kuwait, Bahrain, etc.

Egypt, though not mentioned in the invasion, is predicted elsewhere in Scripture to exist during this time period.

However, nothing is said about either the United States or China in Scripture. They either do not exist, or for some reason, do not become involved.

Furthermore, we are told in Ezekiel that Israel, who returns to its ancient homeland in the last days, will come home to a place that will have been ravaged by war. However, they will create great wealth. It is specifically, this wealth that these invading nations are after.

Russia will be the most powerful nation among those who invade. We know this because they lead the invasion while the other nations are merely proxies. This speaks of the power and influence that Russia will have at this time.

Hence, Iran and Turkey will join Russia, but only as surrogates. This means that whatever military might that they may have, it will be less than that of Russia. Therefore, they will be subordinated to them.

#### Conclusion

From all that we have learned in our brief study, we can make the following conclusions about God's plan for our world.

First, He does have a plan, and He has revealed it to us in Scripture.

Second, the unbelieving world, that rejects the Bible as the Word of God, does not have a clue as to the meaning of the events that we see taking place in our day and age. This is precisely what Scripture predicts, namely, the wicked would never understand.

Third, the Lord specifically promised that those believers who live at the time of the end will be able to understand His plan as they see certain events in the world unfold. This has never been true until recent times as we see so many of the predictions of Scripture falling into place.

In fact, in our book 25 Signs We Are Near The End, we document some 70 specific details that are contained in these 25 signs, details that have already been literally fulfilled. In addition, we also note over 30 more details that are in the process of being fulfilled!

Fourth, among the predictions of Scripture about the last day's which have already been fulfilled, we have highlighted seven.

| Sign 1  | The Miracle Of Israel's Survival  |
|---------|---|
| Sign 3  | Israel Will Miraculously Return To Its Ancient Homeland In The "Last Days"      |
| Sign 5  | Jerusalem Will Be United Under Israeli Rule                                     |
| Sign 6  | Israel Will Constantly Be In The World's Spotlight                              |
| Sign 7  | There Will Be A Continual Search For Peace In Israel                            |
| Sign 21 | There Will Be A Rise In Anti-Semitism (The Entire World Will Be Against Israel) |
| Sign 22 | Christians Will Continue To Be Persecuted                                       |

As we briefly summarized each of these signs, we realized that it would have been impossible for any human being to know any of them ahead of time.

Simply put, this could not have happened by lucky guessing or from mere chance! Indeed, they are all divinely inspired.

Fifth, We know that Scripture is looking forward to the return of Jesus Christ to the earth. Before this happens, according to the Bible, there are certain events that will take place.

Therefore, we should work backwards to this coming event to determine what we should keep our eyes upon as we see the events unfold.

We used the Ezekiel 38, 39 predictions as our illustration. In our example, we observed that a number of nations are involved in this invasion.

First, Israel who is invaded.

Second, Russia, along with Iran, Turkey, and others who will be the invaders.

Third, the Gulf States, Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Oman, etc. will not participate in the invasion but rather will protest the fact of the invasion.

Fourth, there are nations conspicuous by their absence, Egypt, China, and the United States.

While Egypt is mentioned in Scripture, in last day's Bible prophecy, nothing is said, or even hinted at, that either China or the United States will exist.

Though each country may exist, neither will be a factor.

Consequently, we should look for the following....

Israel to be invaded by a number of nations because of the wealth it possesses.

Russia, Iran, and Turkey will all be enemies of Israel seeing that they participate in this invasion. In addition, we should expect to find them eventually working together in some sort of coalition.

The Gulf States will also exist and will seemingly have some sort of a relationship with Israel seeing that they protest the invasion.

Finally, we should see China, as well as the United States, becoming less involved in the affairs of the Middle East. Exactly, why, we do not know. There are a number of possibilities.

What we do know is that they will not be players in this predicted invasion, or anything else that is specifically predicted in Scripture. Indeed, they are conspicuous by their absence.

All in all, we can rest assured, based upon what the Scripture says, that each of things that we have looked at, concerning these nations, will come to pass.

#### **About The Author**

Don Stewart is a graduate of Biola University and Talbot Theological Seminary (with the highest honors).

Don is a best-selling and award-winning writer having authored, or co-authored, over eighty books. This includes the best-selling *Answers to Tough Questions*, with Josh McDowell, as well as the award-winning book *Family Handbook of Christian Knowledge: The Bible.* His various writings have been translated into over thirty different languages and have sold over a million copies.

Don is now a full-time missionary with GoinChrist Ministries Outreach. His website educatingourworld.com provides many free resources for those wanting to know what Christians believe, as well as why we believe.

Currently under eleven different categories, there are 65 books on the site in PDF form, containing thousands of pages of material while answering over 2,000 questions about the Christian faith. All of the books can be downloaded for free at educatingourworld.com.